
Minutes of the BOC Meeting Page 1 of 8 March 7, 2023 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING
BENTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS

Zoom link: 
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/88412127621?pwd=S0lhUXY0cVhKQk9SMnZoWDY1SXZJdz09;%C2%A0

Livestream: http://facebook.com/BentonCoGov
Tuesday, March 7, 2023 

9:00 a.m. 

Present: Pat Malone, Chair; Xanthippe Augerot, Commissioner; Nancy Wyse, 
Commissioner; Vance Croney, County Counsel; Joe Kerby, County 
Administrator

Staff: Rick Crager, Finance; Cory Grogan, Public Information Officer; April 
Holland, Health; Nick Kurth, JSIP Manager; Amanda Makepeace, BOC Staff;  
Erika Milo, BOC Recorder; Darren Nichols, Daniel Redick, Inga Williams, 
Community Development; Sarah Siddiqui, Equity, Diversity, & Inclusion; Jef 
Van Arsdall, Sheriff 

 
Guests: Cynthia Crosby, Ken Eklund, Claire Fulsher, Kevin Fulsher, Joel Geier, 

Kate Harris, Connie Jordan, Debbie Palmer, Nancy Whitcombe, Edward 
Wienhoff, Mark Yeager, residents; John Harris, Horsepower Productions; Tom 
Hewes, Northwest Energy Works; Sam Imperati, ICM Resolutions; Becky 
Merja, City of Corvallis; Alex Powers, Mid-Valley Media 

 
1.  Opening: 

1.  Call to Order 
Chair Malone called the meeting to order at 9:00 a.m. 
 
  2.  Introductions 

3.  Announcements 

No announcements were made.

2. Review and Approve Agenda
No changes were made to the agenda.
 
3. Comments from the Public 
Mark Yeager, resident: Yeager stated that the current 20-year Coffin Butte Landfill (CBL)
franchise agreement between Benton County and Valley Landfills, Incorporated, has several 
concerning sections. Yeager could find no record of public involvement in this process, except a 
virtual Public Hearing on December 15, 2020 prior to the Board’s adoption, where no testimony 
was given. Agreement sections 4c and 5b state that Valley Landfills plans to apply to expand 
CBL by 2024. Franchise fees paid to the County in 2024 jump by over $1.4 million per year, and 
the host fee jumps by $1 per ton. CBL receives more than a million tons of garbage per year. The 
agreement says that if the County does not approve expansion by 2025, the franchise fee revenue
is reduced by $1 million per year and the host fee is reduced by $.56 per ton. Yeager expressed 
concern that the Board and Planning Commission would make unbiased decisions about 
expansion given these financial incentives. Agreement section 6 requires a $10 million pollution 
liability insurance policy to defend Valley Landfills and the County from environmental 
lawsuits, but the requirement has a 30-day notice escape clause: if the insurance is not available, 
or is not available at a reasonable cost, the franchisee will notify the County and will not be in 
default of this agreement. This does not seem like enough financial protection for the County and 



Minutes of the BOC Meeting Page 2 of 8 March 7, 2023 

residents from environmental lawsuits. These topics have not been discussed by the Benton 
County Talks Trash (BCTT) Work Group (WG), and deserve meaningful discussion. 
 
Paul Nietfeld, resident: Nietfeld, a member of a BCTT WG subcommittee, called attention to 
CBL revenue in the County budget, especially for the 2023-25 biennium. The economics benefit 
cost charge topic is not being directly addressed by the WG; instead, the Sustainable Materials 
Management Plan (SMMP) subcommittee is outlining benefit cost topics for suggested inclusion 
in the proposed future SMMP. It seems unlikely that the BCTT final report will offer guidance 
on landfill surcharge revenue (LSR). Accurate guidance for expected LSR in the 2023-25 
biennium could be generated from the 2020 landfill franchise agreement fee schedule, using 
intake tonnage projections. The current landfill franchise agreement contains financial incentives 
for expansion approval, but at the projected intake tonnage levels, the County will meet or 
exceed its expected landfill surcharge revenue for 2023-25 without any expansion. Using 
projected intake of 1.5 million tons per year, the LSR would be about $7.5 million, exceeding the 
budgeted amount of $6.7 million. County LSR goals can be achieved without CBL expansion.  

Debbie Palmer, resident: Palmer urged the Board not to authorize any more County funds for 
Imperati and to insist that Imperati complete facilitation of the BCTT WG within the current 
budget.  Palmer detailed the number of meetings held by various WG subcommittees, which 
include County staff. For instance, the Past Land Use subcommittee has had 21 meetings so far. 
The number of meetings also places an unfair time burden on volunteers.  

Kate Harris, resident: Harris, an Adair Village rental property owner and manager, expressed 
concerns about an oppressive stench from CBL which affects residents and schoolchildren, 
causing headaches, eye irritation, and throat burning. With the Disposal Site Advisory 
Committee (DSAC) shut down during the BCTT process, Harris has lost the primary source of 
addressing concerns about the safety and livability of CBL. Other complaint processes such as 
the DEQ odor complaint website have proven ineffective. Harris urged the Board to bring the 
BCTT process to a timely close, without paying Imperati more, and to resume DSAC meetings. 

4. Work Session 
4.1  COVID-19 Update from Department Operation Center – April Holland, 
 Health Services

Holland reported that 232 individuals were hospitalized with COVID-19 statewide as of March 
1, 2023, a slight decrease from 250 cases two weeks ago. Hospitalizations have not gone below 
200 since May 2022. As of yesterday, 194 people were boarding (waiting for a bed) in hospitals 
statewide, a 25% increase from 153 people two weeks ago, but down from a peak of 355 at the 
end of 2022. Reported COVID-19 case counts are low in Benton County and most of the state. 
With people mainly using rapid antigen tests at home, it is estimated that only 5% of cases are 
reported. During the week of February 19, 2023, the County had 64 reported cases, down from 
77 cases two weeks ago. County COVID-19 hospital admissions are 4.5 per 100,000 residents, 
with 2.9% of staffed beds in use by COVID-19 patients. Last week, testing positivity remained 
elevated at 14.5%, but down from 16% two weeks ago. Linn, Benton, and Lincoln Counties are 
seeing sustained increases in wastewater signals, but City of Corvallis monitoring has plateaued 
since a rise in mid-February 2023. Holland urged everyone to get the bivalent booster. About 
30% of County residents have received the bivalent booster, including 83% of residents aged 65 
and older. There are no recommendations at this time for more than one booster dose.  
 
On March 3, 2023, Oregon Health Authority (OHA) announced that workers, patients, and 
visitors in healthcare settings will no longer be required to wear masks starting April 3, 2023. 



Minutes of the BOC Meeting Page 3 of 8 March 7, 2023 

This includes medical clinics, behavioral health, physical therapy, occupational therapy, 
hospitals, long-term care facilities, emergency departments, nursing, and pharmacies. OHA cited 
falling rates for influenza, COVID-19, and respiratory syncytial virus. Oregon Executive Order 
2224, which offered hospitals flexibility in patient care, expired yesterday. Some healthcare 
settings may continue to require masks even after the OHA requirement is lifted. Masks are still 
recommended for individuals who are high-risk, sick, or in crowded indoor settings. The Federal 
COVID-19 Emergency Declaration will end May 11, 2023. OHA and Oregon Department of 
Human Services are working to preserve benefits for as many people as possible. Benton County 
Health has been sharing resources with partners. 
 

4.2 Update from Benton County Talks Trash (BCTT) Solid Waste Process 
Workgroup  (WG)– Darren Nichols, Community Development Director 

 
Nichols shared the updated BCTT WG calendar (exhibit 1):  

 This week: WG presents the outline for the Sustainable Materials Management Plan at 
the Sustainability Coalition town hall.  

 Next week: subcommittees finish findings and recommendations draft five. The County 
will start a multi-channel communications blitz through the end of March 2023. Nichols 
thanked Grogan, JonnaVe Stokes, and Siddiqui for this effort. 

 March 17, 2023: public survey about draft five opens; resulting data to go into draft six. 
 March 23, 2023: last full WG meeting. Any members of the WG or subcommittees can 

submit a personal statement for the final report, due April 1, 2023.  
 April 3, 2023: final contents-only report delivered to the Board and the public.  
 April 4, 2023: open house on the report, beginning a public comment period through 

April 18, 2023. 
 April 18, 2023: polished report will be formally presented to the Board.  

 
Staff have tried to compress the process while allowing time for public comment. The entire 
process could be completed by April 18, 2023, but this does not allow much time to absorb the 
report. The Board could use the open house to thank WG members, hear report contents, and 
begin an extended period of public comment before deliberating.   
 
Wyse supported extending the public input time. 
 
Augerot expressed concern about added staff workload to compile public comments, and asked if 
comments would be included in the report. 
 
Nichols replied that written comments on the final draft would be bundled separately for the 
Board when the report is presented. If the Board wishes, a public hearing could be held. 
 
Augerot favored staff bundling the comments and providing a summary. A final public hearing 
would provide closure for the community. Augerot suggested a 45-day comment period. 

Nichols noted that staff workload will drop in early April 2023 due to fewer WG meetings. 
 
Augerot asked if the final version of the report would be compiled by staff, or a consultant. 
 
Nichols replied that staff, the communications team, a consultant, and a publisher will assemble 
the polished version of the report, to be available within a week after final contents are delivered.
However, the review period could begin as soon as the contents are delivered. 



Minutes of the BOC Meeting Page 4 of 8 March 7, 2023 

Augerot recommended only having one version of the report available to the public to avoid 
confusion. 

Nichols replied in that case, the public comment period could open on April 11, 2023. 

Wyse asked about the merits of a 45- or 60-day comment period.

Malone felt that the original 10-day period was much too short; many people have not heard 
about the project. Malone suggested 60 days starting April 4, 2023.  

Augerot was concerned about public interest waning, and favored 45 days starting April 11, 
2023. 

Grogan commented this should work from a communications standpoint. 

The Board deliberated and decided to begin the main public comment period on April 11, 2023 
after the final report is released, and to accept written comments for 47 days, through May 26, 
2023. Staff to compile comments and schedule a Board hearing in early- to mid-June 2023.

{Exhibit 1: BCTT Updated Schedule} (filed) 

4.3 Benton County Talks Trash Work Group: Project Budget Update – 
Darren Nichols, Community Development; Sam Imperati, ICM Resolutions 

Nichols addressed public comments about the BCTT WG budget and process: most of the 
schedule has been driven by WG members; staff have tried to accommodate the members’ 
interest in reaching agreement. Nichols praised ICM Consulting’s facilitation and staff’s support. 
Some continued resistance has slowed the process. As a result, staff anticipate making a final 
funding request. Some members of the public feel the process has taken too long, others that it 
has been too short; the County has tried to provide the opportunity to get into the details, which 
has mainly been successful. 

Imperati added now that there is a good outline of final steps, a final cost estimate can be 
provided. This was a budget-based agreement, not bid-based, subject to negotiation and Board 
approval. The process has created numerous common understandings and recommendations that 
did not exist before, providing value for time and money spent. 

Wyse commented that the Board was unfazed about extending the timeline; initial estimates 
were optimistic. It is better to take the time to do something right. Wyse shared a chat message 
from a community member asking what public information the County could share, such as a 
copy of the BCTT WG budget. 

Nichols offered to share that information on the BCTT website and at the next Board Meeting. In 
September-December 2022, BCTT spending averaged about $15-20,000 per month; that amount 
doubled in January 2023 and has continued at that level through February 2023. Much of the 
increase is due to shuttle diplomacy and active mediation inherent in the process. The County is 
spending about 2-3% of annual landfill revenue on this process. Nichols to bring a revised 
budget to the Board no later than March 21, 2023. 

5. Consent Calendar

Click to see 
Exhibit 1

Click here to 
see materials

Click here 
to see 

materials



Minutes of the BOC Meeting Page 5 of 8 March 7, 2023 

5.1 Ratification of the February 28, 2023 Letter of Support to Senators Wyden 
and Merkley and Congresswoman Hoyle for Congressional Directed 
Spending Requests 

5.2 Approval of the February 21, 2023 Board Meeting Minutes 

MOTION: Augerot moved to approve the Consent Calendar of March 7, 2023. 
Wyse seconded the motion, which carried 3-0. 

Chair Malone recessed the meeting at 10:09 a.m. and reconvened at 10:21 a.m. 

The Board heard items from 7. New Business and 8. Other. 

Chair Malone recessed the meeting at 10:52 a.m. and reconvened at 11:00 a.m. 

6. Public Hearings
PH 1  In the Matter of a Continuation of a Public Hearing and Potential First

Reading of Ordinance #2023-0318 Revising Benton County Code (BCC), 
Chapters 4, 5, and 6 –Vance Croney, County Counsel

Chair Malone opened the Public Hearing at 11:00 a.m. 

Staff Report
Counsel explained that at the initial Public Hearing, Augerot asked about adding gender to the 
list of topics that would trigger rejection of a voter’s pamphlet statement based on bias or 
discrimination. After reviewing related laws, Counsel and Morales added that item to Chapter 5. 
During review, Morales noted passages in Chapters 5 and 6 that were redundant or unnecessary. 
Morales and Counsel decided it would be preferable to return with a more accurate and 
thoughtful solution for those items. Thus staff request that the Board let this Ordinance die and
close the Public Hearing with no action. Morales and Counsel will bring back the changes in no 
more than a month for a new Public Hearing.  

Chair Malone closed the Public Hearing at 11:04 a.m. 

Ordinance #2023-0318 died without action. 

PH 2  In the Matter of a Continuation of a Public Hearing Regarding an Appeal of 
Planning Commission Land Use Decision Regarding LU-22-023; Jordan – 
Inga Williams, Community Development 

Chair Malone opened the Public Hearing at 11:05 a.m. for deliberations only; the record was 
closed at the initial Public Hearing on February 21, 2023. 

Wyse stated that as regards dwellings being built, the Board must consider clear and objective 
standards (C&OS), which now are applied both inside and outside the Urban Growth Boundary. 
Because Benton County Code (BCC) does not contain a clear and objective definition of 
commercial farming, Wyse stated that the Board should accept the appeal and overturn the 
Planning Commission’s denial. 

Click here to 
see materials

Click here to 
see materials



Minutes of the BOC Meeting Page 6 of 8 March 7, 2023 

Augerot concurred. The County does not have C&OS; Augerot would like staff to develop 
C&OS, but at this time, Augerot supported granting the application and overturning the decision 
of the Planning Commission (PC). 

Malone favored supporting the decision of the PC and staff, and did not feel this farm qualified 
as a commercial farming operation. The appellants’ Tax Schedule F showed $3,300 of annual 
gross income, the only year mentioned; Malone would like to have seen several Schedule Fs to 
show the trend. The farm plan was well developed but included no consequences if not followed 
through on. Malone expressed concern about building houses in Exclusive Farm Use (EFU). The 
farm is less than 80 acres and makes considerably less than $80,000 of gross income, therefore it 
does not qualify as a commercial farming operation. 

Augerot felt that the State’s safe harbor criteria are not acknowledged in BCC, and the County 
has been inconsistent in applying its own code. In one case, the County accepted a hazelnut 
orchard on a less than 80-acre parcel with no current income stream and some off-farm income, 
without asking any questions about that income, yet in this case, the County did question the 
income and nitpicked income sources. Augerot was uncomfortable with BCC pushing all farms 
to be 80 acres or larger and to be large mainstream commercial farms, rather than sustainable 
farms. Augerot strongly favored the farming approach being taken in this case, though that is not 
part of the criteria; using rotational grazing and active pasture management should be 
encouraged. However, Augerot’s reason to uphold the appeal is the lack of C&OS. As the 
County works on changing code, the Board also needs to discuss what types of agriculture to 
encourage , and how to do so within the statewide land use framework. 

Wyse agreed with Augerot. Wyse generally wants to protect rural character and keep density in 
cities, but in this case, the County does not have C&OS. That needs to change. 

MOTION:  Based on the evidence in the record, and upon hearing testimony on the issue, 
Wyse moved to approve the applicant’s appeal, thereby overturning the original 
notice of decision on file number LU-22-023. Augerot seconded the motion,  
which carried 2-1 (Malone opposed). 

Wyse recommended that staff look at other places in BCC that are missing C&OS. 

Chair Malone closed the Public Hearing at 11:14 a.m. 

Malone agreed there is a need for clarity in BCC. 

Nichols agreed that the County has not been consistent in its application of code, and the law has 
changed recently to require C&OS for the siting of housing in resource zones. The Board 
requested C&OS for farm-help dwellings in resource zones, and clarity in development code 
across BCC. Nichols strongly supported both, but was not sure where to find staff capacity. 
Nichols requested time to evaluate and return with a proposal to address the first request. Lack of 
C&OS in BCC in general creates challenges for the public and staff. Community Development 
may have some funding resources to seek outside help revising BCC; Nichols requested time to 
investigate that. There are many pressures on finding a place to live in Benton County, so 
wanting to live on resource land is understandable. At the same time, there is a finite supply of 
agricultural and forest land and a future of climate uncertainty.

The Board supported Nichols returning with a staff recommendation as soon as practical. 



Minutes of the BOC Meeting Page 7 of 8 March 7, 2023 

Counsel noted Williams and Nichols will need to bring back an Order to memorialize the 
approval of the application on March 21, 2023. This will return as a regular agenda item, not a 
Public Hearing.  

7. New Business
7.1 Resolution #R2023-003 Authorizing a Financing of Real and Personal 

Property in a Principal Amount Not to Exceed $36,000,000 and Related 
Matters – Rick Crager, Financial Services 

Crager requested authorization to obtain financing for the new Courthouse and District 
Attorney’s Office. The County fund balance has generally stayed stable since the last reporting 
in summer 2022. The County can borrow up to $36 million and still maintain a positive threshold 
of fund balance to operating expenses. JSIP projections show a $34 million borrowing cost, but 
details still need to be negotiated with the Oregon Judicial Department, so staff were 
conservative in asking for up to $36 million. The Resolution authorizes Crager and the County 
Administrator to negotiate and execute a financing agreement, providing discretion on details. 
The agreement will likely consist of tax-exempt bonds, but another tool could be used if it 
offered a better payout and interest rate. The Resolution also authorizes use of bond counsel 
Hawkins Delafield & Wood. Staff are considering investment banking companies D. A. 
Davidson regarding pricing and Piper Sandler as lead underwriter. Interest rates have remained 
fairly stable, even slightly down; Crager added a hundred basis point cushion. The County could 
have less debt service than forecast. 

Wyse asked Crager to keep the Board informed if borrowing needed to exceed $34 million. 

Crager affirmed. The goal is to acquire the financing before June 30, 2023, or possibly in August 
2023. 

Augerot asked if a local sale was still being considered. 

Crager replied that tax-exempt bonds usually offer better pricing, but Crager has already asked 
the financial advisor about exploring local investors. Private entities are sometimes less willing 
to have such a long-term bond. Best price is the bottom line. 

MOTION: Augerot moved to approve Resolution #R2023-003 authorizing a financing of 
Real and Personal Property in a Principal Amount Not to Exceed $36,000,000. 
Wyse seconded the motion, which carried 3-0. 

7.2 Letter of Support for Corvallis Housing First (CHF) Grant Application to 
Oregon Housing and Community Services – Joe Kerby, County Administrator 

Kerby explained that CHF is applying for funding for 46 affordable housing units at Third Street 
Commons, next to the County’s Avery Complex. CHF requested a letter of support from the 
Board. CHF and staff have worked through the issue of proximity to the County’s fuel tank.  

Malone  noted that CHF has a good track record. This project will triple the size of the operation.

MOTION: Augerot moved to approve issuing the letter of support for Corvallis Housing 
First's grant application to the Oregon Housing and Community Services 
Department to permanently fund 46 safe and affordable housing units at Third 
Street Commons. Wyse seconded the motion, which carried 3-0. 

Click here to 
see materials

Click here to 
see materials



Minutes of the BOC Meeting Page 8 of 8 March 7, 2023 

8. Other
Augerot asked if another Commissioner could attend tonight’s Alsea Town Hall.

Malone and Wyse were not able to attend. 

Augerot mentioned there is a Commissioners’ Corner event in the Community of Alsea on April 
17, 2023. Augerot shared there has been considerable staff discussion of whether to make a 
County Emergency Declaration on Homelessness to qualify for part of the Governor’s funds for 
homelessness emergency. The deadline to submit projects is March 10, 2023. After contacting 
others around the state, Benton County staff recommend that the County not pursue a 
declaration. It would be cumbersome due to the timeline for using funds and allowable uses, plus 
the requirement to participate in a regional Emergency Operations Center. The County will have 
access to the remainder of State funds through Oregon Housing & Community Services and the 
Rural Oregon Continuum of Care (ROCC), working with Community Services Consortium 
(CSC) to access those funds and do some Linn-Benton-Lincoln County coordination. The 
legislature added $27 million to cover the 26 counties outside the declaration, including Benton.  

Wyse asked if staff asked Augerot to bring that message forward, rather than staff presenting. 
Wyse recalled that the Board asked staff for more information at a previous meeting. 

Augerot replied that the Board asked for a cost-benefit analysis. Yesterday Augerot received 
Rebecca Taylor’s email regarding what staff learned on March 3, 2023. Due to the timeline, the 
Board would have had to consider the matter today. The consensus of Emergency Manager 
Bryan Lee, CSC, and other County and City of Corvallis staff is that it is not worthwhile to 
pursue an emergency declaration at this time. 

Wyse respected that conclusion. Wyse requested that staff share such information with all three 
Commissioners in future.  

Malone noted that the year’s first Legislative Breakfast event was held on April 4, 2023. 

Wyse suggested offering a virtual option for future Legislative Breakfasts. 

The Board deliberated and decided to schedule virtual options for the remaining events, 
technology permitting. Kerby to follow up with staff. 

Wyse asked if the Board wished to invite the Sheriff and District Attorney to the County’s table 
at the Celebrate Corvallis event. 

The Board confirmed. Board’s staff to issue invitations. 

9. Adjournment
Chair Malone adjourned the meeting at 11:20 a.m.

Pat Malone, Chair Erika Milo, Recorder 

* NOTE:  Items denoted with an asterisk do NOT have accompanying written materials in the meeting packet.



The Board of Commissioners may call an executive session when necessary pursuant to ORS 192.660.  The Board is not required to provide advance notice of an 

executive session.  However, every effort will be made to give notice of an executive session.  If an executive session is the only item on the agenda for the Board meeting, 

notice shall be given as for all public meetings (ORS 192.640(2)) and the notice shall state the specific reason for the executive session as required by ORS 192.660. 

The meeting location is accessible to persons with disabilities. A request for an interpreter for the hearing impaired or for other accommodations for 

persons with disabilities should be made at least 48 hours before the meeting to the Board of Commissioners Office, (541) 766-6800. 

Page 1 of 2 3/3/2023 10:40 AM 

AGENDA REV 1
(Chair May Alter the Agenda)

BENTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

Tuesday, March 7, 2023, 9 AM 

How to Participate in the Board of Commissioners Meeting 

In-Person Zoom Video Zoom Phone Audio Facebook LiveStream 

Kalapuya Building 

4500 Research Way 

Corvallis, OR 

Click for Zoom link Dial 1(253) 215-8782 
Click for Facebook 

LiveStream link 
Zoom Meeting ID: 884 1212 7621 

Zoom Passcode: 747705 

1. Opening

1.1    Call to Order 

1.2    Introductions 

1.3    Announcements 

2. Review and Approve Agenda

3. Comments from the Public

Time restrictions may be imposed on public comment, dependent on the business before the Board of 

Commissioners. Individual comment may be limited to three minutes 

4. Work Session

4.1    15 minutes – COVID Update from Department Operation Center – April Holland, 

Health Services 

4.2    15 minutes – Update from Benton County Talks Trash Solid Waste Process 

Workgroup – Darren Nichols, Community Development 

4.3    15 minutes - Benton County Talks Trash Work Group: Project Budget Update – 

Darren Nichols, Community Development; Sam Imperati, ICM Resolutions 

Page 1 of 384

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/88412127621?pwd=S0lhUXY0cVhKQk9SMnZoWDY1SXZJdz09
http://facebook.com/BentonCoGov
http://facebook.com/BentonCoGov


 

The Board of Commissioners may call an executive session when necessary pursuant to ORS 192.660.  The Board is not required to provide advance notice of an 

executive session.  However, every effort will be made to give notice of an executive session.  If an executive session is the only item on the agenda for the Board meeting, 

notice shall be given as for all public meetings (ORS 192.640(2)) and the notice shall state the specific reason for the executive session as required by ORS 192.660. 

The meeting location is accessible to persons with disabilities. A request for an interpreter for the hearing impaired or for other accommodations for 

persons with disabilities should be made at least 48 hours before the meeting to the Board of Commissioners Office, (541) 766-6800. 

 Page 2 of 2 3/3/2023 10:40 AM 

 

BUSINESS MEETING 

 

5. Consent Calendar 

5.1   Ratification of the February 28, 2023 Letter of Support to Senators Wyden and 

Merkley and Congresswoman Hoyle for Congressional Directed Spending 

Requests 

5.2   Approval of the February 21, 2023 Board Meeting Minutes 

 

 

Public Hearings 
(Hearings are heard at 11:00 a.m., time certain or as soon thereafter as the matter may be heard) 

Those wishing to speak should sign the “Public Comment” sign-in sheet – Thank you. 

PH 1 In the Matter of a Continuation of a Public Hearing and Potential First Reading of 

Ordinance 2023- 0318 Revising Benton County Code (BCC), Chapters 4, 5, and 6 – 

James V. Morales, Records & Elections 

PH 2    In the Matter of a Continuation of a Public Hearing Regarding an Appeal of Planning 

Commission Land Use Decision Regarding LU-22-023; Jordan – Inga Williams, 

Community Development 

 

 

7. New Business 

7.1  Resolution R2023-003 Authorizing a Financing of Real and Personal Property in 

a Principal Amount Not to Exceed $36,000,000 and Related Matters – Rick Crager, 

Financial Services 

7.2  Letter of Support for Corvallis Housing First's Grant Application to Oregon 

Housing and Community Services – Joe Kerby, County Administrator 

 

8. Other 

ORS 192.640(1)” . . . notice shall include a list of the principal subjects anticipated to be 

considered at the meeting, but this requirement shall not limit the ability of a governing 

body to consider additional subjects.” 

 

Page 2 of 384



WORK SESSIONS 

Page 3 of 384



BOC Agenda Checklist Master

Agenda Placement and Contacts

Suggested Agenda
Date

View Agenda Tracker

Suggested
Placement*

Department*

Contact Name *

Phone Extension*

Meeting Attendee
Name *

Item Title *

Item Involves*

Estimated Time *

Board/Committee
Involvement*

02/21/23

BOC Tuesday Meeting

Board of Commissioners

Joe Kerby

5417666394

Darren Nichols, Sam Imperati

Agenda Item Details

Benton County Talks Trash Work Group: Detailed project budget update

Check all that apply
Appointments
Budget
Contract/Agreement
Discussion and Action
Discussion Only
Document Recording
Employment
Notice of Intent
Order/Resolution
Ordinance/Public Hearing 1st Reading
Ordinance/Public Hearing 2nd Reading
Proclamation
Project/Committee Update
Public Comment
Special Report
Other

15 minutes

Yes
No

Page 4 of 384

https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1S2peKETqeC8LwBJ3LVhQ1eRm_0Lt4i8Zh9nFeOzJ40Y


Name of
Board/Committee

Advertisement*

Benton County Talks Trash Work Group

Yes
No

Page 5 of 384



Issues and Fiscal Impact

Identified Salient
Issues*

Options*

Fiscal Impact*

Fiscal Impact
Description*

Item Issues and Description

The County's process facilitator will provide the Board with a detailed project and
budget update, as well a detailed estimate of resources needed to complete work
under the Board's adopted Charter.

Provide direction and approval for remaining work tasks and budget.

Yes
No

The process facilitator will prepare and present a detailed overview of resources
expenditures to date and a detailed estimate of required resources remaining to
complete work under the Charter.

Page 6 of 384



2040 Thriving Communities Initiative

Mandated
Service?*

2040 Thriving Communities Initiative
Describe how this agenda checklist advances the core values or focus areas of 2040, or supports a strategy of a
departmental goal.

To review the initiative, visit the website HERE.

Core Values*

Explain Core Values
Selections*

Focus Areas and
Vision*

Explain Focus Areas
and Vision
Selection*

Yes
No

Values and Focus Areas
Check boxes that reflect each applicable value or focus area and explain how they will be advanced.

Select all that apply.
Vibrant, Livable Communities
Supportive People Resources
High Quality Environment and Access
Diverse Economy that Fits
Community Resilience
Equity for Everyone
Health in All Actions
N/A

Solid Waste and Disposal impact nearly every aspect of Benton County - from
environmental to economic to social - including the Core Values of the 2040
Healthy Communities initiative.

Select all that apply.
Community Safety
Emergency Preparedness
Outdoor Recreation
Prosperous Economy
Environment and Natural Resources
Mobility and Transportation
Housing and Growth
Arts, Entertainment, Culture, and History
Food and Agriculture
Lifelong Learning and Education
N/A

While solid waste and disposal are not directly listed in the Focus Areas, those
issues are part of the County's adopted Comprehensive Plan and are a critically
important factor in the County's sustainable future.

Page 7 of 384

https://thebee.in.co.benton.or.us/2040


Recommendations and Motions

Staff
Recommendations*

Meeting Motions*

Item Recommendations and Motions

Staff recommends that the Board receive an update from the County's third-party
process facilitator, then provide feedback and support appropriate to complete the
work under the Board's adopted Charter.

I move to ...
Based on information presented by the County's process facilitator, and in support
of the Board's commitment to complete work outlined in the adopted Charter, I
move to . . . .

Page 8 of 384



Attachments, Comments, and Submission

Attachments

Comments (optional)

Department
Approver

Item Comments and Attachments

Upload any attachments to be included in the agenda, preferably as PDF files. If more than one
attachment / exhibit, please indicate "1", "2", "3" or "A", "B", "C" on the documents.

Sam Imperati, the process facilitator will prepare and present detailed project and
budget updates through the completion of the work group's February 17, 2023,
Draft #4 Findings and Recommendations Report.

If you have any questions, please call ext.6800

JOE KERBY

Page 9 of 384



1.  

 

4.  

 

2.  
 
 

 

5.  
 

 

3.  

 

6.  
 
 

 

Page 10 of 384



CONSENT CALENDAR 

Page 11 of 384



BOC Agenda Checklist Master

Agenda Placement and Contacts

Suggested Agenda
Date

View Agenda Tracker

Suggested
Placement*

Department*

Contact Name *

Phone Extension*

Meeting Attendee
Name *

Item Title *

Item Involves*

Estimated Time *

Board/Committee
Involvement*

03/07/23

BOC Tuesday Meeting

Finance

Rick Crager

6246

Rick Crager

Agenda Item Details

February 28, 2023 Letter of Support to Senators Wyden and Merkley and 
Congresswoman Hoyle for Congressional Directed Spending Requests

Check all that apply
Appointments
Budget
Contract/Agreement
Discussion and Action
Discussion Only
Document Recording
Employment
Notice of Intent
Order/Resolution
Ordinance/Public Hearing 1st Reading
Ordinance/Public Hearing 2nd Reading
Proclamation
Project/Committee Update
Public Comment
Special Report
Other Letter of Support

5 minutes

Yes
No

Page 12 of 384

https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1S2peKETqeC8LwBJ3LVhQ1eRm_0Lt4i8Zh9nFeOzJ40Y


Advertisement* Yes
No

Page 13 of 384



Issues and Fiscal Impact

Identified Salient
Issues*

Options*

Fiscal Impact*

Item Issues and Description

Extending support for the following Fiscal Year 2024 Congressional Directed
Spending Requests:

1. Rural Water and Sewer Infrastructure Improvements
2. Monroe Health Center
3. Regional Public Safety Radio Infrastructure
4. Jackson-Frazier Wetland Boardwalk
5. Fairgrounds Exhibit Hall
6. SW 53rd Overcrossing

Ratify the letter of support as written.

Yes
No

Page 14 of 384



2040 Thriving Communities Initiative

Mandated
Service?*

2040 Thriving Communities Initiative
Describe how this agenda checklist advances the core values or focus areas of 2040, or supports a strategy of a
departmental goal.

To review the initiative, visit the website HERE.

Core Values*

Explain Core Values
Selections*

Focus Areas and
Vision*

Explain Focus Areas
and Vision
Selection*

Yes
No

Values and Focus Areas
Check boxes that reflect each applicable value or focus area and explain how they will be advanced.

Select all that apply.
Vibrant, Livable Communities
Supportive People Resources
High Quality Environment and Access
Diverse Economy that Fits
Community Resilience
Equity for Everyone
Health in All Actions
N/A

N/A

Select all that apply.
Community Safety
Emergency Preparedness
Outdoor Recreation
Prosperous Economy
Environment and Natural Resources
Mobility and Transportation
Housing and Growth
Arts, Entertainment, Culture, and History
Food and Agriculture
Lifelong Learning and Education
N/A

N/A

Page 15 of 384

https://thebee.in.co.benton.or.us/2040


Recommendations and Motions

Staff
Recommendations*

Meeting Motions*

Item Recommendations and Motions

Staff recommends ratifying the letter of support for the Congressional Directed
Spending requests.

I move to ...
... ratify the letter of support for the Congressional Directed Spending requests.

Page 16 of 384



Attachments, Comments, and Submission

Attachments

Comments (optional)

Department
Approver

Item Comments and Attachments

Upload any attachments to be included in the agenda, preferably as PDF files. If more than one
attachment / exhibit, please indicate "1", "2", "3" or "A", "B", "C" on the documents.

BOC CDS LOS.pdf 152.08KB

The attached letter does not contain the Commissioners signatures; we are
currently waiting for them to sign via DocuSign (2/28). I can provide an updated
copy of the signed letter once I have received it.

If you have any questions, please call ext.6800

RICHARD CRAGER

Page 17 of 384



1.  

 

2.  

 

3.  

 

4.  

 

Page 18 of 384



Board of Commissioners 
Office: (541) 766-6800 

Fax: (541) 766-6893 

4500 SW Research Way. 
Corvallis, OR 97333 

co.benton.or.us 

February 28, 2023 
 
The Honorable Ron Wyden    The Honorable Jeff Merkley 
United States Senate     United States Senate 
221 Dirksen Senate Office Building   531 Hart Senate Office Building 
Washington, DC 20510     Washington, DC 20510 
 
The Honorable Val Hoyle 
United States House of Representatives 
1620 Longworth House Office Building 
Washington, DC 20515 
 
Dear Senator Wyden, Senator Merkley, and Congresswoman Hoyle: 
 
On behalf of Benton County, we are pleased to extend our support for the following FY 
2024 Congressionally Directed Spending (CDS) requests: Rural Water and Sewer 
Infrastructure Improvements, Monroe Health Center, Regional Public Safety Radio 
Infrastructure, Jackson-Frazier Wetland Boardwalk, Fairgrounds Exhibit Hall, and the 
SW 53rd Overcrossing. If selected, the County is prepared to provide local match required 
for each project submission and deliver the projects within required timelines. Each of 
these requests are shovel ready and can be initiated quickly upon receipt of funding.  
 
Rural Water and Sewer Infrastructure Improvements: Benton County is requesting 
funding to replace aging water and sewer infrastructure in rural communities to ensure 
their basic needs are being met in a safe, clean, and efficient manner. Benton County 
oversees five utility districts, the infrastructure of each of which is aging and at varying 
levels of deteriorating condition. A 2023 preliminary design report identified critical 
system component improvements needed in four districts: Alpine Sewer, Alsea Sewer, 
Alsea Water, and Hidden Valley water. These districts are located in rural, low-income, 
unincorporated cities with very strained resources. Federal investment, combined with 
over $500,000 in County matching funds, will ensure these communities have safe and 
resilient infrastructure for decades to come. 
 
Monroe Health Center: In 2004, Benton County opened the Community Health Centers 
of Benton and Linn Counties, joining a national network of community health centers 
providing high quality accessible care to people in need. Our health centers focus on 
reaching vulnerable populations by addressing financial, geographic, language, and 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 3A9B6AFD-75AA-4A79-8569-9A714F13D732

Page 19 of 384



Page 2 of 3 

 

cultural barriers to care. A crucial component of achieving these goals is ensuring each 
community has access to adequate healthcare facilities. 
 
The City of Monroe is a small but diverse rural community located approximately 17 
miles south of Corvallis with a population just over 600. The Monroe Health Center is a 
School-Based Health Center adjacent to Monroe Grade School. It’s a small, outdated 
modular building that can no longer accommodate the growing healthcare needs of the 
community. Benton County is requesting funding to build a new Health Center on the 
existing site, dramatically increasing the available square footage to facilitate more 
equipment and staff and allow more healthcare services to be provided onsite. 
 
Regional Public Safety Radio Infrastructure: Benton County is requesting funding to 
install antennas and purchase radios necessary to improve public safety and emergency 
response. A significant challenge with Benton County’s radio communications is the lack 
of interoperability and situational awareness caused by law enforcement and Fire/EMS 
utilizing different radio systems. Law enforcement and public works use 700 Megahertz 
(MHz) frequencies while all Fire/EMS agencies utilize very high frequency (VHF) 
systems. Furthermore, many parts of the rural county have “dead-zones” in which no 
radio communications are available. Federal funding would support the installation of 
three 700MHz antennas and purchase of new radios to eliminate “dead-zones” and 
achieve interoperability between law enforcement and Fire/EMS. 
 
Jackson-Frazier Wetland Boardwalk: Jackson-Frazier Wetland (JFW) is a 144-acre 
natural area in NE Corvallis that is owned and managed by Benton County. Prior to 
Benton County’s acquisition in 1993, the land was used for agriculture which altered the 
natural features substantially. Over the past 30 years, Benton County and community 
partners and volunteers have worked tirelessly to restore the wetland to its natural 
splendor. The award-winning site is valued for its biodiversity and used for education, 
research, and public use. 
 
A critical component of public access is a 2/3-mile-long wooden boardwalk which winds 
through the wetland, allowing visitors to see many plant communities and habitats. This 
boardwalk, constructed in 1997, was funded and built through efforts of dedicated 
volunteers. Sadly, it has now deteriorated to the extent that it is no longer safely accessible 
for some users and is a constant drain on County maintenance resources. Recognizing 
this, Benton County, its partners, and volunteers are undertaking an effort to replace the 
boardwalk. Together they have already raised over $1.2 million in state funding and 
private donations and are requesting $800,000 in federal funding to complete the project. 
The new boardwalk will follow roughly the same footprint as the existing structure and 
all environmental and permitting work has been completed. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 3A9B6AFD-75AA-4A79-8569-9A714F13D732

Page 20 of 384



Page 3 of 3 

 

Fairgrounds Exhibit Hall: Benton County is requesting federal funding to transform the 
Benton County fairgrounds into a regional Exhibit Hall to support increased tourism and 
generate economic benefits for the community. An independent market research study 
confirmed the area lacks both large exhibition space and quality meeting and banquet 
spaces. The existing Fairgrounds has strong competition from horse event facilities in the 
market area and the dirt floor of the current Benton Arena is unappealing for exhibitions, 
non-horse sporting events, concerts, trade shows, and banquets. 
 
A new exhibit hall is expected to generate a total annual economic impact between $1.2 
million and $2.2 million while supporting 10-17 full-time jobs for hotels, restaurants, 
shops, and other businesses that serve out-of-area-visitors. Converting the arena into a 
regional exhibition Hall will ensure the County Fairgrounds continues to be an essential 
community meeting and event space by adapting to the changing needs of the 
community. 
 
SW 53rd Overcrossing: Benton County is requesting funding to complete engineering and 
design of a railroad overcrossing over SW 53rd Street.  SW 53rd currently goes under the 
railroad and the trestle supporting the railroad bridge is located between the two travel 
lanes causing a safety hazard. Also, the undercrossing frequently floods and ices over in 
the winter, causing additional safety hazards to the driving public and the railroad 
operators. In addition, the undercrossing has a vertical clearance limit of 13’6”, limiting 
freight ravel. The requested funding would produce a shovel ready project consisting of 
a realignment and overcrossing of 53rd Street, east of the existing alignment.  
 
Thank you for your consideration of these important requests. 
 
Sincerely, 
 

BENTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
 

_______________________________________________ 
Pat Malone, Chair 

 
_______________________________________________ 

           Xanthippe Augerot, Vice Chair 
 

_______________________________________________ 
      Nancy Wyse, Commissioner 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 3A9B6AFD-75AA-4A79-8569-9A714F13D732

03/01/2023

03/01/2023

03/01/2023

Page 21 of 384



Minutes of the BOC Meeting Page 1 of 14 February 21, 2023 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING 
BENTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

Zoom link: https://us06web.zoom.us/j/88934077467?pwd=ZmhVWC9DejVaSlFLQ0FpdFlZdk5qUT09  
Livestream:  http://facebook.com/BentonCoGov  

Tuesday, February 21, 2023 
9:00 a.m. 

 
Present: Pat Malone, Chair; Xanthippe Augerot, Commissioner; Nancy Wyse, 

Commissioner; Vance Croney, County Counsel; Joe Kerby, County 
Administrator 
 

Staff:  Laurel Byer, Darren Nichols, Greg Verret, Inga Williams, Community 
Development; Cory Grogan, Public Information Officer; Suzanne Hoffman, 
April Holland, Jasper Smith, Health; Nick Kurth, JSIP; Gordon Kurtz, Public 
Works; Adam Loerts, Information Technology; Amanda Makepeace, BOC 
Staff; Erika Milo, BOC Recorder; James V. Morales, Records & Elections; Jef 
Van Arsdall, Sheriff; Matt Wetherell, Juvenile Department  

 
Guests: Brittany Beyer, Colin Bussell, Dawn Gallagher, Solarity; Cynthia Crosby, 

 Ken Eklund, Claire Fulsher, Kevin Fulsher, Bill Gellatly, Connie Jordan, 
 Bob Larkin, Debbie Palmer, residents; John Harris, Horsepower Productions; 
 Raymond Hill, Dan Oleson, LS Networks, Sam Imperati, ICM Resolutions; 
 Tracy Lang, James Thom, HP Corvallis; Hyatt Lytle, Corvallis City Councilor; 
 Andree Phelps, Attorney; Mike Reeder, Attorney; James Rennard, Pioneer 
 Connect; Alex Powers, Mid-Valley Media; Jennifer Williams, Corvallis 
 Advocate 

 
1.  Opening: 

1.  Call to Order 
 

Chair Malone called the meeting to order at 9:01 a.m. 
 
  2.  Introductions 

3.  Announcements 

 
2. Comments from the Public 
 

*Bill Gellatly, Corvallis resident: Gellatly, a retired mechanical engineer, asked the Board to 
consider these questions regarding Coffin Butte Landfill (CBL):  

• Has there been a supplier analysis of Republic Services as if evaluating a new operation? 
How does RS compare with other suppliers in quality, technology, or environmental 
compliance issues?  

• Has the Board asked RS to provide plans to address long-term problems of water 
treatment or ways to drive recycling issues back to the suppliers?  

• Is there a plan to ensure that the substantial franchise fee increases will assure continuous 
improvement of operations at CBL? Might some of the franchise fee increases be tied to 
RS meeting improved rates of returning recycled plastic materials to the supply stream?  

 
{Exhibit 1: Gellatly Letter on Coffin Butte Landfill} 
 
Debbie Palmer, resident: Palmer stated it was her understanding that the County would hire an 
independent third party to help create a request for proposals for the Sustainable Materials 

Page 22 of 384

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/88934077467?pwd=ZmhVWC9DejVaSlFLQ0FpdFlZdk5qUT09
http://facebook.com/BentonCoGov


Minutes of the BOC Meeting Page 2 of 14 February 21, 2023 

Management Plan. If so, Palmer asked that the County solicit information from the community 
on who the consultant should be. 
 
3. Review and Approve Agenda 
 

The following item was removed from the agenda: 
4.4  Benton County Talks Trash Budget Review and Request – Darren 
 Nichols, Community Development; Sam Imperati, ICM Resolutions 

 
The agenda number for Broadband 101 was corrected from 4.5 to 4.6. 
 
4. Work Session 
  

4.1  *Letter of Support Regarding CHIPS (Creating Helpful Incentives to 
 Produce Semiconductors) Act Application – James Thom, Director of 

Operations, HP Corvallis 
 

Thom described the 2022 CHIPS Act, which offers $52 billion to incentivize domestic 
manufacturing capacity. The CHIPS Act request for proposals is expected this week; HP intends 
to apply by May 2023 and would like to include letters of support from the Board and others. 
The HP Corvallis campus is the only HP semiconductor processing and assembly facility in the 
United States and is the most advanced microfluidics facility in the world. HP will seek funding 
for new advancements in printing technology and possibly other projects depending on funding 
requirements. HP will also apply for an enterprise zone in Benton County in March 2023, 
working with Jerry Sorte, Corvallis-Benton County Economic Development Office. Thom can 
provide information on HP utility usage and wastewater. Thom invited the Board to tour the 
facility and asked what other topics the Board would like addressed. 
 
Augerot noted that if HP Corvallis brings in additional employees, housing will be a challenge, 
and asked how HP could help forge solutions for housing issues. 
 
Wyse noted that an enterprise zone includes tax incentives for HP, and asked how that would 
impact the government. 
 
Thom replied the Federal government is evaluating CHIPS applications based on community, 
city, county, and state support, and wants to see state financial commitment, which Thom is 
working on through Business Oregon. HP Corvallis is also part of an e-commerce zone. 
 
Augerot asked if an enterprise zone is usually limited duration. 
 
Thom confirmed a zone usually lasts three to five years. HP will probably request five years. 
There is potential for renewal based on job and wage criteria. 
 
Malone asked what it would look like if HP succeeds in this initiative.  
 
Wyse shared a community member chat question asking how much land HP has and whether HP 
will need more. 
 
Thom replied that all work will be done within HP’s existing buildings. 
 

Page 23 of 384



Minutes of the BOC Meeting Page 3 of 14 February 21, 2023 

Augerot shared that Linn-Benton Community College (LBCC) is considering what programs to 
provide to support the local economy; Augerot mentioned to LBCC that HP was interested in 
this expansion.   
 
Thom replied that HP helped design and provides instructors for the LBCC electronics program; 
HP hires interns from the program every year and actively recruits from it. 
 
Responding to a question from Wyse, Thom shared that HP is requesting the letter of support in 
March or April 2023, before the early May 2023 application.  
 
{Exhibit 2: CHIPS Presentation} 

 
4.2  COVID Update from Department Operation Center – April Holland, 
 Health Services 
 

Holland reported that 250 people were hospitalized with COVID-19 statewide as of February 13, 
2023, an increase from 219 two weeks ago, after a low of 203 on February 4, 2023. The last peak 
was 370 hospitalizations statewide in November 2022. As of yesterday, 153 people were 
boarding (waiting for a bed) in hospitals statewide, down from a peak of 355 at the end of 2022. 
About 5% of occupied Intensive Care Unit beds are filled with COVID-19 patients statewide; 
available beds have returned to levels seen before the end of 2022 surge. Variant XBB1.5 is 
advancing and estimated to make up over half of new infections in the Pacific Northwest. 
XBB1.5 does not seem to cause more severe disease than the original Omicron strain, but is 
more contagious. Reported COVID-19 cases are low in BC, as people are mainly using rapid 
antigen tests at home; it is estimated that about 5% of cases are reported. The week of February 
5, 2023, Benton County had 77 reported cases, for a seven-day rate of 83 cases per 100,000 
residents. Last week’s testing positivity rate was 16%, which is high and indicates more cases are 
likely present, up from 11.7% two weeks ago. Wastewater signals continue to be elevated. 
Holland encouraged all to get the bivalent booster. About 28% of BC residents have received the 
booster, including 83% of residents ages 65 and up. Staff have been distributing the figures from 
the previous report about bivalent booster immunity through social media and partner emails. 
Tests are still widely available. If you test positive, consider getting assessed for treatments, 
especially if you are at high risk.  
 
The Federal COVID-19 Emergency Declaration ends May 11, 2023. During the emergency, the 
Federal government extended health coverage, long-term services and support, and food benefits. 
Some of these temporary programs end soon. Oregon Health Authority and Oregon Department 
of Human Services are working to preserve benefits for as many people as possible and ensure 
coordination of additional resources. Staff should soon learn more about specific funding for 
vaccines, personal protective equipment, and tests for local Public Health, such as whether these 
can be purchased with remaining COVID-19 funds, or if additional funding may be coming.  
 
Augerot noted that cold weather is expected again this week and staff are preparing inclement 
weather sheltering. 
 
Malone asked about vaccination options for people who have not had the full series or the 
bivalent booster. 
 
Holland replied that providers, pharmacies, and SamCare Express locations offer the primary 
series and bivalent boosters. The County COVID-19 information line is still available. 

 

Page 24 of 384



Minutes of the BOC Meeting Page 4 of 14 February 21, 2023 

4.3  *Update from Benton County Talks Trash (BCTT) Solid Waste Process 
Work Group (WG) – Darren Nichols, Community Development 

 
Regarding Palmer’s comment, Nichols noted that a Sustainable Materials Management Plan 
(SMMP) consultant is needed, but candidates have not been discussed yet. The BCTT WG will 
help advise on the scope of the SMMP and consultant criteria. Nichols did not expect to use a 
third party to help make the selection. 
 
Imperati shared an updated WG schedule (exhibit 3): 

• March 1, 2023: Subcommittees will create report draft five, to be issued March 3, 2023.  
• March 4-5, 2023: public survey opens, focusing on the public’s reactions to the 

subcommittee recommendations.  
• March 9, 2023: public virtual open house.  
• March 13, 2023: final draft six to be published with survey results.  
• March 17, 2023 staff and Imperati start assembling final report.  
• March 24, 2023: final report to Board, to be published the week of March 26, 2023. 
• April 18, 2023: WG to present at Board initial work session on this topic. 

 
Imperati and Malone expressed appreciation for the significant time commitment that WG 
members have put in. 
  
Nichols concurred. Members contributed well over 2,000 hours of volunteer time. Nichols also 
thanked staff including Grogan, JonnaVe Stokes (Communications), and Sarah Siddiqui (Equity, 
Diversity, & Inclusion) for helping prepare the open house. The communications team plans to 
translate materials into Spanish and American Sign Language.  
 
{Exhibit 3: Updated BCTT Schedule} 

 
4.4  Benton County Talks Trash Budget Review and Request – Darren 
 Nichols, Community Development; Sam Imperati, ICM Resolutions 

 
This item was postponed. 
 

4.5  *Update from Justice System Improvement Program – Nick Kurth, Justice 
System Improvement Program Manager 

 
Kurth reviewed recent JSIP milestones. January 2023: final Community Advisory Committee 
meeting, Board’s bond package decision. February 2023: staff submitted the bond measure title, 
which is under review and should be accepted shortly. The final JSIP Executive Committee 
meeting was last week, followed by an open house. Counsel to submit the bond 
measure/explanatory statement to the Board today (item 8.2). Remaining milestones: 
February/March 2023: submit materials for safe harbor review, community informational events. 
April 2023: mailer sent to residents. May 16, 2023: bond measure vote.  
 
Kurth shared feedback on the open house; venue and format were well received, with 
considerable community interest and demand. This was the sixth large JSIP community event 
since mid-2021. Staff have held more than 50 small group presentations/meetings, which are 
ongoing. The open house had at least 200 community participants plus electeds and staff, with 
strong media coverage; 82 questionnaires were filled out. Kurth thanked Lindsey Goodman 
(JSIP), Grogan, Brenda Downum (Communications), Stokes, and Marriah De La Vega (Board’s 
Office). 

Page 25 of 384



Minutes of the BOC Meeting Page 5 of 14 February 21, 2023 

 
Grogan described media coverage of the open house, including television, radio, and 
newspapers. The County advertised in local media and sent a mailer to all County residents as 
well as email lists and e-newsletters. Social media coverage was in the thousands.  
 
Malone praised the event format and asked if this was the last large format JSIP presentation. 
 
Kurth confirmed, but public engagement will continue. Kurth showed a video of the open house 
event. Staff and the Board thanked Harris for help with the video. 
 
Augerot praised the event and the thoughtful questions from community members. Augerot felt 
there was a lot of community support and felt very optimistic. 
 
Van Arsdall echoed feeling very optimistic. 
 
Van Arsdall, Kerby, and the Board thanked staff. 
 
{Exhibit 4: JSIP Open House Video} 
 
Chair Malone recessed the meeting at 10:16 a.m. and reconvened at 10:22 a.m. 

 
4.6  Broadband 101 – Adam Loerts, Information Technology Services; Brittany 
 Beyer, Dawn Gallagher, Solarity Representatives 

 
Loerts explained that in 2021, a consortium of counties convened a Broadband Action Team 
(BAT), partnering with Oregon Cascades West Council of Governments (COG), which 
commissioned Solarity to study broadband access in the mid-Willamette Valley. 
 
Beyer introduced Solarity, which provides broadband planning, mapping, outreach, and grant 
application assistance. Broadband means an always-on high-speed internet connection with 
specific technical specifications. Schools, libraries, hospitals, and municipality buildings need to 
be wired to 1 gigabyte capacity. Broadband providers depend on subscriptions, so suburban and 
especially rural areas are usually underserved. Beyer emphasized adoption, affordability, and 
access. Adoption: even if the infrastructure is there, people may need assistance to use or afford 
the service. Affordability: there is some Federal low-income assistance to reduce internet cost. 
Affordability is a bigger priority in urban areas, while access is a bigger priority in rural areas.  
 
Broadband is an equity issue. Since the pandemic, everyone needs access to remote education 
and telemedicine. Emergency services and businesses are now highly tech-dependent. Many jobs 
and social services are only accessible online. Areas that provide return-on-investment have 
already been served; the remainder need public-private partnerships or provider incentives to 
close the gap. Many grants require matching funds. Beyer recommended reading the Oregon 
Broadband Strategic Plan from the Oregon Broadband Office (OBO). 
 
COG tasked Solarity to create a Broadband Strategic Plan by the end of 2023. Solarity began 
with outreach in 2022 about the statewide program Faster Internet Oregon (FIO), which allows 
users to do home speed tests. Beyer showed a map of internet speed variation in the County, 
based on FIO data. Best speeds are in the City of Corvallis. A United States Department of 
Agriculture (USDA) $25 million grant was just awarded to Pioneer Telephone to improve 
service in the area between northwest Benton and northeast Lincoln County. Monroe Telephone 

Page 26 of 384



Minutes of the BOC Meeting Page 6 of 14 February 21, 2023 

Company is a protected area under USDA. Long-term strategy needs to focus on areas that do 
not have those solutions. 
 
The Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act (IIJA) passed in 2021, including $42 billion for 
broadband nationwide. Oregon has already received $5 million for planning and will receive 
$550 million for infrastructure and related grants and $782,193 for digital equity work. Grants 
will most likely be issued mid-2024. OBO will oversee about $120 million in US Treasury 
Capital Projects Funds for Technical Assistance Grants to be awarded spring 2023, and 
Broadband Infrastructure Grants available fall 2023. Other sources: USDA ReConnect 
(November 2023 deadline), Economic Development Authority (Federal grants for smaller 
projects), and American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA).  
 
The Broadband Equity, Access & Deployment (BEAD) five-year plan and Economic 
Development Authority five-year plan will probably be approved in fall 2023; then each state 
must submit a plan to allocate its IIJA grant. Municipalities can prepare for potential broadband 
infrastructure builds by studying current coverage, considering a County-level point of contact, 
and working on matching funds. Counties can also form a county-level BAT or other structure, 
and consider applying for a Broadband Technical Assistance Program level one project. 
 
In March 2023, Solarity will deliver a near-term broadband funding matrix to COG. Outreach, 
surveys, and speed tests will continue. Rapid Design Studies will show the cost to close the gap 
in areas of concern. Solarity recommends that County leaders support the FIO speed test 
initiative, align interested parties, and consider funding options.  
 
Loerts to send more information, including talking points to share with other electeds. 
 
Augerot expressed concern about uneven coverage in Corvallis, in addition to gap areas, and 
asked how much Corvallis had engaged with the contract. 
 
Loerts replied that Corvallis is not part of the BAT, but had been involved in some community 
efforts. 
 
Augerot noted Corvallis is a critical partner, with the majority of Benton’s population. Service is 
also a matter of economic competitiveness, such as being able to support the HP buildout. 
 
Loerts stated that this study will examine options as well as availability. This data is focused on 
rural broadband availability, but will provide information that also helps urban areas. 
 
Beyer added that each County asked Solarity to work on a business-specific survey. If there are 
areas of concern in Corvallis, make sure internet users are taking speed tests, which allow 
Solarity to analyze the information and take that to providers. The overall strategy will be about 
closing gaps between urban areas, but city hubs will not be forgotten. 
 
Malone asked if IIJA funding goes to states, after which counties compete for grants. 
 
Beyer confirmed. 
 
Loerts explained the OBO has expanded to help address this issue and has a larger committee 
working on how to divide funding among counties. The mapping will be a living document of 
broadband as a utility, and will give the County a new information tracking resource. 
 

Page 27 of 384



Minutes of the BOC Meeting Page 7 of 14 February 21, 2023 

Malone asked about the relationship between the Benton County Information Technology (IT) 
Department and COG regarding grant applications. 
 
Loerts is a member of the regional BAT and provides information to the IT team. COG is taking 
the lead on working with Solarity, but BAT will work with Solarity’s plan, develop strategies, 
and return to the Board about match funding. 
 
Augerot asked if Loerts had done external networking with local internet providers. 
 
Loerts replied that many providers are involved in BAT, and BAT keeps providers up to date. 
 
Malone emphasized telling the public about the speed tests. More participants means better 
information, which improves the County’s chance of getting grants. 
 
Loerts shared that Grogan and Stokes have been spreading the word on all County channels. 
 
5. Consent Calendar 
 

5.1  In the Matter of Appointment to the Benton County Planning Commission: 
Ed Fulford 

 
5.2  In the Matter of Reappointments to the Community Services Consortium 
 Community Action Advisory Council: Cookie Johnson, Mark Edwards, 

Jerry Groesz 
 
5.3  In the Matter of Approving the Minutes of the February 7, 2023 Tuesday 

Board Meeting 
 
5.4  In the Matter of Approving the Minutes of the March 22, 2022 Information 
 Sharing Meeting 
 
5.5  In the Matter of Approving the Minutes of the February 22, 2022 

Information Sharing Meeting 
 
5.6  In the Matter of Approving the Minutes of the January 25, 2022 Information 
 Sharing Meeting 

 
MOTION: Augerot moved to approve the Consent Calendar of February 21, 2023. Wyse  
  seconded the motion, which carried 3-0. 

 
6. Public Hearing 
 

PH1  In the Matter of a Public Hearing and Potential First Reading of Ordinance 
2023-0318 Revising Benton County Code (BCC), Chapters 4, 5, and 6 – 
James V. Morales, Records & Elections 

 
Chair Malone opened the Public Hearing at 11:15 a.m. 
 
Staff Report 
Morales explained the revision was mainly clean-up after staff identified areas of concern for the 
process. Chapter 4: the filing deadline for a commissioner candidate was updated to align with 
Oregon Revised Statutes (ORS). Chapter 5: an update on advisory measures, which Morales 

Page 28 of 384



Minutes of the BOC Meeting Page 8 of 14 February 21, 2023 

proposed because there was an instance of an advisory measure that went out to the community, 
but staff did not have any guidance. There is no State guidance. Morales’ concern was the space 
that an RCV contest or advisory measure takes on a ballot. The change clarifies that three dates 
in the two-year election cycle (besides primary, general, and special district elections) are 
available for advisory measures. Chapter 6: makes code on voters pamphlet distribution more 
clear and less restrictive, allowing options such as placing the pamphlet in the ballot envelope. A 
redundant section was removed. 
 
Augerot noted that in chapter 6, clauses 6.305(2)(b)(ii) and 6.405(2)(b)(ii) state: “The Elections 
Office shall reject any argument which: incites, promotes, or advocates hatred, abuse, violence, 
or hostility toward or which tends to cast ridicule or shame upon any person or group by reason 
of race, color, religion, or manner of worship.” Augerot opined that this should include gender, 
or refer to State anti-discrimination statutes.  
 
Counsel was fairly certain that the proposed language mirrored ORS or Oregon Administrative 
Rules, and that the phrase ‘which tends to cast ridicule or shame upon any person’ might be 
broad enough to capture Augerot’s concern.  
 
Augerot requested that staff investigate a more specific approach. 
 
Morales asked if it would be possible to pass the Ordinance saying staff will add gender to those 
sections. 
 
Counsel preferred to research the item first. 
 
Public Comment 
No comment was offered. 
 
Because the Ordinance as written included all three chapters, Counsel recommended that the 
Board postpone the vote on this item until the March 7, 2023 board meeting. 
 
Chair Malone continued the Public Hearing to March 7, 2023 at 11:00 a.m., time certain or as 
soon thereafter as the matter may be heard. 
 

PH2  *In the Matter of a Public Hearing Regarding an Appeal of Planning 
Commission Land Use Decision Regarding LU-22-023; Jordan – Inga 
Williams, Community Development 

 
Chair Malone opened the Public Hearing at 11:30 a.m. Malone explained that the applicable 
substantive criteria on which this case shall be decided are found in Benton County Code (BCC) 
55.120, 55.405, 99.810, and 99.705. Applicants have the burden of proving that all of the 
relevant approval criteria have been met.  
 
The Board had no bias, conflict of interest, or ex parte contacts to declare. 
 
Staff Report 
Williams explained that Community Development (CD) received this application for an 
accessory farm help dwelling for a relative of the farm operator on March 21, 2022. CD denied 
the application. The decision was appealed to the Planning Commission (PC), which denied the 
appeal. The applicants appealed the PC decision to the Board. March 21, 2023 is the final state-
mandated deadline for all County-based appeals. The property contains 64 acres zoned Exclusive 

Page 29 of 384



Minutes of the BOC Meeting Page 9 of 14 February 21, 2023 

Farm Use (EFU). Cynthia Crosby is the farm operator and Connie Jordan is the farm owner. 
Claire and Kevin Fulsher are relatives who provide help to Jordan and Crosby.  
 
Staff concluded the application meets all criteria except BCC section 55.120(1)(b): “the 
relative’s assistance in the management and farm use of the existing commercial farming 
operation is required by the farm operator.” The decision rested on two issues: when is farming a 
commercial farm operation (CFO), and how does the word ‘require’ apply to the applicant’s 
stated need. Staff used the objective criteria established by the Land Use Board of Appeals 
(LUBA) to determine that the appellants’ operations do not rise to level of a commercial farming 
operation, based on a minimum parcel size of 80 acres, a minimum $80,000 gross income for 
primary or accessory farm dwelling, and the definition of a commercial agricultural enterprise in 
Oregon Administrative Rules (OARs). Staff concluded that live-on farm help is not required. 
Claire and Kevin Fulsher already provide supplemental help within a 15-minute drive from the 
property. Appellants also rely on help from neighbors, a part-time employee, and others. The 
appellants have retirement savings and thus do not rely on this farm for their living.  
 
Williams noted that the appellants and their attorneys have submitted supporting documentation. 
While appellants and attorneys do not agree with the staff assessment, those parties may not 
substitute their own definition of a CFO or the term ‘required.’ Staff recommended that the 
Board uphold the PC’s denial of the appeal. 
 
Appellants 
Mike Reeder explained that he and Andree Phelps are attorneys jointly representing the 
appellants. Reeder provided a memo to the Board (exhibit 5) detailing the appellants’ case 
against the denial. Reeder cited ORS 196.307(4), which states that a local government may adopt 
only clear and objective standards (C&OS) for housing development. LUBA and courts have 
held that any standard that is not clear and objective must be waived. Reeder argued the 
following standards in BCC are not clear and objective and thus should be waived:  

1. Does the farming operation rise to the level of a CFO? 
2.  When is the relative’s assistance with the management and farm use of the existing CFO 

required?  
 

1. Commercial Farming Operation 
Reeder stated that staff’s determination of what activities would constitute a CFO was 
inconsistent with prior interpretations. Staff stated that only two of the appellants’ farming 
operations create a profit: breeding cattle and raising hay. Reeder maintained the appellants’ 
apple orchard and agricultural equipment maintenance and use should also be included.  
 
Staff stated the land was not used primarily to obtain a profit, whereas the submitted business 
and marketing plan shows that the primary use is for CFOs. Staff’s determination was a 
judgment call. Staff suggest the appellants do not rely on the farm for the majority of their 
income, which is inaccurate and not a criteria in code. 
 
LUBA has dealt with questions from other counties about how to determine if a farm operation 
rises to the level of a CFO to merit a relative farm-help dwelling (RFHD). LUBA allows RFHDs 
that meet the criteria to fit in one of three safe harbors. But in the 2009 Richards case, LUBA 
held that despite those safe harbors, the County can approve an RFHD when the scale and 
intensity of farm use rises to the level of a CFO. Staff recognized this option in the original staff 
report, but that analysis was later omitted. 
 

2. Need for Assistance; Definition of ‘Required’ 

Page 30 of 384



Minutes of the BOC Meeting Page 10 of 14 February 21, 2023 

Reeder addressed whether the farm operator requires assistance. The term ‘requires’ is not 
defined in BCC or ORS, and thus is not clear and objective. In prior decisions, staff have defined 
‘requires’ as ‘less than absolutely necessary.’ Staff have shifted the definition of ‘required’ in the 
appellants’ case. Reeder discussed different dictionary definitions of ‘requires’ and cited cases 
relating to the interpretation of ‘required’ assistance and standards for a CFO:  

• Roberts Application: County Counsel cited this case to argue that C&OS were used in the 
appellants’ case; however, Reeder argued that Roberts supports the appellants. 

• Lane County versus R. A. Heintz, a 1961 Oregon Supreme Court case, found that the 
language of an ordinance must be interpreted, where doubt exists as to the intention of the 
legislative body, in favor of the property owner and against any implied extension of the 
restriction.  

•  Fortier Application: Benton County approved an RFHD on a 48-acre hazelnut farm with 
zero income, based on the owner’s statement that the help was required.  

• Bricker Application: the County defined ‘required’ as ‘needed for a specific purpose,’ not 
‘absolutely necessary.’ The County stated that an $80,000 annual income is a subjective 
standard and a farm could be a CFO even if it does not meet that threshold, saying that 
the closest definition of a CFO is from the OAR definition of commercial agricultural 
enterprise. 

• This non-specific definition was further developed by the Richards case, where the 
County admits that this is not a C&OS.   

• Staff stated that ‘necessary’ as used in Louks versus Jackson County is different from the 
term ‘required’ in BCC. Staff provided no explanation of why that analysis was not 
applied in the appellants’ case. 

 
 Expert Testimony 
Reeder provided two expert testimonials (see packet) to evidence the farmers’ production levels 
and need for assistance, and stated that this information was not addressed by staff. The 
appellants also submitted a business plan which described their desire to increase yields and 
productivity. The plan projects 2024 cattle and hay yields which would earn over $80,000 per 
year. Reeder concluded this farm is a CFO for the purpose of obtaining a profit. 
 
Responding to questions from Wyse, Reeder replied that the farm is not located in any UGB or 
incorporated area, is not currently making $80,000 per year in profit, and is not over 80 acres in 
size.  
 
No other testimony or staff response was offered. 
 
Augerot asked whether C&OS did not prevail in this instance because those standards apply 
within the Urban Growth Boundary (UGB), and are pertinent to housing decisions and expansion 
of housing, rather than any additional housing on EFU land (which is governed by Oregon 
planning goal three). 
 
Counsel replied that the courts have applied C&OS for housing both inside and outside the UGB.  
 
Malone asked if Community Development had anything to add, since some of the appellants’ 
information was provided after PC deliberations. 
 
Nichols replied that staff reviewed the additional evidence and determined it does not change 
staff’s original decision. 
 

Page 31 of 384



Minutes of the BOC Meeting Page 11 of 14 February 21, 2023 

Wyse asked about the Board’s options for deliberating and making a decision at a future 
meeting, to allow time to read the new material. 
 
Nichols replied that the County must make its decision no later than the extended deadline of 
March 21, 2023, otherwise the appellants can file a mandamus. 
 
Counsel noted it has not been unusual to continue these hearings in the past, particularly when 
new information was received. 
 
The Board decided to continue the public hearing at the March 7, 2023 meeting. 
 
Wyse asked if the prohibition on ex parte contact was still in effect. 
 
Counsel replied that the prohibition on ex parte contact, bias, and conflict of interest still applies 
until the Board makes its final decision. 
 
Chair Malone closed the record for this hearing at 12:23 p.m.  
 
Chair Malone continued the Public Hearing to March 7, 2023 at 11:00 a.m., time certain or as 
soon thereafter as the matter may be heard. 
 
{Exhibit 5: LU-22-023 Appeal Hearing Memorandum} 
 
Chair Malone recessed the meeting at 12:25 p.m. and reconvened at 12:33 p.m. 
 
7. Old Business  
 

7.1  Approval of the 2023-2028 Community Wildfire Protection Plan (CWPP) – 
Inga Williams, Community Development 

 
Malone noted that the County delayed completing the CWPP due to waiting for the State to 
complete the Wildfire Risk Map (WRM); however, the WRM is on hold, so the County is 
proceeding. Malone asked how much the CWPP had changed since spring 2022. 
 
Williams replied the WRM is now expected to be complete at the end of 2024 and will be 
incorporated into the CWPP at that time. The existing WRM is an appendix of this document. 
Few differences are expected. Benton County is designated as low to moderate risk. The Oregon 
Department of Forestry (ODF) and the Fire Defense Board Chair requested a few revisions to the 
CWPP; staff made those changes, and those agencies approved the document. 
 
Augerot asked if “Appendix G: Strategic Planning Areas and Projects” was a living document, to 
be updated with priorities and additional information. 
 
Williams confirmed. The document will probably be updated soon if staff receive funding, 
because project priorities must be determined. An update involves convening all the Fire Chiefs, 
OSU, a steering committee, ODF, and the full advisory body with FireWise chairs and interested 
members of the public. 
 
MOTION: Wyse moved to accept the 2023-2028 Community Wildfire Protection Plan as  
  presented by staff and as approved by the Fire Defense Board and the Department 
  of Forestry. Augerot seconded the motion, which carried 3-0. 

 

Page 32 of 384



Minutes of the BOC Meeting Page 12 of 14 February 21, 2023 

7.2  In the Matter of a Second Reading of Ordinance No. 2023-0316, 
Development Code Amendments Regarding Stormwater – Greg Verret, 
Community Development; Gordon Kurtz, Public Works 

 
Verret explained that on February 7, 2023, the Board held a Public Hearing and first reading on 
these code amendments. The amendments are necessary to comply with State requirements. The 
Ordinance is unchanged since the first reading. 
 
MOTION: Augerot moved to enact Ordinance No. 2023-0316, amending the stormwater  
  provisions of the Development Code, and conduct the second reading of the  
  Ordinance. Wyse seconded the motion, which carried 3-0. 

 
Counsel read the ordinance aloud (short title). Effective 3/23/2023. 
 

7.3  In the Matter of a Second Reading of Ordinance No. 2023-0317, Benton 
County Code Amendment Regarding the Adair Village Urban Growth 
Boundary (UGB) – Greg Verret, Community Development 

 
Verret explained that on February 7, 2023 the Board held a Public Hearing and first reading of 
the Ordinance. A joint Public Hearing with the Adair Village City Council was held. The 
Ordinance amends the UGB by adding two properties, to be rezoned from Exclusive Farm Use to 
Urban Residential. This is a holding zone until the area is annexed into Adair Village, at which 
time it will be rezoned, supplied with city services, and developed. 
 
MOTION: Wyse moved to enact Ordinance No. 2022-0317, amending the Adair Village  
  Urban Growth Boundary, and conduct the second reading of the ordinance.  
  Augerot seconded the motion, which carried 3-0. 
 
Counsel read the ordinance aloud (short title), to be effective March 23, 2023. 
 
8. New Business 
 

8.1  Revised Ranked Choice Voting (RCV) Rules – James V. Morales, Records & 
Elections 

 
Morales presented revised rules for implementation for RCV. If approved by the Board, Morales 
will request that the City of Corvallis adopt the same rules or tie to the County rules so both 
jurisdictions remain aligned. The amendments are additions which capture some of the 
functionality in the current system and clarify the process, including: 

• Defining continuing ballots. 
• Clarifying on RCV returns that the County will only release first-choice rankings, and 

will wait until all ballots are cast before running the RCV process.  
• Defining batch elimination as a process utilized when more than one candidate is 

mathematically eliminated from having the opportunity to win, and defining the winning 
threshold that comes from those continuing ballots.  

• Applying automatic recount for a RCV contest to ensure consistency with the plurality 
voting method, where the top two candidates’ number of votes is used to determine when 
the threshold for an automatic recount is reached.  

• Clarifying that RCV would be applied in the event of a tie vote if there were two or more 
remaining candidates.  

 

Page 33 of 384



Minutes of the BOC Meeting Page 13 of 14 February 21, 2023 

Counsel noted that these changes reflect the experience that Records & Elections office has 
gained since the original rules were created.  
 
Malone asked if the Oregon legislature is considering applying RCV statewide. 
 
Morales confirmed, primarily through House Bill 2004, which Speaker Dan Rayfield drafted. 
Morales will meet with Rayfield to discuss further. Morales has received requests to participate 
in many groups to provide feedback on RCV. 
 
MOTION: Augerot moved to accept staff recommended revisions to the Ranked Choice  
  Voting Rules for Implementation. Wyse seconded the motion, which carried 3-0. 

 
8.2  Justice System Improvement Program (JSIP) Ballot Measure and 

Explanatory Statement for SEL 801 – Vance Croney, County Counsel; Nick 
Kurth, Justice System Improvement Program (JSIP) Manager 

 
Counsel explained this is the last step in submitting the JSIP measure to the Elections Office for 
publication and vote. SEL 801 is the notice of the ballot measure for the election, which is 
submitted after the publication period. Provided there are no challenges or changes, the language 
on this form is the same that the Board approved two weeks ago.  
 
Morales noted there were no challenges as of this morning. 
 
Counsel added that the explanatory statement went through extensive edits and reflects a truly 
collaborative effort. If approved, Counsel will file the items on February 24, 2023. 
 
Responding to a question from Augerot, Counsel confirmed the inclusion of the sentence, “If the 
bonds are approved, they will be payable from taxes on property ownership that are not subject 
to limits of sections 11 and 11b, Article XI of the Oregon Constitution.”  
 
Kerby and the Board acknowledged staff for participating in this milestone. 
 
MOTION: Augerot moved to adopt/approve SEL 801 and the explanatory statement as  
  presented. Wyse seconded the motion, which carried 3-0. 

 
9. Departmental Reports & Requests 
 

9.1  Establish Quality Assurance Coordinator (QAC) Position in Developmental 
Diversity Program – 

  Jasper Smith, Suzanne Hoffman, Health Services 
 
Smith explained the State Office of Developmental Disability Services passed ARPA funding to 
Benton County for the QAC position. The position was approved by the Position Review 
Committee, but the Committee can only approve the position as limited duration. Staff would 
like this to be a full-time permanent position and expect to have long-term funding. 
 
Responding to questions from Augerot, Smith explained that instead of providing direct services, 
the QAC works on administrative aspects such as foster care licensing, billing, payments, and/or 
protective service investigations. The County will receive State funding every two years. The 
County bills for services with the State, receives reimbursements through the local match 
program, and uses the local match to fund these positions. Funds were already received from the 
State and must be spent before March 2025. 

Page 34 of 384



Minutes of the BOC Meeting Page 14 of 14 February 21, 2023 

 
Hoffman added that this position will be included in forthcoming budget information; Chief 
Financial Officer Rick Crager has reviewed and approved the funding plan. 
 
MOTION: Augerot moved to approve the creation of a permanent Quality Assurance   
  Coordinator position in the Developmental Diversity program, and begin   
  recruitment for a potential hire date in April 2023. Wyse seconded the motion,  
  which carried 3-0. 
 
Smith shared that the Developmental Diversity Program will be in its new location at the Sunset 
Building on February 27, 2023. 
 
10. Other 
 

Wyse volunteered to serve on the Inter-Governmental Council for the Coordinated Homeless 
Response Office. 
 
MOTION: Augerot moved to appoint Commissioner Wyse to serve on the Inter-

Governmental Council for the Coordinated Homeless Response Office under 
House Bill 4123. Wyse seconded the motion, which passed 3-0. 

 
Wyse shared that Branden Pursinger, Association of Oregon Counties, is seeking county data on 
well needs and water insecurity for the 2023 Legislative draft package. Although Benton County 
has not been in a formal drought, Wyse asked if staff want to be involved. 
 
Kerby recommended that Hoffman and Kerby discuss who best to address that. 
 
Wyse expressed interest in the project. Wyse to reply to Pursinger and forward to Kerby and 
Hoffman. 
 
Augerot asked if another Commissioner could attend the ODF meeting and tour on March 8-9, 
2023. 
  
Malone could probably attend on March 9. Malone noted the Board will finish Information 
Sharing from the February 16, 2023 meeting at a later date. 
 
11. Adjournment 
 

Chair Malone adjourned the meeting at 1:14 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
             
Pat Malone, Chair     Erika Milo, Recorder 

* NOTE:  Items denoted with an asterisk do NOT have accompanying written materials in the meeting 
packet. 

Page 35 of 384



PUBLIC HEARINGS 

Page 36 of 384



BOC Agenda Checklist Master

Agenda Placement and Contacts

Suggested Agenda
Date

View Agenda Tracker

Suggested
Placement*

Department*

Contact Name *

Phone Extension*

Meeting Attendee
Name *

Item Title *

Item Involves*

Estimated Time *

Board/Committee
Involvement*

03/07/23

BOC Tuesday Meeting

Records & Elections

James V. Morales

5417666832

James V. Morales

Agenda Item Details

Revise BCC Chapters 4, 5 & 6

Check all that apply
Appointments
Budget
Contract/Agreement
Discussion and Action
Discussion Only
Document Recording
Employment
Notice of Intent
Order/Resolution
Ordinance/Public Hearing 1st Reading
Ordinance/Public Hearing 2nd Reading
Proclamation
Project/Committee Update
Public Comment
Special Report
Other

10

Yes
No

Page 37 of 384

https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1S2peKETqeC8LwBJ3LVhQ1eRm_0Lt4i8Zh9nFeOzJ40Y


Advertisement* Yes
No

Page 38 of 384



Issues and Fiscal Impact

Identified Salient
Issues*

Options*

Fiscal Impact*

Item Issues and Description

BCC Chapter 4 proposed revision corrects the filing deadline inadvertently omitted
from previous revisions in 4.215 to 70th day.
BCC Chapter 5 proposed revision makes clear the election dates available to
place Advisory Measures on the ballot.
BCC Chapter 6 proposed revision provides flexibility in the manner in which voters'
pamphlets may be distributed and adds gender to subsections 305 and 405.

1. Enact an ordinance adopting revisions to BCC Chapters 4,5, and 6.
2. Amend and enact an ordinance for revisions to BCC Chapters 4,5, and 6.
3. Take no action on revisions to BCC Chapters 4,5, and 6.

Yes
No

Page 39 of 384



2040 Thriving Communities Initiative

Mandated
Service?*

2040 Thriving Communities Initiative
Describe how this agenda checklist advances the core values or focus areas of 2040, or supports a strategy of a
departmental goal.

To review the initiative, visit the website HERE.

Mandated Service
Description*

Core Values*

Explain Core Values
Selections*

Focus Areas and
Vision*

Explain Focus Areas
and Vision
Selection*

Yes
No

If this agenda checklist describes a mandated service or other function, please describe here.
Elections are mandated services for all eligible Benton County voters.
Voters' pamphlets and Advisory Measures are optional services that can be
expanded or eliminated via Ordinance or due to lack of funding for the voters'
pamphlet production and distribution.

Values and Focus Areas
Check boxes that reflect each applicable value or focus area and explain how they will be advanced.

Select all that apply.
Vibrant, Livable Communities
Supportive People Resources
High Quality Environment and Access
Diverse Economy that Fits
Community Resilience
Equity for Everyone
Health in All Actions
N/A

These election related topics are key to preserving the voting rights of eligible
Benton County voters and help to keep the electorate fully engaged in the
democratic process.

Select all that apply.
Community Safety
Emergency Preparedness
Outdoor Recreation
Prosperous Economy
Environment and Natural Resources
Mobility and Transportation
Housing and Growth
Arts, Entertainment, Culture, and History
Food and Agriculture
Lifelong Learning and Education
N/A

The election materials and supporting processes are vital part of the fabric of this
nation and our communities. The impacts of elections can be traced to every focus
area within the county's vision, particularly history, culture, and the economy.
Seeking to educate the electorate in Benton County through the voters' pamphlet
and alternate media remain a primary focus to the election process in this county.

Page 40 of 384

https://thebee.in.co.benton.or.us/2040


Recommendations and Motions

Staff
Recommendations*

Meeting Motions*

Item Recommendations and Motions

Staff recommends enacting an ordinance adopting proposed changes to Benton
County Code Chapters 4, 5 and 6.

I move to ...
to enact Ordinance number 2023-0318 and to conduct a first reading.

Page 41 of 384



Attachments, Comments, and Submission

Attachments

Comments (optional)

Department
Approver

Item Comments and Attachments

Upload any attachments to be included in the agenda, preferably as PDF files. If more than one
attachment / exhibit, please indicate "1", "2", "3" or "A", "B", "C" on the documents.

Chap 4 County Elections and

Candidates_Proposed2023.docx
29.01KB

Chap 5 Ballot Measures_Proposed2023.docx 31.45KB

Chap 6 Voters Pamphlet_Proposed2023.docx 31.36KB

Ordinance Amending BCC Ch 4,5,6 02032003.docx 15.42KB

If you have any questions, please call R&E Director, James Morales, at extension
6832 or County Counsel, Vance Croney, at 6661.
Thank you

If you have any questions, please call ext.6800

JAMES MORALES

Page 42 of 384



1.  

 
2.  

 
3.  

 
4.  

 

Page 43 of 384



BEFORE THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
FOR THE STATE OF OREGON, FOR THE COUNTY OF BENTON 

In the Matter of Amending Chapters 4, 
5 and 6 of the Benton County Code 

) 
) Ordinance No. 2023-0318 

THE BENTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS HEREBY ORDAIN AS 
FOLLOWS: 

WHEREAS, following review of the Benton County’s election-related code sections, it was 
determined that chapters 4, 5 and 6 require minor revisions and clarifications; and 

WHEREAS, chapter 4 is revised to specify election dates for local government advisory 
measures, chapter 5 is revised to correct a filing deadline, and chapter 6 is revised to clarify voter 
pamphlet requirements; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Board of Commissioners of Benton County ordain as follows: 

I. Short Title.

1. This ordinance shall be known as “Amendment to Benton County Code Chapters 4, 5
and 6.”

II. Text Amendment.

2. Benton County Code Chapters 4, 5 and 6 are hereby amended as noted in the
attachment marked Exhibit A.

This Ordinance shall become effective on the 20th  day of May, 2023. 

1st Reading:  February 21, 2023 
2nd Reading:  March 7, 2023 
Effective Date:  April 6, 2023 

BENTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

Pat Malone, Chair 

Xanthippe Augerot, Vice Chair 

Nancy Wyse, Commissioner 
Approved as to Form: 

County Counsel 

Page 44 of 384



   

Last Modified 02/05/2019, Ord. 2019-0261  4-1 

CHAPTER 4 
 

ELECTIONS AND CANDIDATES 
 

ADMINISTRATION 
 
4.001 Purpose. 
 
The purpose of this chapter is to provide clear guidance to county offices and other interested 
parties in the conduct of elections held in Benton County.  [Ord. 99-0153; Ord. 2019-0291] 
 
4.002 Definitions. 
 
(1) “Electoral District” means the physical boundaries within Benton County of any elected 
position.  [Ord. 99-0153; Ord. 2019-0291] 
 
SPECIAL ELECTIONS 
 
4.101 Special Elections. 
 
The Board of Commissioners may call a special election by order. The order shall state the purpose 
for calling the special election, the propositions to be voted upon, and the date on which the 
election shall be held.  [Ord. 11, adopted May 6, 1986; Ord. 85-0002; Ord. 90-0062; Ord. 2019-
0291] 
 
4.102 Filing Deadlines. Special district nominations shall be filed not later than the 70th day before 
the election and in compliance with existing election law. [Ord. 2019-0291] 
 
ELECTIONS GENERALLY 
 
4.201 Election to Fill a Vacancy. 
 
If an election is required to fill a vacancy in an elected County office pursuant to Benton County 
Charter Chapter V Section 22(4)(a)(A), the election shall be conducted pursuant to Benton County 
Charter Chapter VII Section 25(1). [Ord. 90-0062; Ord. 2019-0291] 
 
4.205 Ballot Specifications for Partisan Offices. 
 
If an election is held to fill a vacancy in a partisan county office, the candidate's party affiliation 
as listed in the candidate's petition or declaration of candidacy or certificate of nomination shall 
appear first following the name of the candidate on the ballot, followed by up to two minor party 
nominations received by that candidate, if applicable. Abbreviated party names as established by 
the Secretary of State can be used. [Ord. 90-0062; Ord. 2019-0291] 
 
 
 

Page 45 of 384



   

Last Modified 02/05/2019, Ord. 2019-0261  4-2 

4.210 Filing of Candidate's Petition or Declaration of Candidacy. 
 
(1) A person eligible pursuant to the Benton County Charter may become a candidate to fill 
partisan or non-partisan elected County office, or to fill a vacancy in a partisan or non-partisan 
elected County office, by filing either a petition or a declaration of candidacy. 
 
(2) At the time of filing, a declaration of candidacy shall be accompanied by a filing fee set by 
order of the Board of Commissioners. The Board shall set the amount of the filing fee based on 
the filing fee provided in state law for a declaration of candidacy for an elected County office. 
 
(3) In lieu of filing a declaration of candidacy and paying a fee, a person may become a candidate 
for an elected County office by filing a petition of candidacy as follows: 
 

(a) If the person is filing a petition of candidacy to fill a nonpartisan elected County office, 
at the time of filing, the petition shall contain at least 500 signatures of electors in the 
electoral district, or a number of signatures of electors equal to at least one percent of the 
votes cast in the electoral district for all candidates for Governor at the most recent election 
at which a candidate for Governor was elected to a full term, whichever is less.  In addition, 
these signatures shall include those of electors registered in each of at least one-fifth of the 
precincts in the electoral district. 
 
(b) If the person is filing a petition of candidacy as a candidate of a major political party to 
fill a partisan elected County office, the petition shall contain the signatures of electors who 
are members of the same major political party as the candidate. The petition shall contain 
at least 500 signatures or the number of signatures at least equal to two percent of the vote 
in the County for the candidates of that major political party for presidential electors at the 
last presidential election, whichever is less.  In addition, the signatures shall include those 
of electors registered in at least one-fifth of the precincts in the electoral district. [Ord. 90-
0062] 
 

4.215 Filing Deadlines.  
 
(1)  A petition for candidacy or declaration of candidacy shall be filed not later than the 70th day 
prior to a primary or general election or any other special election. 
 
 (2)  The certificate of nomination of a candidate for public office shall be filed in accordance with 
ORS 249.722.  [Ord. 90-0062; Ord. 2019-0291] 
 
4.220 Contents of Petition or Declaration. 
 
(1) A petition or declaration of candidacy shall contain the information required in ORS  
249.031. 
 
(2)  A declaration of candidacy shall also include a statement that the required fee is included with 
the declaration. 
 

Commented [MJV1]: Yes, it was an oversight last time 
around we corrected it in 4.102 but missed it here. 

Commented [CVM2]: Is this the only change? 

Page 46 of 384



   

Last Modified 02/05/2019, Ord. 2019-0261  4-3 

(3)  A petition of candidacy shall also include the required signatures as provided by BCC 4.205(3). 
[Ord. 90-0062; Ord. 2019-0291] 
 
4.225 Certification of Signatures. 
 
The Benton County Elections Office shall certify the signatures on a petition of candidacy for 
genuineness, while ensuring that the signer meets all of the necessary requirements for signing and 
that the signer has signed no other petitions regarding the same contest. [Ord. 90-0062; Ord. 2019-
0291] 
 
4.230 Precinct Committeepersons. 
 
The election of precinct committeepersons will take place in accordance with the applicable 
provisions of ORS Chapter 248 [Ord. 99-0153; Ord. 2019-0291] 
 
4.235 Certificate of Nomination. 
 
A minor political party, assembly of electors or individual electors may nominate one candidate 
for a vacancy in a partisan county office by preparing and filing a certificate of nomination. [Ord. 
90-0062; Ord. 2019-0291] 
 
4.240 Contents of Certificate of Nomination. 
 
(1)  A certificate of nomination shall state: 
 

(a)  The name by which the candidate is commonly known. A candidate may use a 
nickname in parenthesis in connection with the full name. 
 
(b)  The mailing address and residence of the candidate. 
 
(c)  The office, and department or position number, if any, for which the candidate is 
nominated. 
 
(d)  The name of the minor political party, if any, which nominated the candidate. 
 
(e)  If the candidate is nominated for a partisan office by an assembly of electors or 
individual electors, the word "Nonaffiliated" and a statement that the candidate has not 
been a member of a major or minor political party during at least 180 days before the date 
the certificate of nomination is filed, shall be included. 

 
(2)  A certificate of nomination made by a minor political party or assembly of electors shall be 
signed by the presiding officer and secretary of the nominating convention of the party or 
assembly. An affidavit shall be made on the certificate by the presiding officer and the secretary 
and sworn to or affirmed by them before one of the following: a judge, justice of the peace, County 
Clerk, or notary public. The affidavit shall state that the statements in the certificate are true. With 

Page 47 of 384



   

Last Modified 02/05/2019, Ord. 2019-0261  4-4 

respect to an assembly of electors, the affidavit shall state that the assembly satisfied the 
requirements of BCC 4.255. 
 
(2) The nominee must accept the nomination by either signing the certificate of nomination, or 

filing a signed acceptance of the nomination prior to or at the same time as the filing of 
certificate of nomination. [Ord. 90-0062; Ord. 2019-0291] 

 
4.245  Entries in Register of Nominations Upon Filing Certificates. 
 
(1)  Immediately after each certificate of nomination is filed, the Benton County Elections Office 
shall enter in the register of nominations: 
 

(a) The date the certificate was filed. 
 
(b) The name of each candidate. 
 
(c) The office for which the candidate is nominated. 
 
(d) When applicable, the name of the minor political party or identification of the assembly 
of electors making the nomination, and the names of the chairperson and secretary 
certifying it. 
 
(e) If the certificate of nomination is made by individual electors, the total number of 
certified signatures contained in the certificate. 

 
(2)  As soon as an acceptance or withdrawal of a candidate is filed with a filing officer, it shall be 
entered in the register of nominations. [Ord. 90-0062; Ord. 2019-0291] 
 
4.250 Nomination by Minor Political Party. 
 
An affiliation of electors qualified as a minor political party pursuant to state law may nominate a 
candidate to fill a vacancy in a partisan county office. [Ord. 90-0062; Ord. 2019-0291] 
 
4.255 Nomination by Assembly of Electors. 
 
(1)  An assembly of electors is an organized body of not fewer than 250 electors in the County. 
 
(2)  An assembly of electors shall nominate candidates at a nominating convention. The convention 
shall be held in one day and last not longer than 12 hours. The signature, printed name, residence 
and mailing address of each member of the assembly shall be recorded at the convention and 
entered of record in the minutes by the secretary of the assembly.  Not less than the minimum 
number of electors required to constitute an assembly of electors shall have recorded their 
signatures in the minutes of the assembly and must be present when the assembly nominates a 
candidate. The candidate receiving the highest number of votes of the assembly for the office shall 
be the nominee of the assembly. 
 

Page 48 of 384



   

Last Modified 02/05/2019, Ord. 2019-0261  4-5 

(3)  Not later than the 10th day before the meeting of an assembly of electors, notice shall be 
published at least once in not less than three newspapers of general circulation within the County. 
The notice shall contain the time and place the assembly will meet, the office or offices for which 
nominations will be made, and the names and addresses of not fewer than 25 electors qualified to 
vote in the assembly who desire that it be held. 
 
(4)  Proof of publication of the notice required in subsection (3) of this section shall be made by 
affidavit of the owner, editor, publisher, manager, advertising manager, principal clerk of any of 
them, or the printer or printer's foreman of the newspaper in which the notice is published. The 
affidavit shall show publication and shall be filed with the Benton County Elections Office with 
the certificate of nomination. 
 
(5)  Not later than the 10th day before the meeting of an assembly of electors, a copy of the notice 
under subsection (3) of this section shall be delivered to the Benton County Clerk who will 
supervise the conduct of the nominating convention. 
 
(6)  The presiding officer of an assembly of electors shall deliver the signatures of assembly 
members entered in the minutes to the Benton County Elections Office. The signatures shall be 
verified by that office. A copy of the minutes, certified by the secretary of the assembly, and an 
affidavit of compliance, for the assembly, from the Benton County Elections Office shall be filed 
along with the certificate of nomination. 
 
(7)  The Benton County Clerk or designee shall supervise the conduct of the nominating 
convention. The County Clerk shall insure that, when the assembly of electors makes a nomination, 
the number of electors present at the nominating convention are at least equal to the number of 
electors necessary to constitute an assembly of electors. 
 
(8)  Vacancies shall be filled in the manner provided by ORS 249.735(7).  [Ord. 99.0153; Ord. 
2019-0291] 
 
4.260 Nomination by Petition of Individual Electors. 
 
(1) A certificate of nomination by petition of individual electors shall contain signatures of 
electors in the electoral district equal to, but, not less than one percent of the total votes cast in the 
electoral district for all candidates for presidential electors at the last general election. 
 
(2) Each elector signing a certificate of nomination by petition of individual electors shall 
include the residence address of the elector. 
 
(3) A certificate of nomination made by individual electors shall contain the name of only one 
candidate. 
 
(4) Before beginning to circulate the certificate of nomination, the chief sponsor of the certificate 
shall file a signed copy of the prospective certificate with the Benton County Clerk. 
 

Page 49 of 384



   

Last Modified 02/05/2019, Ord. 2019-0261  4-6 

(5) The certificate shall comply with the provisions set forth in ORS 249.740(3) and ORS 
249.740(4). 
 
(6) The signatures contained in each certificate of nomination made by individual electors shall 
be certified for genuineness by the Benton County Elections Office. 
 
(7) As used in this section, "prospective certificate" means the information, except signatures 
and other identification of certificate signers, required to be contained in a completed certificate 
of nomination. [Ord. 90-0062; Ord. 2019-0291] 
 
4.265 The Candidate Receiving More Than Fifty Percent of Votes Elected. 
 
(1) In accordance with Benton County Charter Chapter VII Section 25(1) the candidate that 
receives more than fifty percent of the ranked choice votes is declared the winner.  The winning 
candidate shall be the elected official of the county office. 
 
(2) The person elected shall take office immediately upon receiving the person's certificate of 
election and filing their oath of office with the Benton County Elections Office in accordance with 
ORS 204.020. [Ord. 90-0062; Ord. 2019-0291] 
 

Page 50 of 384



Last Modified 04/06/2021, Ord. 2021-0301 5-1  

CHAPTER 5 
BALLOT MEASURES 

 
ADMINISTRATION 
 
5.005 Purpose. 
 
The purpose of BCC Chapter 5 is to describe the process for initiative and referendum petitions, 
referral measures and the creation of ballot titles to be placed on the ballot in accordance with the 
County Charter, Code and applicable state law. [Ord. 17, adopted March 8, 1978; Ord. 85-0002; 
Ord. 2019-0291] 
 
5.010 Application. 
 
A county measure may be submitted for inclusion on the ballot by qualifying petition, referral by 
the Benton County Commissioners or referral by the governing body of a local government in 
Benton County if: 
 
(1) The measure is submitted in accordance with state and local laws applicable to the 
election for which the measure is to appear on the ballot; and 
 
(2) All procedures set forth in BCC Chapter 5 relating to the preparation of the ballot title and 
to the explanatory statement for the measure shall be completed on or before the 70th day before 
the election at which the measure is to be submitted to the electors; and 
 
(3) One or more of the following persons decides to include a measure on the ballot in the 
following manner: 
 

(a) In the case of a measure proposed by initiative or referendum petition: 
 

(A) All chief petitioners agree to include the measure, its ballot title and 
explanatory statement on the ballot, by filing with the Benton County Elections 
Office a statement of that decision, in such form as the County Clerk shall prescribe, 
at the time the prospective petition for the measure is filed with the Elections 
Office; and 
 
(B) A petition containing sufficient numbers of qualified signatures to require 
submission of the measure to the electors shall be filed with the Elections Office on 
or before the 90th day preceding the election at which the measure is to be 
submitted to the electors; or 

 
(b) In the case of a measure referred to the electors by a local government body: 

 
(A) The local government decides to submit the measure, its ballot title and 
explanatory statement to its voters, by filing an order reflecting that decision with 
the Elections Office on or before the 81st day preceding the election at which the 
measure will be submitted to the electors. [Ord. 17, adopted March 8, 1978; Ord. 
85-0002; Ord. 2019-0291] 

Page 51 of 384



Last Modified 04/06/2021, Ord. 2021-0301 5-2  

BALLOT TITLES AND EXPLANATORY STATEMENTS 
 
5.105 Preparation of Ballot Titles and Explanatory Statements. 
 
(1) When a prospective petition is filed regarding a measure proposed by initiative or 
referendum petition, the Benton County Clerk shall convey two copies of the prospective petition 
to the County Counsel, who shall, within five (5) business days after receiving it, prepare a ballot 
title and explanatory statement for the measure and return a copy of the prospective petition, 
together with the ballot title and explanatory statement, to the Elections Office and to one of the 
chief petitioners. 
 
(2) In the case of a measure referred to the electors by the Board of County Commissioners, 
the Board shall file with the Elections Office a ballot title and explanatory statement for the 
measure at the time it files the order described in BCC 5.010(3)(b). 
 
(3) Ballot titles shall consist of: 
 

(a) A caption of not more than 10 words which reasonably identifies the subject of the 
measure; and 
 
(b) A question of not more than 20 words which plainly phrases the chief purpose of 
the measure so that an affirmative response to the question corresponds to an affirmative 
vote on the measure; and 
 
(c) A concise and impartial statement of not more than 175 words summarizing the 
measure and its major effect. 
 

(4) Explanatory statements shall be impartial, simple, and understandable, shall explain the 
measure and its effect and shall not exceed 500 words. [Ord. 17, adopted March 8, 1978; Ord. 85-
0002; Ord. 2019-0291] 
 
5.110 Judicial Review of Ballot Titles and Explanatory Statements. 
 
Within seven (7) business days after the ballot title and explanatory statements are received by 
the Elections Office under subsection (1) or (2) of BCC 5.105, any elector dissatisfied with the 
ballot title or explanatory statement may petition the Benton County Circuit Court for review of 
the title or statement, and shall set forth the reasons why the title or statement does not conform 
to the requirements of BCC Chapter 5 or other applicable law. If the court finds that the ballot 
title or explanatory statement complies with the requirements of BCC Chapter 5 and other 
applicable law, it shall enter an appropriate order to that effect. If the court determines that the 
ballot title or explanatory statement does not comply with the requirements of BCC Chapter 5 or 
other applicable law, the court shall prepare an alternative ballot title or explanatory statement. 
The title or statement so prepared shall replace that of the County Counsel for purposes of BCC 
Chapter 5. The order of the Circuit Court shall not be appealable. [Ord. 17, adopted March 8, 
1978; Ord. 85-0002; Ord. 2019-0291] 
  

Page 52 of 384



Last Modified 04/06/2021, Ord. 2021-0301 5-3  

ADVISORY MEASURES 
 
5.301 Definitions. 
 
(1) “Advisory Measure” means a ballot measure created by a local government for the 
purpose of gauging support or opposition to specific issues or ideas. Advisory measures do not 
mandate changes to the state constitution, state law or regulations or local government charters, 
local laws or ordinances or policies. 
 
(2) “Local government” has the meaning set forth in ORS 174.116. [Ord. 2019-0291] 
 
5.305 Advisory Measures. 
 
A local government, located wholly within the boundaries of Benton County, may refer no more 
than one advisory measure to the electorate of the district in any election in accordance with BCC 
sections 5.301 thru 5.375. A local government that submits an advisory measure to the district 
electorate in Yes/No format, need not be located wholly within Benton County. [Ord. 2019-0291] 
 
5.315 Filing Requirements. 
 
(1) A local government may file with the Benton County Elections Office an order calling 
for a local advisory measure. The order shall include the ballot title of the advisory measure, the 
method of voting to be utilized (Yes/No or Ranked Choice Options) and the election date on 
which the measure shall appear on the ballot. 
 
(2) In the case of a Yes/No advisory measure referred to the electors by a local government, 
it shall file with the Elections Office a ballot title and explanatory statement in accordance with 
BCC 5.105(3) & (4). 
 
(3) In the case of a Ranked Choice Option advisory measure referred to the electors by a local 
government, it shall file with the Elections Office a ballot title and explanatory statement in 
accordance with the following: 
 

(a) A caption of not more than 10 words which reasonably identifies the subject of 
the measure; and 
 
(b) The question shall provide 3 to 5 Options for voters to rank. Each ranked choice 
option shall not exceed 8 words or 40 character spaces whichever is less, to plainly identify 
each option on the ballot, to meet this requirement abbreviations may be utilized. Options 
will be identified as Option A, Option B, Option C, etc., and shall not be included in the 
word/character count; and 
 
(c) A concise and impartial statement of not more than 150 words summarizing each 
measure option. 

 
(4) Explanatory statements shall explain each advisory measure option in an impartial, 
simple, and understandable manner. Advisory measure statements with three ranking options 
shall be limited to 400 words, four options shall be limited to 500 words and five options shall be 
limited to 600 words or less. [Ord. 2019-0291] 

Page 53 of 384



Last Modified 04/06/2021, Ord. 2021-0301 5-4  

 
5.325 Advisory Measure Filing Deadlines. 
 
A local government shall file its order for an advisory measure with the Benton County Elections 
Office, on or before the 81st day preceding the election at which the measure is to appear on the 
ballot. [Ord.2019-0291] 
 
5.335 Advisory Measure Ballot Title & Explanatory Statement Review. 
 

(1) Petition for Review. 
 

(a) Any elector registered and qualified to vote on the subject advisory measure may 
file a petition with the Elections Office, for an administrative review of the ballot title 
and/or explanatory statement, not later than the 5th day after the last day on which a notice 
of election can be filed. 
 
(b) A petition filed under this section shall contain a statement of reasons why the 
explanatory statement is not impartial, is insufficient, or unclear. 

 
(c) Upon receipt of a petition, the County Clerk, or the Clerk’s designee, shall schedule 
a hearing at the earliest possible date. At said hearing the petitioner and the local 
government shall have an opportunity to present evidence and argue the question of 
impartiality, sufficiency, or clarity of the explanatory statement. At the conclusion of the 
hearing, the County Clerk may modify the ballot title and/or explanatory statement to 
comply with the requirements of this section. The reviewed ballot title and explanatory 
statement, modified or not modified by the County Clerk, shall be certified for use in the 
election. 

 
(2) The Clerk’s review of the advisory measure ballot title and explanatory statement shall be 
the first and final review in order to ensure the timely availability of voters’ pamphlets and ballots 
for the election. [Ord. 2019-0192] 
 
5.345 Printing Advisory Measures on the Ballot. 
 
Ballots shall be printed in accordance with ORS Chapter 254 and in a manner that will provide 
each qualified elector with the opportunity to rank advisory measure options in the order of 
preference. [Ord. 2019-0291] 
 
5.375 Cost and Election Date for Advisory Measures 
Local governments that refer an advisory measure to their voters shall pay the full apportioned 
cost for the advisory measure submission. without regard to the The election date on which the 
an advisory measure may appears on the ballot shall be limited to dates other than the dates set 
for the Primary, General and regular Special District Election in ORS 203.085. [Ord. 2019-0291] Commented [CVM1]: What dates does that leave? And, is 

this fair to the other jurisdictions in the county? 

Commented [MJV2]: No it is very fair.  This leaves, 
March and August election dates in odd and even years and 
November of odd years. 

Commented [MJV3R2]: Direct authorization for 
Advisory Measures is unique to Benton County, these 
measures are not explicitly authorized or governed by ORS. 

Page 54 of 384



 Last Modified 02/05/19, Ord. 2019-0291   6-1    

CHAPTER 6  
  

VOTERS’ PAMPHLET  
  
6.005 Purpose.  
  
The purpose of BCC Chapter 6 is to authorize and direct the Election Office in the production and 
mailing of a county voters’ pamphlet, as directed by the County Clerk.  The voters’ pamphlet will 
provide electors with information necessary to make an informed choice in elections by allowing 
candidates and measure committees the opportunity to put forward information and arguments 
concerning ballot issues.  [Ord. 99-0153; Ord. 2019-0291]  
  
6.105 Preparation and Mailing of Benton County Voters’ Pamphlet.  
  
When directed by the County Clerk, the Elections Office, under the supervision of the Supervisor 
of Elections, shall prepare and mail a county voters’ pamphlet as follows:  
  
(1) The Elections Office shall prepare and have printed a county voters’ pamphlet, which will 
include filed information on all candidates and measures that will appear on the ballot.  
  
(2) The voters’ pamphlets shallmay be distributed to all households within the jurisdiction(s) 
taking part in the election. One pamphlet will be distributed to each household, regardless of how 
many voters reside in that household.  All the measures and candidates that will appear on the 
ballot for the election may be included in one voters’ pamphlet.  Additional means of distribution 
may be utilized if it is determined that the additional distribution is necessary to make pamphlets 
available to all households of the electoral district.  
  
(3) No voters’ pamphlet will be prepared unless there are candidate statements or explanatory 
statements filed with the county.  
  
(4) The voters’ pamphlets shall be distributed not later than the 7th day before the election or 
the last day for mailing ballots.  
   
(5) Voter pamphlets may be distributed by including one in each ballot envelope mailed to 
voters.  If the voters’ pamphlet is distributed in this manner, the information in the pamphlets may 
be district specific, but, shall include all other information prescribed in this section and BCC 
6.110.  [Ord. 99-0153; Ord.2019-0291]  
  
6.110 Other Required Items in Voters’ Pamphlet.  
  
In compliance with state election law the following items shall be part of the Benton County voters’ 
pamphlet or the combined voters’ pamphlet, if inserting with a state produced pamphlet, in addition 
to those items previously listed:  

Commented [CVM1]: Does the Board make this 
determination? If so, we should add that to the sentence. 

Commented [MJV2]: No, we do that. 

Commented [CVM3]: I don’t understand why we are 
removing the 6.110 elements from the district-specific 
pamphlets. 

Commented [MJV4]: Just because it’s redundant. The 
6.110 elements are still required. 

Page 55 of 384



 Last Modified 02/05/19, Ord. 2019-0291   6-2    

  
(1) The requirements for a citizen to qualify to vote.  
  
(2) The requirements to register to vote.  
  
(3) The hours that the Benton County Elections Office will be open on Election Day, as well as 

the location of all ballot drop sites throughout the county and the hours during which voters 
will be able to deliver ballots to those drop sites.  

  
(4) Instructions to voters concerning their rights and duties dealing with the election process to 

include: how voters may obtain an absentee ballot, how to request a second ballot if the first 
was spoiled or that voters may cast a ballot in-person by coming to the Elections Office.  

  
(5) The ballot title of each measure, the explanatory statements, and any arguments submitted, 

in accordance with the terms of this ordinance.  
  
(6) Any candidate statements submitted in accordance with the terms of this ordinance.  
  
(7) Such other information as may be necessary or appropriate.  [Ord. 99-0153; Ord. 20190291]  
  
6.205 Explanatory Statements.  
  
(1) Filing Deadlines.  
  
Not later than the filing deadline for the notice of election provided in state statute.  
  

(a) Any authorized governing body which institutes a measure to appear on the ballot, shall 
submit an impartial, simple, and understandable statement explaining the measure and 
its effect.  

  
(b) For measures instituted by petition to the authorized governing body, the governing 

body may submit an impartial, simple, and understandable statement explaining the 
measure and its effect.   

  
(2) Contents.  
  
The explanatory statement shall contain words and numbers only and shall not exceed 500 words, 
shall be typewritten, and shall be an impartial, simple, and understandable statement, which 
explains the measure and its effects.  This shall be in addition to the ballot title requirements set 
forth by state statute.  
  
(3) Availability to Public.  
  

Page 56 of 384



 Last Modified 02/05/19, Ord. 2019-0291   6-3    

A full and complete copy of the explanatory statement shall be available to the public in the 
Elections Office.  
  
(4) Challenge and Review.    
  

(a) Any elector registered and qualified to vote on the subject measure may file a petition 
with the Elections Office, for an administrative review of the explanatory statement, 
not later than the 5th day after the last day on which a notice of election can be filed.  

  
(b) A petition filed under this section shall contain a statement of reasons why the 

explanatory statement is not impartial, is insufficient, or unclear.  
  
(c) Upon receipt of a petition, the County Clerk, or the Clerk’s designee, shall schedule a 

hearing at the earliest possible date.  At said hearing the petitioner and the filing body 
shall have an opportunity to present evidence and argue the question of impartiality, 
sufficiency, or clarity of the explanatory statement.  At the conclusion of the hearing, 
the County Clerk may modify the explanatory statement to comply with the 
requirements of this section in a manner that reflects the drafter's intent as closely as 
possible. The modified explanatory statement, or the original explanatory statement, if 
not modified by the Supervisor of Elections, shall be certified and included in the 
voters’ pamphlet. [Ord. 99-0153; Ord. 2019-0291]  

  
6.305 Arguments.  
  
(1) Filing Deadline.  
  
Arguments supporting or opposing a measure must be filed not later than the 5th day after the last 
day on which the notice of election may have been filed.  
  
(2) Form of Argument.  

  
(a) The argument filed shall be in words and numbers only, shall be typewritten, and shall 

be printed on no more than 29.8 square inches, which allows a maximum of 325 words.  
  
(b) The Elections Office shall reject any argument which:  

  
(i) Contains any obscene, profane, scandalous or defamatory language.  
  
(ii) Incites, promotes or advocates hatred, abuse, violence or hostility toward or 

which tends to cast ridicule or shame upon any person or group by reason of race, 
color, gender, religion or manner of worship.  

  
(iii) Contains any language that may not legally be circulated in the mail.  

Page 57 of 384



 Last Modified 02/05/19, Ord. 2019-0291   6-4    

  
(iv) Otherwise does not comply with this ordinance.  

  
(3) Filing Fee.  
  
Shall be established by resolution approved by the Benton County Board of Commissioners.  

  
(4) Subscription and Disclaimer.    

  
The argument shall also contain the name of the submitting organization or person; whether 
the argument supports or opposes the measure; and a disclaimer in substantially the 
following form;  
    
  "The printing of this argument does not constitute an endorsement  
 by Benton County, nor does the County warrant the accuracy or truth of 
any statements made in the argument."  
  

(5) The language referred to in BCC 6.305(4) shall not be included in the 325 word limitation 
set forth in BCC 6.305(2).  [Ord. 99-0153; Ord. 2019-0291]  

  
6.405 Candidate Statements.  
  
(1) Filing Deadline.    
  
Not later than the filing date set forth in state statute for filing for the position, a candidate may file 
with the Benton County Elections Office a typewritten statement of reasons why the candidate 
should be nominated or elected; and a photograph of the candidate.  
  
(2) Contents of candidate's statement.  
  

(a) The candidate's statement shall consist of words or numbers only, and shall not exceed 
325 words.  The candidate's statement shall begin with a summary of the following: 
Occupation, education and occupational background, and prior governmental 
experience.  

  
(b) The Elections Office shall reject any candidate's statement which:  

  
(i) Contains any obscene, profane, scandalous or defamatory language.  

  
(ii) Incites, promotes or advocates hatred, abuse, violence or hostility toward or which 

tends to cast ridicule or shame upon any person or group by reason of race, color, 
gender, religion or manner of worship.  

  

Page 58 of 384



 Last Modified 02/05/19, Ord. 2019-0291   6-5    

(iii) Contains any language which may not legally be circulated in the mail.  
  

(iv) Otherwise does not comply with this ordinance.  
  

(c) Each candidate's statement submitted shall be subscribed and sworn to before a notary 
or a Deputy Clerk in the Elections Office, and the subscription shall be in the following 
form:  

  
"I hereby subscribe and swear under penalty of law that the above 
submitted candidate's statement is true and accurate to the best of 
my knowledge and belief."  

  
(3) Photograph Requirements.  
  
A candidate, at the time of filing a candidate's statement, may submit two identical 5" X 7" glossy 
photographs for use in the voters’ pamphlet. A candidate shall not submit for inclusion in the 
voters’ pamphlet a photograph that was taken more than two years before the date the photograph 
is filed with the Elections Office.  
  

(a) A photograph submitted for inclusion in the voters’ pamphlet shall:  
  

(i) Be a conventional photograph with a plain background; and  
  

(ii) Show the face or head, neck and shoulders of the candidate.  
  

(b) A photograph submitted for inclusion in the voters’ pamphlet shall not:  
  

(i) Include the hands or anything held in the hands of the candidate;  
  

(ii) Show the candidate wearing a judicial robe, a hat or military, police or fraternal 
uniform;  

  
(iii) Show the uniform or insignia of any organization; and  

  
(iv) Include the display of any flag or pennant.   

  
  
(4) Filing Fee.  
  
Each candidate’s statement filed shall be accompanied by the required fee, $25 for unpaid offices 
and $100 for paid offices.  The Elections Office shall reject any candidate's statement tendered for 
filing unless accompanied by the specified fee.  
  

Page 59 of 384



 Last Modified 02/05/19, Ord. 2019-0291   6-6    

(5) Language.  
  
The subscription language provided for in BCC 6.405(2)(c) shall not be included in the 325 word 
limitation set forth in BCC 6.405(2)(a).  [Ord. 99-0153; Ord. 2019-0291]  
  
6.505 Miscellaneous.  
  
(1) Spacing and Type Size.  
  
The Supervisor of Elections shall have the authority to determine type size and spacing to be used 
in the printing of explanatory statements, arguments and candidate's statements.  The Supervisor 
of Elections shall exercise this authority only for the purpose of ensuring that each explanatory 
statement, argument or candidate's statement occupies no more than one page of the printed voters’ 
pamphlet.  A page for the purpose of this means 46.5 square inches, or one of the two columns on 
each page of the voters’ pamphlet.  
  
(2) Deadline.  
  
A measure, explanatory statement, argument, or candidate's statement, together with the required 
fee, must be filed with the Elections Office not later than 5 PM of the day the document or fee is 
due.  If the day the document or fee is due is a Saturday, Sunday, or holiday, the document or fee 
can be filed by 5 PM on the next business day.  If a person is physically present within or in line 
to enter the Elections Office, in order to deliver the document or fee, the person shall be considered 
as having begun the act of delivering the document or fee.  The person shall then be permitted to 
file so long as that person does not leave prior to completing the process with the Elections Office.  
  
(3) Forms.  
  
The Elections Office may develop and require the use of standardized forms for any or all of the 
filings authorized or required by this ordinance.  [Ord. 99-0153; Ord. 2019-0291]  
  
6.605 Disposition of funds.  
  
(1) The Benton County voters’ pamphlet shall be published and distributed under the authority 
of the Benton County Clerk.  
  
(2) Revenues derived pursuant to this ordinance shall be utilized to offset the cost of producing 
and distributing the voters’ pamphlet.  If the revenues generated, as a result of argument fees, 
candidate's statement fees or other revenues exceeds the total cost of producing and distributing 
the voters’ pamphlet, the balance shall be used to offset the election costs.  [Ord.  
99-0153; Ord. 2019-0291]  

Page 60 of 384



BOC Agenda Checklist Master

Agenda Placement and Contacts

Suggested Agenda
Date

View Agenda Tracker

Suggested
Placement*

Department*

Contact Name *

Phone Extension*

Meeting Attendee
Name *

Item Title *

Item Involves*

Board/Committee
Involvement*

Name of
Board/Committee

02/21/23

BOC Tuesday Meeting

Community Development

Darren Nichols

6394

Inga Williams

Agenda Item Details

Appeal of Planning Commission Land Use Decision Regarding LU-22-023; Jordan

Check all that apply
Appointments
Budget
Contract/Agreement
Discussion and Action
Discussion Only
Document Recording
Employment
Notice of Intent
Order/Resolution
Ordinance/Public Hearing 1st Reading
Ordinance/Public Hearing 2nd Reading
Proclamation
Project/Committee Update
Public Comment
Special Report
Other Public Hearing on Appeal of a Planning Commission land use 

decision

Yes
No

Planning Commission

Page 61 of 384

https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1S2peKETqeC8LwBJ3LVhQ1eRm_0Lt4i8Zh9nFeOzJ40Y


Advertisement*

Names/Dates of
Publications

Yes
No

List each publication name and date
Albany/Corvallis newspaper advertisement
published 02/06/23; Notice of Public Hearing
mailed 02/02/23

Page 62 of 384



Issues and Fiscal Impact

Identified Salient
Issues*

Options*

Fiscal Impact*

Item Issues and Description

The Community Development Department found that the applicant's request did
not comply with Benton County Code (BCC) section 55.120(1)(b), and denied the
application. The applicant and the property owner appealed the decision to the
Planning Commission. The Planning Commission also found that the applicant's
request did not comply with BCC 55.120(1)(b). The applicant and the property
owner now appeal that decision to the Board of Commissioners.

1) Overturn the Planning Commission's decision and approve the request for a
farm-help dwelling for a relative of the farm operator; or

2) Uphold the Planning Commision's decision and deny the request for a farm-help
dwelling for a relative of the farm operator.

Yes
No

Page 63 of 384



2040 Thriving Communities Initiative

Mandated
Service?*

2040 Thriving Communities Initiative
Describe how this agenda checklist advances the core values or focus areas of 2040, or supports a strategy of a
departmental goal.

To review the initiative, visit the website HERE.

Mandated Service
Description*

Core Values*

Explain Core Values
Selections*

Focus Areas and
Vision*

Explain Focus Areas
and Vision
Selection*

Yes
No

If this agenda checklist describes a mandated service or other function, please describe here.
The process to appeal a decision of the Planning Official and the Planning
Commission is provided by state law and Benton County Code, BCC 51.815,
51.825, and 51.830.

Values and Focus Areas
Check boxes that reflect each applicable value or focus area and explain how they will be advanced.

Select all that apply.
Vibrant, Livable Communities
Supportive People Resources
High Quality Environment and Access
Diverse Economy that Fits
Community Resilience
Equity for Everyone
Health in All Actions
N/A

This item involves an appeal of a Planning Commission decision under the
provisions of state law and the County's acknowledged land use ordinances.

Select all that apply.
Community Safety
Emergency Preparedness
Outdoor Recreation
Prosperous Economy
Environment and Natural Resources
Mobility and Transportation
Housing and Growth
Arts, Entertainment, Culture, and History
Food and Agriculture
Lifelong Learning and Education
N/A

This item involves an appeal of a Planning Commission decision under the
provisions of state law and the County's acknowledged land use ordinances.

Page 64 of 384

https://thebee.in.co.benton.or.us/2040


Recommendations and Motions

Staff
Recommendations*

Meeting Motions*

Item Recommendations and Motions

Staff recommends the Board of Commissioners uphold the Planning Commission's
decision to deny the application.

I move to ...
Based on the evidence in the record, and upon hearing testimony on the issue, I
move to deny the applicants' appeal, thereby upholding the original Notice of
Decision on file number LU-22-023.

Page 65 of 384



Attachments, Comments, and Submission

Attachments

Comments (optional)

Department
Approver

Item Comments and Attachments

Upload any attachments to be included in the agenda, preferably as PDF files. If more than one
attachment / exhibit, please indicate "1", "2", "3" or "A", "B", "C" on the documents.

PDF File for County Agenda.pdf 14.22MB

The packet for this appeal hearing includes:
- The applicant's original application materials;
- The original staff report and decision;
- Materials submitted to the Planning Commission on appeal; 
- Materials submitted to the Board of Commissioners on subsequent appeal; and
- A staff memo in response to the appeal to the Board of Commissioners.

If you have any questions, please call ext.6800

DARREN NICHOLS

Page 66 of 384



1.  

 
2.  

 
3.  

 
4.  

 
 

Page 67 of 384



 

Community Development Department 

Office: (541) 766-6819 
4500 SW Research Way 

Corvallis, OR 97333 

co.benton.or.us/cd 

MEMORANDUM 
 

To Benton County Planning Commission 

From Inga Williams, Associate Planner; and  
 Darren Nichols, Community Development Director 

Date   February 8, 2023 

Subject Summary of LU-22-023 Staff Decision and Appeal  

 

PROCEDURAL ITEMS 

On March 21, 2022, the Community Development Department received an application for an accessory 
farm-help dwelling for a relative of the farm operator and deemed the application complete. The 
applicant is Cynthia Crosby; the property owner is Connie Jordan. The application was reviewed 
administratively pursuant to BCC 53.160. The county’s Notice of Decision denying the request was 
mailed on June 30, 2022; recipients then had 14 calendar days from the date of decision to file an 
appeal. The applicant and the property owner jointly filed a timely appeal of the decision.  

The appeal was forwarded to the Planning Commission and scheduled for public hearing on November 
15, 2022 – Exhibit A Planning Commission Minutes for November 15. At the end of the public hearing, 
the applicant’s attorney requested that the record be held open. The Planning Commission reconvened 
on December 6, 2022, for deliberation on the item. Five members of the Planning Commission were 
present; Commissioner Gervais abstained from the discussion and vote. Following deliberation, the 
Planning Commission voted 3 to 1 to uphold the staff decision denying the application, with one 
abstention. A Notice of Decision  of the Planning Commission’s denial of the appeal was emailed on 
December 8th and mailed on 9th.  

The appellants then submitted a timely appeal of the Planning Commission’s decision. The item, as 
required by County Code, is being forwarded to the Board of County Commissioners for a public 
hearing.  

 

BACKGROUND  

The subject property contains 64 acres zoned Exclusive Farm Use . Connie Jordan purchased the 
property in 2015. Cynthia Crosby is the applicant and is identified in the application as the farm 
operator. Ms. Crosby’s daughter and son-in-law, Claire Fulsher and Kevin Fulsher, are identified as 
relatives who provide help to Ms. Jordan and Ms. Crosby. 

Page 68 of 384



    

File LU 22-023 Jordan/Crosby – Appeal to the Board of Commissioners Staff Memo                                 Page 2 
 

Staff reviewed the application and supporting documentation for compliance with Benton County Code 
(BCC, Code). The staff report documents the findings and conclusions for each relevant Code section. 
Staff concluded that the request does not comply with BCC 55.120(1)(b) (Pages 4 through 7 of the staff 
report). The Code reads, “…the relatives’ assistance in the management and farm use of the existing 
commercial farming operation is required by the farm operator…”  The Planning Commission also found 
that the applicant’s request does not comply with Benton County BCC 55.120(1)(b) – Exhibit B Planning 
Commission Minutes for December 6.  

Applicants’ Supporting Documentation 

The applicants have submitted documentation supporting their request. The information submitted 
includes comprehensive detail on the workings of their farm. This information can be found at the 
following listed pages: 

Pages 96 through 101 – supporting documentation for the original application 

Pages 104-139 and 142-149 - Appeal of the Development Department’s Decision 

Pages 244-288 -  Appeal of the Planning Commission’s Decision 

The applicants’ agents have also submitted supporting documentation countering staff’s determination 
that the farm does not rise to the level of a commercial farming operation and that live-on-the-farm 
help from Claire Fulsher and Kevin Fulsher is not required. The documentation includes discussion of 
Land Use Board of Appeals cases and prior Community Development Department reviews of 
applications for farm-help dwellings for a relative of a farm operator. 

 

STAFF DECISION 

Below is a summary of the issues presented. The two staff memos that were submitted to the Planning 
Commission outline the arguments in more detail.  

The arguments condense into two issues:  
• when is farming a commercial farm operation? and  
• how does the term ‘required’ apply to an applicant’s stated need? 

When is farming a commercial farm operation? 

“Farm Use” is defined as “the current employment of land for the primary purpose of obtaining a profit 
in money.”1 The applicants only identify two farming operations that create a profit: breeding Dexter 
cattle and raising hay. Other farming activities on the property include horse boarding for personal use, 
an apple orchard, and a vegetable garden. The applicants do not utilize the land primarily to obtain a 
profit, nor do they rely upon this farm for their income. They live on the property to enjoy its beauty, 
enjoy a rural lifestyle and the opportunity to remain active in retirement, part of which is learning 
farming techniques and applying them to the property.  

The applicants are clearly stewarding the established farm uses and on-site natural resources with the 
intention of preserving those resources for years to come but the applicants’ activities do not rise to 

 
1 ORS 215.203(2) and 308A.056 

Page 69 of 384



    

File LU 22-023 Jordan/Crosby – Appeal to the Board of Commissioners Staff Memo                                 Page 3 
 

the level of a farm operator who gains the majority, if not all, of their income from managing a farm 
use and who intends to concentrate their activities on the land to create that income.  

In the absence of express county code criteria staff utilized the objective criteria established by LUBA 
to determine that the applicants’ operations do not rise to the level of a commercial farming 
operation. 

 LUBA has established three safe harbors to determine if a farm is a commercial farm operation: 

o Does it meet the minimum parcel size that the Oregon Administrative Rules put forth as 
the minimum size that is considered acceptable to provide continuity for a commercial 
agricultural enterprise?  

 Oregon statute2 requires a property to contain at least 80 acres. The subject 
property contains 64 acres; the application does not satisfy the minimum acreage 
test. 

o Is the farm use productive enough to meet or exceed the base income requirements 
required to establish a primary farm dwelling? 

 Oregon law establishes an $80,000 annual income test to establish a primary farm 
dwelling. The applicant’s income does not meet the $80,000 dollar income 
requirement. Staff estimates current income at less than $30,000 based on 
submitted beef receipts and an estimate of hay production at current hay prices. 

o Could the property qualify for an accessory farm dwelling under code requirements? 

 The requirements for an establishing an accessory farm dwelling are the same as for 
a primary farm dwelling – the property must contain a minimum of 80 acres or 
produce $80,000 of annual farm income. The application does not meet these 
requirements. 

 We could not determine that the farm is a commercial farming operation under the three safe 
harbor standards and so looked at the fourth part of the criteria, the definition of a ‘commercial 
agricultural enterprise,’ a term referenced by LUBA as equivalent to a commercial farming 
operation. A ‘commercial agricultural enterprise must: 

o Contribute in a substantial way to the area's existing agricultural economy; and  
o Help maintain agricultural processors and established farm markets. 

 Staff concludes that the farm did not substantially contribute to Benton County’s 
agricultural economy or maintain agricultural processors or established farm 
markets. It contributes slightly to the cattle market and the hay market but the 
farm’s contributions have not risen to a point that its elimination would create an 
impact on any farm market or the local economy.   

Is live-on farm help required?  

On its face, the term “required” is easy to understand without the need to resort to a dictionary. The 
dictionary definition offered by the applicant’s counsel defines ‘required’ as “to demand as necessary 

 
2 ORS 215.780 

Page 70 of 384



    

File LU 22-023 Jordan/Crosby – Appeal to the Board of Commissioners Staff Memo                                 Page 4 
 

or essential (as on general principles or in order to comply with or satisfy some regulation).”  Staff 
concludes it is neither necessary nor essential that the relatives live on the farm to provide support to 
farm operations on the subject property. Claire Fulsher and Kevin Fulsher provide supplemental help to 
the farm operation and live within a 15-minute drive of the subject property. The applicants also rely 
on help from neighbors, other community members, a local veterinarian, and a part-time hired 
employee. The appellants have invested in modern equipment, and built new irrigation, fencing and 
buildings. All these items decrease the requirement for repairs and upkeep, and decrease time spent in 
farm operations.  

While the appellants and their attorneys do not agree with staff’s assessment, appellants may not 
simply substitute their own definition of a commercial farm operation on appeal. 

 

ANALYSIS OF NEW APPEAL 

The appellants have included a review of prior Community Development department decisions for 
Farm Help Dwellings for a Relative applications. Appellants assert that prior decisions should have been 
acknowledged and used as a basis for the staff decision on this application. Staff interpretations of the 
code, however, are based on the unique circumstances and evidence presented in each application. 

Each farm dwelling situation is unique. While some comparisons between situations may be loosely 
drawn from one application to another but an application-to-application comparison is very difficult. In 
this case, staff’s review of the evidence presented against the standards in County Code and state law 
determined that, in this unique case, the application simply does not meet the tests. 

Information supplied with the original application, and on appeal, including business plan information 
submitted in support of the appeal causes staff to revise the decision to deny the application.  

 

RECOMMENDATION  

Recommendation:  Staff recommends the Board of County Commissioners uphold the Planning 
Commission decision to deny the application. 

Proposed Motion:  “Based on evidence in the record, and upon hearing testimony on the issue, I 
move to deny the applicant’s appeal, thereby upholding the original Notice of Decision on file number 
LU-22-023.”  

 

Encl. Exhibits 

Exhibit A – Planning Commission Minutes from November 15 
Exhibit B – Planning Commission Minutes from December 6 

 

Attachments 

• Original Staff Report and Attachments 
• Staff Reply to Appeal of the Development Department Decision 

Page 71 of 384



    

File LU 22-023 Jordan/Crosby – Appeal to the Board of Commissioners Staff Memo                                 Page 5 
 

o November 15 Planning Commission Staff Documents 
o December 6 Planning Commission Staff Documents 

• Original Application for a Farm-Help Dwelling for a Relative of the Farm Operator 
• Application to Appeal the Development Department’s Decision 

o Information submitted by the applicant for the November 15 Planning Commission 
Hearing 

o Information submitted by the applicant for the December 6 Planning Commission 
Hearing 

• Application to Appeal the Planning Commission’s Decision – Information submitted by the 
applicant for the February 21 Board of County Commissioners’ Hearing 

Page 72 of 384



MEETING MINUTES 
Benton County Planning Commission 

November 15, 2022 

The Benton County Planning Commission Chair Nicholas Fowler called the meeting to order at 
7:00 p.m.  The meeting was open to the public place in-person and virtually via GoTo Webinar. 

COMMISSION MEMBERS: 
Present 
Nicholas Fowler, Chair 
Evelyn Lee 
Sean Scorvo 
Christina White 
Liz Irish 

Absent: Jennifer Gervais 

STAFF: 
Present 
Darren Nichols, Director 
Greg Verret, Deputy Director for Policy & 
Program Development 
Inga Williams, Associate Planner 
Gordon Kurtz, Associate Engineer 
Shea Steingass, Environmental Project 
Coordinator 
Linda Ray, Recorder 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES for Planning Commission Meeting on October 11th Joint Commission 
meeting with Adair Village.   

The Planning Commissioners approved their portion of the minutes. 

PUBLIC HEARING; LU-22-023; JORDAN; APPEAL 
Planner Williams presented the Staff Report on an application for a Farm Help Dwelling for a 
Relative submitted by Cynthia Crosby & Connie Jordan.  Staff denied the application and the 
applicant has appealed that decision.  Planner Williams stated that the applicant’s property did 
not meet the criteria of commercial farm use due to the scale and intensity of the use.  It does 
not meet the criteria for a farm help dwelling for a relative. Therefore, the application was 
denied. 

QUESTIONS OF THE PLANNING COMMISSIONERS.   
Answers to questions raised by the Commissioners to Planner Williams are as follows: 

• The applicant can expand on the existing dwelling located on the property.
• The property is already below the minimum standard for parcel size, so there is no

possibility of partitioning the property.

Exhibit A
5Page 73 of 384



 

 
 

• Tax Assessors code of 551 “commercial farm operation” would have put the property at 
a lower tax rate. 
 

 

PRESENTATION BY THE APPLICANT’S ATTORNEY 

Mike Reeder, Attorney, 375 W 4th Ave, Eugene, Oregon is representing the applicant and owner 
of the property.  He began his statement by pointing out that the Oregon State Legislature has 
already determined that certain circumstances would allow for the approval of the applicant’s 
request.  Mr. Reeder disagrees with county staff’s decision to deny the application for two main 
reasons: 

1. Mr. Reeder believes that the property in question is considered a Commercial 
Farming Operation.  Mr. Reeder pointed out that state statute and county code do not 
define the term “commercial farming”.  He disagrees with county counsel’s October 24 
memo.  

2.  Mr. Reeder believes that assistance is required and therefore makes this case 
suitable for approval.   

 

PLANNING COMMISSION DISCUSSION FOLLOWING THE PRESENTATION BY THE APPLICANT’S 
ATTORNEY 

0The term “necessary” is not used in consideration by LUBA, only in state statute and county 
code.  The term “required” is relevant according to Mr. Reeder. 

Mr. Reeder stated that staff’s suggestion that the property contains enough labor for one full 
time operator is in error. 

Chair Fowler referenced the staff report that stated the property was acquired in 2015 with a 
cattle operation in place and the requirements for a primary dwelling.  He asked Mr. Reeder 
why there is a request for a second dwelling.  Mr. Reeder responded that state statue regarding 
farm help does not have a rule therefore legislature intended to allow for operator housing.   

Safe harbor is not equivalent to this situation.  Mr. Reeder stated that the applicant met the 
standards that it is more than a “hobby farm”. 

 

TESTIMONY BY THE APPLICANT: 

Connie Jordan is the owner of the property in question.  She gave a brief background of the 
history and friendship between her and Cynthia Crosby.  Ms. Jordan chose to go into the farm 
business as part of her retirement.  Connie does the manual labor around the farm, while 
Cynthia takes care of the management and office work.  Ms. Jordan emphasized the need for 
additional help around the farm as it has become too much for her to manage alone.  Claire and 
Kevin Fulsher (daughter and son-in-law of Ms. Crosby) have been helping with the labor 
involved in the farm.  Ms. Jordan gave a synopsis of the farm operation, investment she has 

6Page 74 of 384



 

 
 

made and hope for the future of the property.  She intends to make Ms. Crosby the primary 
beneficiary and Claire would be the secondary beneficiary.  In hopes that the farm will be 
generational.   

The Planning Commissioners asked questions and received detailed information about the 
cattle operation, horse raising, and fruit tree status on the farm, along with specifics regarding 
the hay production.  Chair Fowler asked for clarification on the need for additional help.  Ms. 
Crosby stated that age and the strains of physical labor involved in operating the farm increases 
the need for additional help.  Both Ms. Jordan and Ms. Crosby hope to see the work done by 
family instead of hiring outside help.   

 

PUBLIC TESTIMONY IN SUPPORT OF THE APPLICANT 

Rose & Patrick Mahoney, 31916 Fern Rd, Philomath.  They have been neighbors of the property 
since 1996.  They stated that their observation since Ms. Jordan purchased the land has been 
consistent with farming.  Mrs. Mahoney stated that Ms. Jordan is working hard to raise the next 
generation of farmers which is valuable to their community.  They are in support of the 
applicant’s request. 

Claire Fulsher, 4936 SW Roseberry St, Corvallis.  Ms. Fulsher is the only daughter of Cynthia 
Crosby.  Their goal for the farm is to see it succeed, to incorporate a roadside stand to sell 
produce and as the cow production grows, she hopes to share beef with the community.  Ms. 
Fulsher helps with the day-to-day operations of the farm.  She pointed out that the houses 
located on the property are next to the county road, so they are not taking up viable land that is 
needed for the livestock or hay production.   

 

REBUTTAL BY THE APPLICANT’S ATTORNEY, MIKE REEDER 

Mr. Reeder noted that the farming operation requires 2.5 full time workers.  Which in his 
opinion justifies the need for farm help.  He stated that relative farm help is required in this 
case due to the owner and operator’s physical limitations due to age.   

Andree Phelps, 375 W 4th Ave, Ste 204, Eugene Oregon.  Ms. Phelps is a colleague of Mr. Reeder 
and she stated that the staff report’s mention of “some” hay is not portrayed correctly.  She 
noted that the hay production and profit intake, along with farm equipment reflect “more than 
some”. 

Mr. Reeder closed his rebuttal by referring to the LUBA supporting cases as a proposition to 
grant approval of the application.  He asked to leave the public hearing record open to provide 
additional information. 

Commissioner Scorvo MOVED for a continuance allowing for additional testimony.  The motion 
was SECONDED by Commissioner White; the MOTION PASSED 5-0.   

The record will be held open until November 22nd.  The Planning Commission will reconvene on 
Tuesday, December 6th. 

 

7Page 75 of 384



 

 
 

 

PLANNING COMMISSION WORK SESSION 

Community Development Deputy Director, Greg Verret presented county code amendments 
concerning the upcoming changes to the Benton County Code regarding stormwater 
management and permitting.  Benton County’s Oregon Department of Environmental Quality 
(DEQ) National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permit has two new 
requirements (“control measures”) going into effect on March 1, 2023.  There will be changes 
to the county’s Erosion & Sediment Control permit as well.  Gordon Kurtz, Benton County Public 
Works Engineer was also present to contribute to the discussion.  A public hearing is scheduled 
for December 6th on these changes to the county code. 

 

The meeting adjourned at 10:07 pm. 

8Page 76 of 384



MEETING MINUTES 

Benton County Planning Commission 

December 6, 2022 

Benton County Planning Commission Chair Nicholas Fowler called the meeting to order at 

7:10 p.m.  The meeting was open to the public in-person and virtually via GoTo Webinar. 

COMMISSION MEMBERS: 

Present 

Nicholas Fowler, Chair 

Jennifer Gervais, Vice Chair 

Evelyn Lee 

       Sean Scorvo 

Elizabeth Irish 

STAFF: 

Present 

Darren Nichols, Director 

Inga Williams, Associate Planner 

Linda Ray, Recorder 

PLANNING COMMISSION DELIBERATIONS ON LU-22-023; JORDAN; APPEAL 

The Chair asked for commissioner reactions to an earlier hearing on the appeal of a staff 

decision denying an application for a Farm Help Dwelling for a Relative.   

Commission members offered the following observations and perspectives: 

• The applicant does not meet the test for required help with a commercial farm

operation according to BCS 55.120(1)(b).

o It was difficult to determine that the farming operation is commercial.

o Reviewing the operational hours spent per year, there is not enough work

identified to require full-time help.

o Under Benton County Code’s (BCC) 55.109, BCC 55.115 $80k income test, if the

applicant were seeking to build a primary dwelling or accessory dwelling the

application would be denied.

o Despite the applicant’s goals, the portion of the farm dedicated to commercial

farming does not justify a second dwelling.

• This property is part of an area of former prime farmland that was split into parcels

for five dwellings.  Both of those factors reduce the footprint of agricultural use and

increased the footprint of dwellings which creates undeniable risks to the parcel’s

commercial farm operation potential.

• The applicant’s farming operation reflects a lifestyle choice rather than a business.

• Placing another dwelling on prime agricultural land is inconsistent with Statewide

Planning Goal 3 and Benton County policy to keep agricultural lands in production.

• The State has left it to each county to use local discretion to interpret the term

“necessary” and the Planning Commissioners need to help maintain continuity with

previous decisions and sustain the type of community desired by county residents.

• Acknowledgement of the applicant’s need for help on the farm and noting that it is

the County’s duty to protect farmland and control Accessory Dwelling Units allowed in

designated zones.

Exhibit B
9Page 77 of 384



 

 
 

• Acknowledging the income threshold challenge for the applicant to qualify as a 

“commercial” farm operation and strongly suggesting the County revisit the issue 

around the many small farms around the county and consider clarifying the 

standards to qualify for this type of application. 

 

MOTION:  

Commissioner Scorvo MOVED to DENY the applicant’s appeal, thereby upholding the original 

staff Notice of Decision on LU-22-023.  Commissioner Lee seconded the MOTION.   

 

Benton County Planning Commission vote on the appeal of the staff decision for LU-22-023: 

• Commissioner Fowler – Yes 

• Commissioner Gervais – Abstained 

• Commissioner Irish – No 

• Commissioner Lee – Yes 

• Commissioner Scorvo - Yes 

 

The MOTION passed 3 to 1 with one abstention. 

 

Items from Planning Commission 

Chair Fowler provided an update on the Benton County Talks Trash Workgroup and 

reminded the Commission of their need to appoint a representative to the Workgroup.  

Planning Commission members declined to volunteer due to limited capacity. 

 

Items from Staff  

Nichols updated the commission about the current vacancies on the Planning Commission.  

The BOC has received an application for the vacant positions and will be interviewing one 

candidate on Friday, December 9th.  A few other community members have expressed 

interest in the vacancies as well.   

Nichols also gave an update on the Adair Village UGB expansion: the Benton County Board 

of Commissioners are meeting with Adair Village City Council this evening to consider the 

proposed UGB amendment previously recommended by the Planning Commission. 

Nichols also gave brief updates and information on upcoming events: 

• 2023-25 Department budgets are due in January. 

• Community Roundtable Discussion will be on Thursday, December 15th.1 

• The next Monthly Morning Grind will be on Thursday, January 6th. 

• Benton County will host a 2023 Oregon Planners Network Meeting – a joint 

production of the Oregon Department of Land Conservation and Development and 

the Oregon Chapter of the American Planners Association. 

• The Community Wildfire Protection Plan draft has been finalized and goes before the 

BOC for a work session on December 20th.   

The next Planning Commission meeting will be on January 3, 2023. 

10Page 78 of 384



 

 
 

The meeting adjourned at 8:00 p.m. 

11Page 79 of 384



Original Staff 
Report and 

Attachments

12Page 80 of 384



LU-22-023 Staff ReportStaff Report Page 1 

File No. LU-22-023 

STAFF REPORT 
FARM-HELP DWELLING FOR A RELATIVE 

NATURE OF APPLICATION A request for a farm-help dwelling for a relative of the farm 
operator on an approximately 64-acre property. 

APPLICABLE CRITERIA Benton County Code Sections 55.120, 55.405, 99.810 and 
99.705.   

PROPERTY LOCATION 31992 Fern Road, Philomath, OR, 97370 
T12S R6W Section 24C, Tax Lot 108 

PROPERTY OWNER 
APPLICANT  

Connie L. Jordan  
Cynthia A. Crosby 

ZONE DESIGNATION  Exclusive Farm Use (EFU) 

COMP. PLAN DESIGNATION Agriculture 

CAC PLANNING AREA  Mid Benton (not active) 

STAFF CONTACT  Inga Williams, Inga.Williams@co.benton.or.us 

PUBLIC NOTICE 

On March 21, 2022, the Community Development Department received an application for an 
accessory farm-help dwelling for a relative of the farm operator and deemed it complete. This 
application is reviewed administratively pursuant to BCC 53.160. The Department is not required to 
and did not send a Notice of Application to surrounding property owners but will send a Notice of 
Decision that will allow the recipients 14 calendar days from the date of the decision to submit an 
appeal. The Department did send notice to relevant agencies and other county departments for 
review and comment on April 11, 2022.  

BACKGROUND AND PROPERTY INFORMATION 

Connie Jordon is the property owner. She purchased the property in 2015, along with a herd of 28 
Dexter cattle that were on the property. Cynthia Crosby is the applicant and is identified in the 
application as the farm operator. She and the property owner live on the property. Ms. Crosby’s 
daughter and son-in-law are the relatives who provide help to Ms. Jordon and Ms. Crosby. 

The subject property is within the Exclusive Farm Use (EFU) Zone. Surrounding land to the north, 
south, east, and west of the subject property is also zoned EFU.  Benton County Assessor records 
show that the subject property contains an existing dwelling constructed in 1987. There are three 
barns. Access is obtained from Fern Road.  

Planning Division 

Office: (541) 766-6819 

360 SW Avery Ave. 

Corvallis, OR 97333 

co.benton.or.us/cd 

13Page 81 of 384

mailto:Inga.Williams@co.benton.or.us


LU-22-023 Staff ReportStaff Report Page 2 

The dwelling was approved in 1986 as a farm dwelling1. The property at that time was planted in hay 
and pasturage. The approval criteria for the farm dwelling at that time is as follows: 

Whereas, currently the criteria for approval of a farm dwelling on high value farmland is an 80,0002 
dollar income test.   

A small portion of the property along the west edge is in a flood zone3. There are four types of soil on 
the parcel, all of which are considered prime farmland soils: Santiam silt loam (prime class 2e, 3e), 
McAlpin silty clay loam (prime class 2e), Linslaw loam (prime class 3e), and a small area of Dayton silt 
loam (prime class 4w). There are wetlands located on the property. One wetland is a small freshwater 
pond close behind the dwelling. The other wetland runs along the west property boundary and is a 
freshwater forested/shrub wetland.  

In the application narrative, the applicant lists many specific tasks that are necessary to maintain the 
property. These tasks, generalized, include managing: the Dexter cattle herd, the horse herd, the 
pasturage, an orchard of 35 trees (70% of which were planted in 2020 and 2021), a large garden bed, 
and a pond. The applicant indicates that income has been earned on the sale of cattle. No other 
income generating uses are described in the narrative. The applicant indicates that excess fruit and 
vegetables are distributed to a local food bank and the horses are for personal use. In accordance 
with the State’s rules and Benton County’s local regulations (copied below), the only identified farm 
use of the property is the cattle breeding operation. 

BCC 51.015(15) "Farm use" means the following: (a) In only the Exclusive Farm Use, Forest 
Conservation, and Multi-Purpose Agriculture zones, “farm use” means the current employment of 
land for the primary purpose of obtaining a profit in money by raising, harvesting and selling crops 
or the feeding, breeding, management and sale of, or produce of, livestock, poultry, fur-bearing 
animals, or honeybees, or for dairying and the sale of dairy products or any other agricultural or 
horticultural use or animal husbandry or any combination thereof. Marijuana, grown 
commercially pursuant to a license issued by the State of Oregon, is a crop. "Farm Use" includes 
the preparation, storage and disposal by marketing or otherwise of the products or by-products 
raised on such land for human or animal use. "Farm use" also includes the current employment of 
land for the primary purpose of obtaining a profit in money by stabling or training equines 
including but not limited to providing riding lessons, training clinics and schooling shows. "Farm 
Use" also includes the propagation, cultivation, maintenance and harvesting of aquatic, bird and 
other animal species that are under the jurisdiction of the State Fish and Wildlife Commission, to 
the extent allowed by the rules adopted by the Commission. "Farm use" includes the on-site 
construction and maintenance of equipment and facilities used for the activities described in this 
subsection. "Farm use" does not include the use of land subject to the provisions of ORS Chapter 
321, except land used exclusively for growing cultured Christmas trees defined in ORS 215.203 (3) 

1 Planning Files # MA-86-26 
2 Gross annual income from the sale of farm products, not including marijuana, in each of the last two years or three of the 
last five years, or in an average of three of the last five years 
3 Panel 41043C0500G, Effective 9/29/2010 

14Page 82 of 384



LU-22-023 Staff ReportStaff Report Page 3 

or land described in ORS 321.267 (3) or 321.824. A wholesale or retail plant nursery is considered 
horticultural use and therefore is allowed under this definition.  

COMMENTS 

Gordon Kurtz, Associate Engineer for Benton County Public Works, submitted comments on the 
application on April 11, 2022.   

“No road improvements will be required in association with this application.” 

Community Development Response: No response needed. 

Bernard S. Altenbach, Engineer/Survey Technician 2 for Benton County Public Works, submitted 
comments on the application.  

“No Road Approach Permit required.” 

Community Development Response: No response needed. 

Rich Saalsaa, Fire and Life Safety Officer for Philomath Fire and Rescue, submitted comments on the 
application. 

“Any new dwelling must have a completed Access and Water Supply Worksheet. The site plan 
must also show access driveway, length and width, and if >150’ from Fern, a turnaround.”  

Community Development Response: These requirements will be necessary at the building permit 
stage. This requirement will not be applied at this stage of the process.  

FINDINGS APPLYING CODE CRITERIA 

All applications are subject to the requirements of the Benton County Development Code (BCC).  
Pertinent sections of Code are excerpted below, distinguished by boldface type.  Excerpts from the 
applicant’s testimony are in italics. 

CHAPTER 55 

BCC 55.120 Farm-Help Dwelling for a Relative of the Farm Operator. 
(1) One farm-related dwelling may be permitted on a lawfully established parcel or lot, subject to
administrative review by the Planning Official pursuant to BCC 53.160 for compliance with the
following criteria:

Findings and Conclusion regarding a lawfully established parcel: This parcel and adjacent parcels 
were originally a part of a 92-acre parcel, identified as Tax Lot 101, T12S R6W Section 24. The 92-acre 
parcel was partitioned to segregate out a 5.4-acre and an 11.38-acre parcel in November 1978. In 
1983, a 0.61-acre non-farm parcel, with existing dwelling, located along Fern Road4 was partitioned 
from the 75 acres through a minor land partition application. Another partition was approved in June 
1986 to create a 10.16-acre parcel and the existing 64-acre parcel5. The Community Development 
Department concludes that this parcel is lawfully established. This criterion is met. 

(a) The dwelling will be located on property used for farm use;

Findings: The property assessor has classified the property as 551, which is a commercial farming 
classification. According to the farm operator, when the owner purchased the property, she also 
purchased the herd of 28 Dexter cattle that were on the property. The bull and several cow/calf 
pairs were sold and other cows were butchered in 2019 and the meat sold. A new bull was 
purchased in 2020 to continue the breeding operation.  

4 Planning Files # LD-82-38 
5 Planning Files # PC-86-10 

15Page 83 of 384



LU-22-023 Staff ReportStaff Report Page 4 

“To date, the Owner, Connie, and the farm operator, Cindy, have managed (sold, purchased, or 
butchered) 55 cattle on the property since purchasing the initial herd.” 

The management of the cattle herd meets the definition of “farm use” in that the farm operator is 
obtaining a profit in money by the feeding, breeding, management and sale of livestock.   

Conclusion:  Based on the assessment of the property as qualifying for farm assessment and the 
applicant’s 2020 Schedule F showing gross income of $3,358, staff concludes the accessory 
dwelling will be located on property used for farm use. This criterion is met. 

(b)  The dwelling will be located on the same lot or parcel as the dwelling of the farm operator,
and occupied by a child, parent, stepparent, grandchild, grandparent, step grandparent,
sibling, stepsibling, niece, nephew or first cousin of the farm operator or the farm operator’s
spouse, whose assistance in the management and farm use of the existing commercial
farming operation (not including marijuana) is required by the farm operator;
[BCC 55.020(2) “Farm operator” means a person who operates a farm, doing the work and
making the day-to-day decisions about such things as planting, harvesting, feeding and
marketing.]

Findings and Conclusion - the dwelling will be located on the same lot or parcel as the dwelling 
of the farm operator:  

The principal dwelling is occupied by the farm operator and the property owner.  Ms. Crosby is 
considered the farm operator by the property owner. 

“Ms. Crosby works closely with Ms. Jordan to manage the farm and functions in the role of the 
farm operator including accounts payable and renewables, livestock record keeping, registration 
and marking maintenance, marketing livestock and mobile butcher process, property and pond 
upkeep, grass hay and pasture production, fertilizing and tilling schedules, orchard maintenance, 
and garden production.” 

This criterion is met. 

Findings and Conclusion- the dwelling will be occupied by a child, parent, stepparent, 
grandchild, grandparent, step grandparent, sibling, stepsibling, niece, nephew or first cousin of 
the farm operator: 

The farm operator states, in the application narrative, that the proposed dwelling will be lived in 
by her daughter, Claire, and son-in-law, Kevin. 

“Claire and Kevin have been involved with many aspects of the farm operations and have 
expressed a desire to be located closer to the farm in order to assist in more of the day-to-day 
operations.” 

This criterion is met. 

Findings and Conclusion - the relatives’ assistance in the management and farm use of the 
existing commercial farming operation is required by the farm operator: 

In the application narrative, the farm operator lists the following commercial operation tasks that 
require assistance:  

• Maintenance of the daily nutritional needs of the livestock including procuring the necessary
feed and hay supplies for a year round operation, including storage and distribution.

• Maintenance of the health, breeding and sales records for the livestock. This includes working
with the local veterinary services in developing an annual calendar of routine care and
maintenance.

16Page 84 of 384



LU-22-023 Staff ReportStaff Report Page 5 

• Fence maintenance including repairing the pastures with perimeter, cross fencing and electric
fencing to facilitate rotational grazing throughout the 60 acres.

• Farm equipment maintenance and tool repair. [The list of equipment is not copied here but is
included in the applicant’s narrative]

• Grass management and the development of short and long term goals as a grass farmer and
hay producer. [The list of goals involved is included in the applicant’s narrative.] Also includes
rotational grazing for the cattle and marketing any excess hay to local horse and cow owners.

• Assistance during calving season of the Dexter cattle, butcher preparations and with any
veterinary tasks needed to maintain the health of the livestock.

• Well and water maintenance of the property. Filling and cleaning cattle water tanks, assuring
well functions and protection from livestock and weather as well as routine maintenance

• Monitoring and maintenance of infrastructure such as irrigation, electric and general fencing,
water sources and flow, faucets, batteries, and feed supplies necessary to ensure animal safety
and welfare and uninterrupted operations; this includes any services needed by a licensed
worker.

Defining the words required and necessary 

Louks v. Jackson County, 28 Or LUBA 501 (1995) - Where a local code requires that a second farm 
dwelling be shown “conclusively” to be “necessary6 for the operation of the commercial farm,” 
but does not define the term necessary, it is appropriate to use the dictionary definition of the 
term “necessary”.  Benton County Code utilizes the word required in place of the word necessary 
and does not define the term. The Merriam-Webster dictionary defines required as, “stipulated as 
necessary to be done, made, or provided.” The Cambridge Dictionary defines it as, “necessary 
according to the rules or for a particular purpose.” Definitions of necessary include:  

• Merriam-Webster - absolutely needed
• Cambridge - needed in order to achieve a particular result

Defining commercial farming operations 

The closest definition of a commercial farming operation is from the Oregon Administrative 
Rules7:  

(2)(a) "Commercial Agricultural Enterprise" consists of farm operations that will: 
(A) Contribute in a substantial way to the area's existing agricultural economy; and
(B) Help maintain agricultural processors and established farm markets.

(b) When determining whether a farm is part of the commercial agricultural enterprise, not
only what is produced, but how much and how it is marketed shall be considered. These
are important factors because of the intent of Goal 3 to maintain the agricultural economy
of the state.

The definition has been further developed by a decision in a 2019 Land Use Board of Appeals 
(LUBA) case, Richards v. Jefferson County, 79 Or 171, which outlines various methods that can be 
used to determine if a farm operation constitutes a commercial farming operation. From LUBA’s 
findings in the case:   

“We here describe the two approaches discussed in Richards I and Harland as ‘safe harbors,’ 
because they are based on specific and facially more rigorous rule standards that apply to 
somewhat analogous determinations and uses governed by OAR chapter 660, division 033. 
The two approaches are based on (1) the OAR 660-033-0020 standards for determining what 

6 Necessary is the term used in ORS 215.283(d) 
7 Chapter 660 Division 33 AGRICULTURAL LAND 660-033-0020 Definitions 

17Page 85 of 384

https://secure.sos.state.or.us/oard/displayChapterRules.action;JSESSIONID_OARD=qdCNU7G6O1DGp7qBOj86e2Wx7rFnr-6DJvKQQQE5XOeUzFueid2T!-1295758675?selectedChapter=124
https://secure.sos.state.or.us/oard/displayDivisionRules.action;JSESSIONID_OARD=qdCNU7G6O1DGp7qBOj86e2Wx7rFnr-6DJvKQQQE5XOeUzFueid2T!-1295758675?selectedDivision=3083


LU-22-023 Staff ReportStaff Report Page 6 

minimum parcel size is consistent with continuing the "commercial agricultural enterprise" 
within a local area, and (2) the OAR 660-033-0135 standards for approving a dwelling in 
conjunction with farm use. The rationale is that if a farm operation meets or exceeds the local 
thresholds for a ‘commercial agricultural enterprise,’ or the farm operation is productive 
enough to qualify for a primary farm dwelling, then a county could safely conclude, without 
more analysis, that the farm operation is also a ‘commercial farming operation’ for purposes 
of approving a ‘relative farm help dwelling’ under OAR 660-033-0130(9). To those two 
identified ‘safe harbors,’ we can add a third. OAR 660- 033-0130(24)(b) sets out standards for 
when a farm operation with a primary farm dwelling qualifies for an accessory farm dwelling, 
occupied by a nonrelative. Because a relative farm help dwelling is similar in function to an 
‘accessory farm dwelling’ allowed under OAR 660-033-0130(24), if the farm operation 
supporting the primary farm dwelling is sufficient to qualify the property for an accessory 
farm dwelling under the standards at OAR 660-033- 0130(24)(b), we think a county could 
safely conclude, without more, that the farm operation qualifies as a ‘commercial farming 
operation’ for purposes of OAR 660-033-0130(9). Of course, the reverse is not true: if the 
farming operation supporting a proposed relative farm help dwelling did not meet or exceed 
the relevant standards under any of these three ‘safe harbors,’ it would not necessarily mean 
that the county must conclude that the farming operation at issue is not a "commercial 
farming operation" for purposes of OAR 660-033- 0130(9). It means only that the county must 
grapple with that issue directly and do the hard work of articulating the thresholds it will apply 
in determining whether the farm operation at issue qualifies as a ‘commercial farming 
operation’." 

“…., we believe that, as a legal matter, what distinguishes an existing ‘commercial’ farming 
operation from its noncommercial counterparts is largely a matter of scale and intensity. 
Roughly speaking, we believe a commercial farming operation is one that is of sufficient scale 
and intensity that would induce and require a reasonable farmer to devote the majority of his 
or her working hours to operating a farm on the subject property.”  

The applicant has submitted a Schedule F showing gross income in 2020 to be $3,358. This is 4% 
of the income required for a farm dwelling approval under current Code requirements. Under the 
first two safe harbors of the LUBA rationale cited above, the farm operation is not productive 
enough to qualify for a primary farm dwelling and therefore the county can conclude it is also not 
productive enough for purposes of approving a relative farm help dwelling. The third safe harbor 
also hinges on the same local income requirements for an accessory farm dwelling (BCC 55.115), 
which LUBA concludes is similar in function to a relative help dwelling. This request does not meet 
the minimum requirements in the Benton County Code for an accessory dwelling unit and so this 
safe harbor is not met. Therefore, the decision for this application hinges upon if the operation is 
one that is of sufficient scale and intensity that would induce and require a reasonable farmer to 
devote the majority of his or her working hours to operating a farm on the subject property.  

The applicant does not indicate the farm operator’s time spent in running the commercial portion 
of the agricultural operations but given that this is a small portion of the overall agricultural 
activities occurring on the property, it can be concluded that the majority of the farm operator’s 
time is not spent in the cattle breeding operation. The amount of assistance that is needed by the 
relative in that commercial operation is also not specified. Based on the amount of gross income 
from the operation, it can be concluded that the cattle breeding operation does not contribute in 
a substantial way to the support of the family and so the relatives must support themselves by 
other means, with the majority of their time in that pursuit. It can also be concluded that it does 
not contribute substantially to the area's existing agricultural economy nor help maintain 

18Page 86 of 384



LU-22-023 Staff ReportStaff Report Page 7 

agricultural processors and established farm markets. The conclusion is that the relatives’ help is 
not absolutely needed for management of the commercial agricultural operation and therefore it 
is not necessary for the relatives to live on the property. 

The size of the property, which is below the State’s established minimum acreage requirements, 
limits the amount of commercial agriculture that can be conducted. It appears unlikely that the 
size of the herd could be increased in any great capacity. Income from fruit and vegetables and 
hay could be generated in the future but it is questionable that it would increase income or the 
scale of the commercial farming operation to a level significant enough for approval of an 
accessory dwelling.  

Conclusion: This criterion is not met. 

(c) The farm operator shall continue to play the predominant role in the management and farm
use of the farm. For purposes of this section, a farm operator is a person who operates a farm,
doing the work and making the day-to-day decisions about such things as planting, harvesting,
feeding and marketing.

Findings: The farm operator indicates that she and the owner have been taking classes from
OSU’s Small Farms Program. This indicates a willingness of the farm operator to maintain the
predominant role in management of the farm but this is not explicitly stated in the application.

Conclusion:  This criterion is probably met.

(d) Notwithstanding ORS 92.010 to 92.190 or the minimum lot or parcel requirements of the zone,
if the owner of a dwelling described in this section obtains construction financing or other
financing secured by the dwelling and the secured party forecloses on the dwelling, the secured
party may also foreclose on the homesite, as defined in ORS 308A.250, and the foreclosure shall
operate as a partition of the homesite to create a new parcel.  Prior conditions of approval for
the subject land and dwelling remain in effect.  For the purpose of this section, “foreclosure”
means only those foreclosures that are exempt from partition under ORS 92.010(7)(a).

Findings: Benton County code requires that no new parcel shall be created from a lot or parcel
containing a farm help dwelling for a relative. Therefore, except for the foreclosure described in
this section, future approval of a land division for the subject property that would separate the
accessory farm-help dwelling approved pursuant to BCC 55.120 from the primary dwelling would
not be approved unless a secured party foreclosed on the dwelling.

Conclusion: No conclusion necessary.

(e) The landowner shall sign a covenant as required by BCC 55.405(6).

55.405 Siting Standards and Requirements. (6) Approval of any dwelling in the EFU zone shall
include a condition of approval requiring the landowner for the dwelling to sign and record in
the deed records for the county a document binding the landowner and the landowner’s
successors in interest, prohibiting them from pursuing a claim for relief or cause of action
alleging injury from farming or forest practices for which no action or claim is allowed under
ORS 30.936 or 30.937.

Conclusion: If the application were to be approved, this would be a Condition of Approval.

(g) The subject tract is not employed in the growing of a marijuana crop.

Findings: There is no indication that marijuana is grown on the subject tract. There have been no
requests for a Land Use Compatibility Statement for a license to grow marijuana for this parcel.

Conclusion: This criterion is met.

19Page 87 of 384



LU-22-023 Staff ReportStaff Report Page 8 

BCC 55.405 Siting Standards and Requirements. All structures allowed in the Exclusive Farm Use 
Zone shall be sited in compliance with BCC Chapter 99 and the following additional standards: 
BCC 55.405(1) through (5) Siting Standards. 

Findings: The remaining siting standards in BCC 55.405(1) through (5) must be evaluated based on a 
site-specific development plan, which would occur at the time the applicant submits plans for a 
building permit.  

Conclusion: If the application were to be approved, this would be a Condition of Approval. 

CHAPTER 99 

BCC 99.810 Water Well Standards for Building Permit. If a well is proposed for a dwelling or place 
of public occupancy, the applicant shall submit the following evidence that the well yields an 
adequate flow of microbiologically safe water for each dwelling or use: 

(1) A well log prepared by a licensed well driller and filed with the State Watermaster indicating
the well is a drilled, cased well.

(2) A water quality test prepared by an approved testing laboratory showing that the well meets
the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) standards for coliform bacteria and nitrates. If
water quality does not meet the EPA standards, the Benton County Health Department must
approve plans for water treatment.

(3) A Minor Pump Test pursuant to BCC 99.845 performed within the past year. However,
notwithstanding BCC 99.845(4), wells on other properties need not be tested.

Findings: The applicant requests approval for a Farm Help Dwelling for Relative, therefore BCC
99.810 would apply to a subsequent building permit to authorize the establishment of a dwelling
on the property.

Conclusion: If the application were to be approved, this would be a Condition of Approval.

BCC 99.705. Sewage Disposal. Each proposed dwelling…shall be served by a sewage disposal system 
which complies with the requirements of the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality. [BCC 
99.705] 

Findings: A Septic Authorization Notice would be required for the connection of the Farm Help 
Dwelling for a Relative to an existing system. 

Conclusion: If the application were to be approved, this would be a Condition of Approval. 

CONCLUSION and DECISION 

Based on the findings above, as well as information in the file, the Planning Official has determined 
that the application does not meet the criteria for an accessory farm-help dwelling for a relative of 
the farm operator. The application is DENIED because it does not meet BCC 55.120(1)(b). 

20Page 88 of 384



Staff Reply to Appeal 
of the Development 

Department Decision 
November 15 

Planning Commission 
Staff Documents

21Page 89 of 384



Community Development Department 

Office: (541) 766-6819 

4500 SW Research Way 

Corvallis, OR 97333 

co.benton.or.us/cd 

MEMORANDUM 

To Benton County Planning Commission 

From Inga Williams, Associate Planner; and  

Darren Nichols, Community Development Director 

Date November 9, 2022 

Subject Summary of LU-22-023 Staff Decision and Appeal  

Background and Decision 

On March 21, 2022, the Community Development Department received an application for an accessory 
farm-help dwelling for a relative of the farm operator and deemed it complete. This application was 
reviewed administratively pursuant to BCC 53.160, which does not require a Notice of Application to 
surrounding property owners but does require a Notice of Decision. The Notice of Decision was mailed 
on June 30, 2022, and it allowed the recipients 14 calendar days from the date of the decision to 
submit an appeal.  

Connie Jordan is the owner of the 64-acre property zoned Exclusive Farm Use that is the subject 
property of the application. The property is located at 31922 Fern Road in Philomath. She purchased 
the property, along with a herd of 28 cattle established by the previous owner, in 2015. Cynthia 
Crosby, who lives with Ms. Jordan, is the applicant and is identified in the application as the farm 
operator. Ms. Jordon is described as a co-manager. Ms. Crosby’s daughter and son-in-law, Clair and 
Kevin Fulsher, are identified as the relatives who would provide help to Ms. Jordan and Ms. Crosby. 

Staff reviewed the application and supporting documentation to verify compliance with relevant 
Benton County Code Sections; the relevant sections include BCC 55.120 and 55.405. The staff report 
documents the findings and the conclusion of compliance for each of relevant Code sections. The 
review concludes that: 

1) the property is a lawfully established parcel;
2) the existing dwelling is located on property used for “farm use” because the farm operator is

obtaining a profit in money from livestock;
3) the principal dwelling is occupied by the farm operator;
4) the proposed dwelling would be occupied by a relative of the farm operator;
5) the farm operator would continue to play a predominant role in the management of the farm;

and

22Page 90 of 384



Jordan/Crosby Appeal Staff Memo   Page 2 

6) the farm is not used to grow a marijuana crop.

The staff report, however, found that the application does not comply with BCC 55.120(1)(b) (Pages 4 
through 7 of the staff report). This part reads, “…the relatives’ assistance in the management and farm 
use of the existing commercial farming operation is required by the farm operator:…”  Staff utilized a 
Land Use Board of Appeals (LUBA) decision, Louks v. Jackson County, to help define the term 
“required” and another LUBA decision, Richards v. Jefferson County, and a definition from the Oregon 
Administrative Rules to define what a commercial farming operation is. The conclusion was that, while 
the existing use is a “farm use”, the entirety of the farm operations do not constitute a commercial 
farm operation because those operations do not substantially contribute to the area's existing 
agricultural economy. The income produced from the farm operations is below the $80,000 in annual 
revenue required for a farm dwelling approval. It was also concluded that the size of the property, 
which is below the State’s established minimum acreage requirement of 80 acres, limits the amount of 
farm use and income that could be generated by the property into the future. Live in farm help from a 
relative is therefore not a requirement or a necessity for this property based on staff’s review of the 
application per the LUBA decisions. 

The Benton County Planning Official signed a Notice of Decision denying this application for a Farm 
Help Dwelling for a Relative.  

Appeal 

The Notice of Decision specified a 14-day appeal period1, as required by State statute and the county’s 
Development Code. The applicant timely appealed the decision. The applicant/appellant also 
requested the Community Development Department stay the appeal process to attend to a family 
emergency. To accommodate the requested stay, the applicant signed a waiver of the 150-day 
deadline for a local government to take final action on the application2.  

On September 14, 2022, the applicant submitted additional information in support of the appeal 
through their attorney, Mike Reeder, and asked staff to move forward with scheduling a public hearing 
on the appeal.  The applicant has submitted a detailed list of activities that maintain the current farm 
operation on the property and the estimated hours per month and per year required to complete the 
activities.  The list of activities provides an overview of the effort and the commitment required to run 
the farm. The details of the operation include maintaining pastures for cattle and horses, managing 
timber land, and growing vegetables, berries and tree fruit. The list also includes sustaining the wildlife 
habitat of a quarter-acre pond. The applicant provided a similar detailed list of information in the 
original application.  

Mr. Reeder provided a rebuttal of staff’s findings that the application was not in compliance with a 
subsection of BCC 55.120(1)(b). Mr. Reeder’s rebuttal states that staff used the incorrect analysis of 
scale and intensity when analyzing the farm as not meeting the standards for a “commercial farming” 

1 ORS 215.422 and BCC 51.815 
2 Subsection (1) of ORS 215.427 

23Page 91 of 384



Jordan/Crosby Appeal Staff Memo   Page 3 

operation and that the staff did not correctly define the term ‘required’. Vance Croney, Benton County 
Counsel, has written a rejoinder to Mr. Reeder’s rebuttal of staff’s analysis. Mr. Croney’s memorandum 
is attached to this memorandum.  

Response & Analysis 

Staff concurs that the applicant lives on a farm and that she and the property owner contribute 
considerable time and effort to the farm operations. The income producing portion of the farm, 
however, is limited to the cattle breeding operation and some hay sales. The denial of the application 
was based on the scale and intensity of the cattle breeding operation, including the income derived 
from that portion of the farm, and the applicant’s need for a relative’s help with that portion of the 
farm use. The information submitted in the appeal provides a more detailed overview of the time and 
effort involved in all of the farm activities.  

The applicant indicates the work requires approximately 2.3 full time people to work the entire farm, 
which includes Ms. Crosby and Ms. Jordan working full time, and a part time person for approximately 
75 hours a month. Ms. Crosby’s review of the activities, however, indicates that only one person, and 
sometimes a second individual, is necessary to provide management of the income producing portion 
of the farm use. The cattle breeding operation does not require a sufficient scale or intensity of effort 
to require a relative to live on the farm to provide help. 

None of the information supplied with the appeal causes staff to revise the decision to deny the 
application.  

Recommendation  

Staff recommends that the Planning Commission uphold the staff decision to deny the application. 

Proposed motion: “Based on evidence in the record, and upon hearing testimony on the issue, I move 
to deny the applicant’s appeal, thereby upholding the original Notice of Decision on file number LU-22-
023.”  

Encl.  

Memo from County Counsel 

Staff Report 

LUBA Final Opinion and Order for Louks vs. Jackson (referenced in the staff report) 

LUBA Final Opinion and Order for Richards vs. Jefferson County (referenced in the staff report) 

LUBA Final Opinion and Order for Stratton vs. Clackamas County (referenced by Mike Reeder)

Applicant Appeal and Supportive Materials 

Public Testimony from Christopher Browne  

24Page 92 of 384



MEMORANDUM 

TO: Darren Nichols, Inga Williams 

FROM:  Vance Croney, Counsel 

DATE: October 24, 2022 

RE: Relative Farm Help Dwelling Response 

Petitioner puts forward three bases for its appeal of staff’s denial of a Relative Farm Help 
Dwelling. None of the bases are persuasive or correct. 

1. Petitioner’s reliance on concurring opinion is misplaced.

The first objection is “Staff decision misreads Richards v. Jefferson County, 79 Or LUBA 171 
(2019)” because it failed to address a more recent LUBA decision. 

Staff relied on Richards to analyze the phrase “existing commercial farming operation,” which is 
undefined in both Benton County’s Development Code or the LCDC regulations (OAR 660-033). 
To develop a framework for its analysis, staff turned to OAR 660-033-0020(2)(a) which is LCDC’s 
definition of “commercial agricultural enterprise,” and the approach endorsed by LUBA in 
Richards at 177 fn. 4. 

As part of its analysis of the LCDC regulation, staff assessed the scale and intensity of the farm 
use by examining farming income, and whether the operations contribute to the area’s existing 
agricultural economy or will help maintain agricultural processors and established farm 
markets.  These are all elements identified in OAR 660-033-002(2)(a). 

Despite LUBA’s explicit reference to this definition as guidance for determining whether an 
“existing commercial farming operation” can be proven, Petitioner asserts a concurring opinion 
in a later LUBA decision should be followed, and not the unanimous decision in Richards. 

Petitioner cites to, and relies on, Stratton v. Clackamas County, __ Or LUBA __, LUBA No. 2021-
044 (Aug. 30, 2021). But, rather than citing the unanimous decision, Petitioner used a 
concurring opinion to support their argument that the Richards analytical framework is 
incorrect.  That is a misplaced argument for the simple fact that concurring opinions are not 
binding legal precedent. See Alexander v. Sandoval, 532 U.S. 275, 285 n.5 (2001) (concurring 
opinions normally do not have precedential effect); Bronson v. Bd. of Educ. of Cincinnati, 510 F. 
Supp. 1251, 1265 (S.D. Ohio 1980) (“concurring opinions have no legal effect, and thus, are in 
no way binding on any court”); Ryan M. Moore, Comment, I Concur! Do I Matter?: Developing a 
Framework for Determining the Precedential Influence of Concurring Opinions, 84 Temp. L. Rev. 
743, 744 (2012) (“concurring opinions written by a single appellate-level jurist are not 

4500 SW Research Way 

PO Box 3020 
Corvallis, OR 97339-3020 

Office: (541) 766-6890 
Website: co.benton.or.us 

25Page 93 of 384



considered binding upon lower courts and have almost no dispositive impact upon the law on 
which they speak”). 

In both Richards and Stratton, the unanimous opinions of the LUBA Board emphasize the 
discretion given counties in interpreting the phrase “existing commercial farming operation.” 
See Stratton at 5-6; Richards at 179.  Staff chose to use OAR 660-033-0002(2)(a) as guidance for 
its interpretation. That was not incorrect and was, in fact, cited in Richards as an acceptable 
means of assessing whether a “commercial farming operation” exists. 

2. The Word “Required” is not Ambiguous.

BCC 55.120 describes when a Relative Farm Help Dwelling will be permitted.  Subsection (1)(b) 
includes the condition when the relative “whose assistance in the management and farm use of 
the existing commercial farming operation (not including marijuana) is required by the farm 
operator.”  Staff interpreted the word “required” by looking to both the Merriam-Webster and 
Cambridge Dictionaries for the definition. 

Petitioner objects to the county’s interpretation and offers their own definition, from a 
different dictionary. This is simply a case of opposing interpretations.  But, in this particular 
case, Benton County’s interpretation is given significant deference. 

The Oregon Supreme Court found when a local government interprets its own development 
code, it is “entitled to the deference described in ORS 197.829(1).” Siporen v. City of Medford, 
349 Or. 247, 258 (2010). 

 And the extent of that deference is substantial: 

[W]hen a local government plausibly interprets its own land use regulations by
considering and then choosing between or harmonizing conflicting provisions,
that interpretation must be affirmed, as held in Clark v. Jackson County, 313 Or.
508 (1992) and provided in ORS 197.829(1)(a), unless the interpretation is
inconsistent with all of the “express language” that is relevant to the
interpretation, or inconsistent with the purposes or policies underpinning the
regulations. (emphasis in original)

Id. at 259. 

When LUBA assesses whether an interpretation is “plausible,” the standard of review is “highly 
deferential” to the governing body and the “existence of a stronger or more logical 
interpretation does not render a weaker or less logical interpretation ‘implausible.’” Mark 

Latham Excavation, Inc. v. Deschutes County, 250 Or. App. 543, 555 (2012), quoted in Crowley v. 

City of Hood River, 308 Or. App. 44, 52 (2020). 

Thus, as long as staffs’ interpretation of its development code is plausible, that interpretation is 
legal and will be given significant deference. 

26Page 94 of 384



3. Approval Standards Must be Clear and Objective.

Petitioner points out ORS 197.307(4) applies to buildable land both inside and outside the UGB 
and that it requires the county to apply clear and objective standards when reviewing proposed 
development of housing. Benton County does not disagree with those assertions. 

However, the “standards” Petitioner cites as inadequate under ORS 197.307 are both clear and 
objective. 

Petitioner states, “[s]ince neither the state nor the county has defined with clear and objective 
standards what constitutes a ‘commercial’ farming operation the County may not apply the 
standard.” While it is true that phrase has not been defined, LUBA has provided clear guidance 
on how to interpret, and apply that phrase.  As previously cited above, staff used the definition 
of “commercial agricultural enterprise” in OAR 660-033-0020(2)(a) to interpret the phrase. 
LUBA has affirmed that method of interpretation because the definition in the administrative 
rule is clear and objective. Richards, 79 Or LUBA at 177 fn. 4. 

And, it is insufficient to argue that ORS 197.307(4) is not met where alternate interpretations 
are possible.  The Oregon Court of Appeals has addressed that very issue: 

[P]etitioners’ arguments rely on potential ambiguity in various terms when they
are considered without reference to their context and the purpose of the
ordinance. As explained above, that is not what the ‘clear and objective’
standard requires.

Roberts v. City of Cannon Beach, 316 Or. App. 305, 317 (2021). 

In addition, Petitioner asserts “since the terms ‘necessary’ and ‘required’ are also not defined 
and are ambiguous, those terms are also not clear and objective and may not be the basis for 
denying the Application.”  But, again, just because Petitioner disagrees with the county’s 
interpretation, doesn’t mean the terms are not clear and objective, as noted by the Court of 
Appeals in Roberts. 

To take Petitioner’s argument to its extreme, would result in the inability of a government to 
interpret its own development code. Such interpretations are inevitable and a foundational 
element of code application.  An interpretation of code language may, and often does, result in 
opposing opinions. But, as long as its interpretation is “plausible” the county’s interpretation 
will be given high deference. See Crowley v. City of Hood River, 308 Or. App. 44, 52 (2020). 

27Page 95 of 384



Page 1

BEFORE THE LAND USE BOARD OF APPEALS1

OF THE STATE OF OREGON2
3

JOHN L. LOUKS, KENDRA G. LOUKS, )4
THOMAS LAVAGNINO, and VICKI )5
LAVAGNINO, )6

)7
Petitioners, )8

)9
vs. )10

) LUBA No. 93-13311
JACKSON COUNTY, )12

) FINAL OPINION13
Respondent, ) AND ORDER14

)15
and )16

)17
ASSOCIATED FRUIT COMPANY, )18

)19
Intervenor-Respondent. )20

21
22

Appeal from Jackson County.23
24

G. Philip Arnold, Ashland, filed the petition for25
review on behalf of petitioners.  With him on the brief was26
Drescher & Arnold.  John L. Louks, Medford, filed a reply27
brief and argued on his own behalf.28

29
No appearance by respondent.30

31
John R. Hassen and Richard H. Berman, Medford, filed32

the response brief and argued on behalf of intervenor-33
respondent.  With them on the brief was Blackhurst,34
Hornecker, Hassen & Ervin B. Hogan.35

36
HOLSTUN, Chief Referee; SHERTON, Referee; KELLINGTON,37

Referee, participated in the decision.38
39

REMANDED 01/11/9440
41

You are entitled to judicial review of this Order.42
Judicial review is governed by the provisions of ORS43
197.850.44

28Page 96 of 384



Page 2

Opinion by Holstun.1

NATURE OF THE DECISION2

Petitioners appeal a county hearings officer's decision3

approving two farm dwellings on an EFU-zoned parcel.4

MOTION TO INTERVENE5

Associated Fruit Company, the applicant below, moves to6

intervene on the side of respondent.  There is no opposition7

to the motion, and it is allowed.8

FACTS9

The relevant facts are set forth in the challenged10

decision:11

"* * * The subject property * * * consists of12
108.29 acres.  The property * * * is a producing13
pear orchard owned and managed, along with other14
orchards, by Associated Fruit Co.  Applicant owns15
or operates a total of approximately 1,500 acres16
of orchard land at various locations in the Rogue17
Valley.18

"Applicant has been in the orchard business for 5019
years.  The average annual value of applicant's20
gross farm sales for three years preceding the21
application exceeded $5,000,000.  Applicant's22
profits are approximately $150-300 per acre and23
constitute about 1% of the gross income per acre.24

"Applicant employs approximately 40 full-time25
workers and as many as 150 additional workers on a26
seasonal basis.  Both full-time and seasonal27
workers are engaged in the planting, raising,28
harvesting[,] packing and shipping of applicant's29
orchard products.30

"There is one existing farm dwelling on the31
property which is licensed, seasonally, as a farm32
labor camp.  * * *33

29Page 97 of 384



Page 3

"Applicant currently provides 13 single family1
dwellings for its full-time employees and 52
seasonal-worker residential facilities for3
approximately 80 individuals.  The proposed farm4
dwellings would be occupied by applicant's full-5
time employees."  Record 7-8.6

FIRST ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR7

Petitioners contend the challenged decision violates8

former Jackson County Land Development Ordinance (LDO)9

218.030(4).1  LDO 218.030(4) identifies the following10

permitted uses in the EFU zone:11

"Farm dwellings * * * and other buildings12
customarily provided in conjunction with farm use.13
More than one farm dwelling shall not be permitted14
unless substantial evidence is provided which15
shows conclusively that the additional farm16
dwelling is necessary for the operation of the17
commercial farm. * * *18

"* * * * *"19

Petitioners argue the evidence in the record does not20

"conclusively" establish "that the additional farm dwelling21

is necessary for the operation of the commercial farm," as22

required by LDO 218.030(4).  Petitioners are correct.23

As the hearings officer's findings point out,24

LDO 218.030(4) differs significantly from ORS 215.213(1)(g)25

and 215.283(1)(f), which allow farm dwellings in EFU zones.26

Neither statute requires that an applicant carry an27

1After the decision challenged in this appeal was rendered, the county
amended LDO Chapter 218 to comply with Oregon Laws 1993, chapter 792
(HB 3661).  Those amendments repealed the provisions of former
LDO 218.030(4) which petitioners contend the hearings officer erroneously
found to be satisfied in this case.

30Page 98 of 384



Page 4

evidentiary burden to demonstrate "conclusively" that a1

proposed farm dwelling be "necessary for the operation of2

the commercial farm."  LDO 218.030(4) does not impose that3

burden for the first farm dwelling, but it does impose that4

burden for subsequent farm dwellings.5

The hearings officer recognized that decisions by LUBA6

and the appellate courts have considered the meaning of the7

term "necessary" in the context of the requirement under8

Statewide Planning Goal 4 (Forest Lands) that forest9

management dwellings be "necessary for and accessory to10

forest uses."  Record 9.  However, the hearings officer11

concluded that interpretations of the meaning of the term12

"necessary" in the Goal 4 context need not be applied in13

this case, because the EFU zone at issue here implements14

Goal 3 (Agricultural Land).  While the hearings officer15

found the term "necessary" should not be interpreted in the16

same way it has been interpreted in the Goal 4 context, he17

did not explain how he believed it should be interpreted.218

Although it is true the challenged LDO provision was19

adopted to implement Goal 3 rather than Goal 4, that is not20

a sufficient basis for assigning a different meaning to the21

word "necessary," as it is used in LDO 218.030(4).  Just as22

2The hearings officer also found that even if the "necessary"
requirement of LDO 218.030(4) were interpreted in the same manner it has
been interpreted under Goal 4, the disputed dwellings are necessary for
intervenor's commercial farming operation.  For the reasons explained
below, the record does not support that finding.

31Page 99 of 384



Page 5

the LDO does not define the term "necessary" as that term is1

used in LDO 218.030(4), the Lane County Code did not define2

that term as it was used in the code provisions at issue in3

1000 Friends of Oregon v. LCDC (Lane County), 83 Or App 278,4

282-83, 731 P2d 457, on reconsideration 85 Or App 6195

(1987), aff'd 305 Or 384 (1988).  In that case the Court of6

Appeals explained its understanding of the "necessary"7

component of the "necessary and accessory" requirement in8

the Goal 4 context as follows:9

"* * * The dictionary definition [of necessary] is10
'that cannot be done without: that must be done or11
had: absolutely required.'  Webster's Third New12
International Dictionary 1511 (1976).  That13
definition is compatible with LCDC's use of14
'necessary' and with Goal 4's requirement that15
forest lands be preserved for forest uses.  Lane16
County's criteria would allow dwellings which can17
be done without, need not be had and are not18
absolutely required for a forest use; they19
therefore do not comply with the goal.20

"* * * Living on the land may help deter21
arsonists, and thereby enhance production, but22
that fact does not render a forest dwelling23
necessary.  For a forest dwelling to be necessary24
and accessory to wood fiber production, it must,25
at least, be difficult to manage the land for26
forest production without the dwelling.  The27
purpose of the dwelling must be to make possible28
the production of trees which it would not29
otherwise be physically possible to produce. * *30
*"  (Emphasis added.)31

In Champion International v. Douglas County, 16 Or LUBA32

132, 138-39 (1987), we explained that the first of the above33

emphasized sentences suggests a mere "difficulty" standard,34

while the last sentence suggests an "impossibility" standard35

32Page 100 of 384



Page 6

which would preclude approval of forest dwellings in most1

circumstances.  We explained:2

"While it is possible to read the Court of3
Appeals' decision in its entirety to reject a4
literal 'impossibility' standard for forest5
dwellings, it is also unmistakable that the Court6
of Appeals believes substantially more than7
convenience, enhancement, and cost efficiencies8
are required to show a dwelling is necessary for9
forest use."10

See also Tipperman v. Union County, 22 Or LUBA 775 (1992);11

Dodd v. Hood River County, 22 Or LUBA 717 (1992).12

Absent a contrary definition in the LDO or some13

legislative history to the contrary, we believe the term14

"necessary" in LDO 218.030(4) has the same meaning it has in15

the Goal 4 context.  Differences between farm uses and16

management practices on the one hand and forest uses and17

management practices on the other may affect the result when18

determining whether a dwelling is "necessary" on these19

different kinds of resource lands.  However, there is no20

basis for assigning a different meaning to the word21

necessary.322

3We review petitioners' challenges of the hearings officer's
interpretation and application of LDO 218.030(4) to determine whether the
interpretation is reasonable and correct.  McCoy v. Linn County, 90 Or App
271, 752 P2d 323 (1988).  In considering the hearings officer's
interpretation, we do not apply the more deferential standard of review
that would be required by ORS 197.829 and Clark v. Jackson County, 313 Or
508, 836 P2d 710 (1992), if the challenged decision had been adopted by the
local governing body.  Gage v. City of Portland, 319 Or 308, 877 P2d 1187
(1994); Watson v. Clackamas County, 129 Or App 428, 879 P2d 1309, rev den
320 Or 407 (1994).

33Page 101 of 384



Page 7

Turning to the challenged decision, the hearings1

officer correctly notes there is evidence in the record that2

efficiency and productivity of the orchard would be enhanced3

by allowing on-site dwellings.  Among the factors noted in4

the decision are "frost control, prevention of trespassing,5

vandalism and theft."  Record 9.  The findings go on to6

explain that the existing dwelling on the 108 acres has not7

prevented trespass, vandalism or theft.48

The record is this case does not show the proposed9

dwellings are necessary for the commercial operation.  The10

findings make no attempt to explain how the requested houses11

will deter trespass, vandalism and theft, if the dwelling12

already on the property does not.  We also have difficulty13

seeing how the proposed dwellings will have any deterrent14

effect with regard to other parcels that make up this large15

commercial orchard operation.  Moreover, as petitioners16

correctly point out, this commercial orchard has operated17

for years without the requested dwellings.  This strongly18

suggests that while the dwellings might make the operation19

more efficient, more profitable and less susceptible to20

trespass, vandalism and theft, the dwellings are not21

"necessary" for the continuation of the commercial farm.22

We do not mean to minimize the problems identified in23

the local proceedings that may be associated with the24

4Intervenor correctly notes pears are significantly easier to steal than
are trees.

34Page 102 of 384



Page 8

currently inadequate supply of housing for year-round and1

seasonal farm workers.  However, that shortage does not2

establish the requested housing on the subject 108 acre3

parcel is "necessary."54

The first assignment of error is sustained.5

SECOND ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR6

Petitioners contend the hearings officer erred when he7

considered the commercial farm to be the entire 1500 acres8

included in intervenor's commercial farming operation.9

Petitioners cite no provision of the LDO that would10

permit or require the hearings officer to consider less than11

intervenor's entire commercial farming operation.  The12

hearings officer's interpretation and application of13

LDO 218.030(4) as referring to intervenor's entire14

commercial farm, not just the subject 108 acre parcel, is15

consistent with the language of LDO 218.030(4).16

The second assignment of error is denied.17

REMAINING ISSUES18

Intervenor-respondent argues the county's decision19

should be affirmed in this case, without regard to LDO20

218.030(4), because that provision is inconsistent with and21

5We do not go so far as to say the county could not establish that the
proposed housing is "necessary" within the meaning of LDO 218.030(4).
However, in view of the high standard imposed by LDO 218.030(4) and the
lack of a requirement for a showing of necessity in the current approval
standards that would apply to a new application, the applicant may wish to
submit a new application and proceed under current approval standards.

35Page 103 of 384



Page 9

preempted by ORS 197.312(2) and 215.283(1)(f).6  We reject1

the argument for two reasons.2

First, intervenor's argument that the county erred in3

applying LDO 218.030(4), and should have found that4

provision to be preempted by the cited statutes, is properly5

presented in a petition for review or a cross-petition for6

review.  That challenge to the county's application of LDO7

218.030(4) cannot be made in a response brief.  McKay Creek8

Valley Assoc. v. Washington County, 25 Or LUBA 238, 243,9

rev'd on other grounds, 122 Or App 59 (1993).10

Second, testimony submitted on intervenor's behalf to11

the hearings officer cited a number of statutes, including12

the statutes it now contends preempt LDO 218.030(4), in13

support of its contention that there is a need for farm14

worker housing.  Supplemental Record 62.  In response to the15

hearings officer's inquiry concerning whether the evidence16

of need for farm worker housing provides a basis for17

imposing a "lesser burden" than required under the LDO,18

6ORS 197.312(2) provides:

"No * * * county may impose any approval standards, special
conditions or procedures on seasonal and year-round farm-worker
housing that are not clear and objective or have the effect,
either in themselves or cumulatively, of discouraging seasonal
and year-round farm-worker housing through unreasonable cost or
delay or by discriminating against such housing."

ORS 215.283(1)(f) allows the following uses in EFU zones:

"The dwellings and other buildings customarily provided in
conjunction with farm use."

36Page 104 of 384



Page 10

intervenor's representative stated it did not.  Supplemental1

Record 64.   We agree with petitioners that intervenor2

affirmatively waived the issue it attempts to raise in the3

response brief, i.e., that the county could approve the4

disputed dwellings without finding they comply with the5

"necessary" requirement of LDO 218.030(4).7  See Newcomer v.6

Clackamas County, 92 Or App 174, 187, 758 P2d 450, modified7

94 Or App 33 (1988); Louisiana Pacific v. Umatilla Co., 268

Or LUBA 247, 258 (1993).9

The county's decision is remanded.10

7Because we do not reach the preemption issue intervenor attempts to
raise in its response brief, we express no opinion concerning the merits of
that argument.

37Page 105 of 384



1 

2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 
31 
32 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 

BEFORE THE LAND USE BOARD OF APPEALS 

OF THE STATE OF OREGON 

KEVIN RICHARDS, 
Petitioner, 

and 

CENTRAL OREGON LANDWATCH, 
Intervenor-Petitioner, 

vs. 

JEFFERSON COUNTY, 
Respondent, 

and 

NEW GRASS LLC, 
JEFF DUPONT and JENNIFER DUPONT, 

Intervenors-Respondents. 

LUBA No. 2018-117 

FINAL OPINION 
AND ORDER 

Appeal from Jefferson County. 

Andrew Mulkey, Eugene, filed a petition for review and argued on behalf 
of petitioner. 

Rory Isbell, Bend, filed a petition for review and argued on behalf of 
intervenor-petitioner. With him on the brief was Central Oregon Landwatch. 

David C. Allen, Madras, filed a response brief and argued on behalf of 
respondent. 

Page 1 

38Page 106 of 384



1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 

Mark 0. Cottle, Sherwood, filed a response brief on behalf of 
intervenors-respondents. 

BASSHAM, Board Member; RYAN, Board Chair; ZAMUDIO, Board 
Member, participated in the decision. 

REMANDED 02/27/2019 

You are entitled to judicial review of this Order. Judicial review is 
governed by the provisions ofORS 197.850. 

Page 2 

39Page 107 of 384



1 Opinion by Bassham. 

2 NATURE OF THE DECISION 

3 Petitioner appeals a decision on remand approving a relative farm help 

4 dwelling. 

5 FACTS 

6 We repeat the relevant facts from our earlier decision, Richards v. 

7 Jefferson County,_ Or LUBA _ (LUBA No 2017-103, Jan 3, 2018) (slip op 

8 at 2-3) (Richards I): 

9 "The subject property is a rectangular 119-acre parcel located 
10 approximately two miles south of the city of Madras. The property 
11 is developed with a single-family dwelling located in its northeast 
12 comer and a shop building located near the middle of the southern 
13 border. The property currently supports a hay-growing operation, 
14 irrigated by a center-pivot, supplemented by handline and wheel-
15 line irrigation in the comers.* * * 

16 "The property is owned by New Grass, LLC, whose principals are 
17 Jennifer DuPont and Jeff DuPont (the DuPonts). The DuPonts own 
18 several businesses, including two in Madras with a total of 25 
19 employees. In 2011, the DuPonts purchased the subject property 
20 under a land sale contract. From 2011 on, the DuPonts farmed the 
21 property with one or more of their sons, growing hay, and reported 
22 revenue from farm operations through an S corporation, Arrow D. 
23 In February 2017, the DuPonts, via New Grass, LLC, acquired title 
24 to the property. The DuPonts currently reside in the primary 
25 dwelling on the property. 

26 "In early 2017, the DuPonts bought approximately 100 head of 
27 cattle, and grazed them on leased lands located some distance from 
28 the subject property, supplemented by hay grown on the subject 
29 property. The DuPonts informed the county that they intend to 
30 transport the cattle to the subject property in the fall to graze off 
31 the aftermath of the hay harvest. 

Page 3 

40Page 108 of 384



1 "In April 2017, the DuPonts, through New Grass, LLC, filed an 
2 application for a relative farm help dwelling, to allow their son 
3 Jeremy DuPont to live on the farm and assist with farm operations. 
4 The proposed accessory dwelling would be located near the 
5 existing shop building. * * *" 

6 Neighboring farmers, including petitioner, opposed the application, arguing that 

7 the DuPonts failed to demonstrate compliance with the code standards 

8 governing approval of a relative farm help dwelling, including requirements 

9 that the applicant establish that the "farm operator," who plays a "predominant 

10 role" in a "commercial farming operation," "does or will require the assistance" 

11 of a relative to manage the farm operation. 1 

12 The county planning commission and board of commissioners approved 

13 the application. The petitioners appealed the commissioners' decision to 

1 Jefferson County Zoning Ordinance (JCZO) 301.6(F) requires the 
applicant for a relative farm help dwelling (which the JCZO terms an 
"Accessory Farm Dwelling for a Relative") to demonstrate compliance with the 
following relevant standards: 

"3. The farm operator does or will require the assistance of the 
relative in the management of the existing commercial 
farming operation; and 

"4. The farm operator will continue to play the predominant role 
in the management and farm use of the farm. A farm 
operator is a person who operates a farm, doing the work 
and making the day-to-day decisions about such things as 
planting, harvesting, feeding and marketing." 

JCZO 301.6(F) implements OAR 660-033-0130(9) in substantively identical 
language. OAR 660-033-0130(9) is quoted below. 

Page 4 

41Page 109 of 384



1 LUBA. LUBA sustained the petitioners' second and third assignments of error, 

2 remanding to Jefferson County (the county) for additional evidence and 

3 findings regarding the approval standards, including: (1) the identity of the 

4 "farm operator," (2) whether the farm operator continues to play "the 

5 predominant role" in the farming operation, (3) whether the farm operator "does 

6 or will require the assistance" of a relative to manage the farm operation, and 

7 ( 4) whether the farm operation qualifies as a "commercial farming operation." 

8 On remand, the county accepted additional evidence from Jeff DuPont, 

9 and adopted additional findings. This appeal followed. 

10 FIRST ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR (COLW) 

11 Intervenor-petitioner Central Oregon Landwatch (COLW) argues that the 

12 county's decision on remand violated the "law of the case" established m 

13 Richards I, because it is inconsistent with the terms ofLUBA's remand. 

14 As noted, LUBA remanded the county's initial decision for the county to 

15 adopt more adequate findings, supported by substantial evidence, regarding four 

16 matters that the applicant has the burden of establishing in order to demonstrate 

17 compliance with the approval criteria governing a relative farm help dwelling. 

18 COL W contends that in Richards I LUBA established as a matter of law that 

19 certain findings and evidence are necessary to establish compliance with OAR 

20 660-033-0130(9) and JCZO 301.6(F), with respect to the "farm operator," 

21 "predominant role," "does or will require the assistance," and "commercial 

22 farming operation" elements of the applicable standards. According to COL W, 

Page 5 

42Page 110 of 384



1 on remand the county ignored LUBA's directives and instead adopted 

2 conclusory findings that fail to grapple with and resolve, based on substantial 

3 evidence, each of the elements that the applicants must establish in order to gain 

4 approval of a relative farm help dwelling under OAR 660-033-0130(9) and 

5 JCZO 301.6(F). 

6 As discussed below, we agree with petitioner and COL W that the 

7 county's findings on remand, combined with its original findings, are still 

8 inadequate to demonstrate compliance with all of the applicable OAR 660-033-

9 0130(9) and JCZO 301.6(F) standards, and that some findings are still not 

10 supported by substantial evidence. But we agree with the county that COL W' s 

11 arguments regarding "law of the case" do not provide a basis-or at least an 

12 independent basis-for reversal or remand. COL W' s arguments regarding "law 

13 of the case" are based on Beck v. City of Tillamook, 313 Or 148, 831 P2d 678 

14 (1992). At issue in Beck was whether a party could fail to appeal an adverse 

15 LUBA ruling in a decision that remanded to the local government, but instead 

16 wait until the remand decision comes back to LUBA to challenge that adverse 

17 ruling before LUBA and the Court of Appeals. Id. at 151. The Oregon Supreme 

18 Court held that matters conclusively resolved before LUBA cannot be 

19 relitigated in subsequent appeals of subsequent decisions on the same matter. 

20 I d. at 151-54. However, COL W has not established how that principle is 

21 violated where (1) LUBA remands to the county to adopt new findings, based 

22 on substantial evidence, and (2) on remand, the county accepts new evidence 

Page 6 

43Page 111 of 384



1 and adopts new findings, as LUBA directed. COLW cites to nothing in the 

2 record on remand or in the county's remand decision suggesting that the county 

3 attempted to relitigate any issue conclusively resolved in Richards I. While our 

4 decision in Richards I included discussion of the requirements in OAR 660-

5 033-0130(9) and JCZO 301.6(F), and that discussion was intended to provide 

6 guidance and a framework for the proceedings on remand, COL W has not 

7 established that the county on remand took any position contrary to any issue 

8 conclusively resolved in Richards I. That we conclude below that some of the 

9 county's findings are still insufficient to demonstrate compliance with OAR 

10 660-033-0130(9) and JCZO 301.6(F) does not mean that the county violated the 

11 "law of the case" principle articulated in Beck. 

12 In addition, COLW's arguments are duplicative of the arguments under 

13 its second and third assignments of error, which directly challenge the adequacy 

14 of the county's findings to establish compliance with OAR 660-033-0130(9) 

15 and JCZO 301.6(F). COLW's arguments under the first assignment of error do 

16 not provide an independent basis for reversal or remand and, for that reason 

17 alone, are denied. 

Page 7 

44Page 112 of 384



1 FIRST ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR (Petitioner) 
2 SECOND ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR (COLW) 

3 ORS 215.283(1)(d) authorizes in the exclusive farm use (EFU) zone2 a 

4 "dwelling on real property used for farm use if the dwelling is occupied by a 

5 relative of the farm operator * * * if the farm operator does or will require the 

6 assistance of the relative in the management of the farm use and the dwelling is 

7 located on the same lot or parcel as the dwelling of the farm operator." OAR 

8 660-033-0130(9) implements and elaborates on the requirements of ORS 

9 215.283(1)(d), authorizing a relative farm help dwelling only if the dwelling is 

1 0 occupied by relatives "whose assistance in the management and farm use of the 

11 existing commercial farming operation is required by the farm operator."3 

2 In Jefferson County, the "EFU A-1" zone has been established to preserve 
areas containing predominantly irrigated agricultural soils for existing and 
future farm uses related to the production of agricultural crops or products. The 
EFU A-1 zone recognizes and preserves areas of agricultural land which are 
more productive than lands in the "EFU A-2" zone, due to soil class and 
presence of irrigation water. JCZO 301.1(A}-(B). 

3 OAR 660-033-0130(9) provides, in relevant part: 

"(a) To qualify for a relative farm help dwelling, a dwelling shall 
be occupied by relatives whose assistance in the 
management and farm use of the existing commercial 
farming operation is required by the farm operator. 
However, farming of a marijuana crop may not be used to 
demonstrate compliance with the approval criteria for a 
relative farm help dwelling. The farm operator shall 
continue to play the predominant role in the management 
and farm use of the farm. A farm operator is a person who 

Page 8 

45Page 113 of 384



1 In its initial decision, the county adopted no findings whatsoever 

2 regarding whether the DuPonts' farm operation constitutes an "existing 

3 commercial farming operation" for purposes of OAR 660-033-0130(9) and 

4 JCZO 301.6(F). In our initial appeal, we noted that neither the rule nor the code 

5 define "commercial farming operation." The petitioners argued that, under any 

6 definition, the hay-growing operation on the subject 119-acre property is simply 

7 too small in scale and intensity to constitute a "commercial" farm operation for 

8 purposes of OAR 660-033-0130(9) and JCZO 301.6(F). We remanded the 

9 decision to the county to address the issue in the first instance, after first 

10 discussing two acceptable "safe harbor" approaches, previously identified in 

11 our cases, to determining whether a farm operation qualifies as a "commercial" 

12 farm operation under the rule.4 _Or LUBA at_ (LUBA No 2017-103, Jan 3, 

operates a farm, doing the work and making the day-to-day 
decisions about such things as planting, harvesting, feeding 
and marketing. 

"(b) A relative farm help dwelling must be located on the same 
lot or parcel as the dwelling of the farm operator and must 
be on real property used for farm use. 

"(c) For the purpose of subsection (a), 'relative' means a child, 
parent, stepparent, grandchild, grandparent, stepgrandparent, 
sibling, stepsibling, niece, nephew or first cousin of the farm 
operator or the farm operator's spouse." 

4 We here describe the two approaches discussed in Richards I and Harland 
as "safe harbors," because they are based on specific and facially more rigorous 
rule standards that apply to somewhat analogous determinations and uses 
governed by OAR chapter 660, division 033. The two approaches are based on 

Page 9 

46Page 114 of 384



1 2018) (slip op at 18-19) (citing Harland v. Polk County, 44 Or LUBA 420, 434 

2 (2003)). 

3 On remand, the county did not resolve the question of whether the 

4 DuPonts' farm operation on the property is a "commercial farming operation" 

5 in either of the two "safe harbor" ways we suggested in Richards I. The county 

(1) the OAR 660-033-0020 standards for determining what minimum parcel 
size is consistent with continuing the "commercial agricultural enterprise" 
within a local area, and (2) the OAR 660-033-0135 standards for approving a 
dwelling in conjunction with farm use. The rationale is that if a farm operation 
meets or exceeds the local thresholds for a "commercial agricultural enterprise," 
or the farm operation is productive enough to qualify for a primary farm 
dwelling, then a county could safely conclude, without more analysis, that the 
farm operation is also a "commercial farming operation" for purposes of 
approving a "relative farm help dwelling" under OAR 660-033-0130(9). 

To those two identified "safe harbors," we can add a third. OAR 660-
033-0130(24)(b) sets out standards for when a farm operation with a primary 
farm dwelling qualifies for an accessory farm dwelling, occupied by a non­
relative. Because a relative farm help dwelling is similar in function to an 
"accessory farm dwelling" allowed under OAR 660-033-0130(24), if the farm 
operation supporting the primary farm dwelling is sufficient to qualify the 
property for an accessory farm dwelling under the standards at OAR 660-033-
0130(24)(b), we think a county could safely conclude, without more, that the 
farm operation qualifies as a "commercial farming operation" for purposes of 
OAR 660-033-0130(9). Of course, the reverse is not true: if the farming 
operation supporting a proposed relative farm help dwelling did not meet or 
exceed the relevant standards under any of these three "safe harbors," it would 
not necessarily mean that the county must conclude that the farming operation 
at issue is not a "commercial farming operation" for purposes of OAR 660-033-
0130(9). It means only that the county must grapple with that issue directly and 
do the hard work of articulating the thresholds it will apply in determining 
whether the farm operation at issue qualifies as a "commercial farming 
operation." 

Page 10 

47Page 115 of 384



1 did not attempt to devise its own method, or articulate what constitutes a 

2 "commercial" versus "noncommercial" farming operation in this area of the 

3 county. Instead, the county adopted the following brief finding: 

4 "The Board finds that the Applicant's farm operation constitutes an 
5 existing commercial farm operation. The farm has farm deferral 
6 tax status. The farm exceeds the 80 acre minimum lot[] size for a 
7 farm in the EFU-A-1 zone. The operator runs cattle, grows crops, 
8 and receives irrigation on site. The operator buys, sells, and leases 
9 equipment for the farm. The operator provided tax returns that 

10 identified farm income from the property. Aerial photographs 
11 show the property has been cropped continuously for several 
12 years." Record 4. 

13 Petitioner and COL W argue, and we agree, that the above-quoted finding 

14 1s inadequate to determine whether the farming operation on the subject 

15 property constitutes a "commercial farming operation" within the meaning of 

16 OAR 660-033-0130(9) and JCZO 301.6(F). 

17 The finding first cites the fact that the farm has farm deferral tax status. 

18 As petitioner argues, a farm need not be commercial in scale or intensity to 

19 qualify for deferred tax status, so this finding lends little support to the 

20 conclusion that the DuPont's farm operation qualifies as "commercial." 

21 The finding next notes that the subject property exceeds the 80-acre 

22 minimum lot size for a farm in the county EFU A-1 zone. The minimum parcel 

23 in the EFU zone is established by Statewide Planning Goal 3 (Agricultural 

24 Lands) and ORS 215.780(1). OAR 660-033-0100 authorizes a county to 

25 approve a minimum parcel size less than 80 acres for land not designated 

Page 11 

48Page 116 of 384



1 rangeland as long as the county determines that the lesser minimum parcel size 

2 is consistent with maintenance of the "commercial agricultural enterprise" in 

3 the area. The statutory 80-acre minimum parcel size is, in effect, legislatively 

4 deemed consistent with maintenance of the commercial agricultural enterprise. 

5 Thus, that a particular parcel meets or exceeds the applicable minimum parcel 

6 size provides some support for the conclusion that a farm operation on the 

7 property, at least one that occupies all usable portions of the property at an 

8 appropriate level of intensity, is a commercial farming operation. However, 

9 that the parcel meets or exceeds the applicable minimum parcel size does not, in 

10 itself, suffice to establish that any or all farm operations on that parcel are 

11 "commercial" in scale or intensity, or that the parcel thereby qualifies for any 

12 dwelling. See OAR 660-033-0100(3) ("A minimum size for new parcels for 

13 farm use does not mean that dwellings may be approved automatically on 

14 parcels that satisfy the minimum parcel size for the area. New dwellings in 

15 conjunction with farm use shall satisfy the criteria for such dwellings set forth 

16 in OAR 660-033-0130(1)"). 

17 The above-quoted finding then recites that the "operator runs cattle, 

18 grows crops, and receives irrigation on site." Record 4. These undisputed facts 

19 establish that there is a farm operation on the property, but do little to establish 

20 that that farm operation is "commercial" in scale or intensity. 

21 The finding next states that "[t]he operator buys, sells, and leases 

22 equipment for the farm." Id. Petitioner argues that there is no evidence in the 

Page 12 

49Page 117 of 384



1 record that the DuPonts buy, sell or lease farm equipment. According to 

2 petitioner, the only evidence on this point is that the DuPonts do not own much 

3 if any farm equipment, and rely on a barter arrangement to borrow equipment 

4 for planting and harvesting. We agree with petitioner that even if it is true that 

5 the DuPonts buy, sell and lease farm equipment, that finding does little to 

6 establish that the farm operation is commercial in scale or intensity. 

7 Next, the findings note that "[t]he operator provided tax returns that 

8 identified farm income from the property." Id. Again, this establishes the 

9 existence of a farm operation on the subject property, but does not have an 

10 obvious bearing on whether that farm operation is commercial in scale and 

11 intensity. Further, as we understand it, the tax returns in the record reflect farm 

12 income and expenses that are not limited to operations on the subject property. 

13 Finally, the findings note that aerial photographs show "the property has 

14 been cropped continuously for several years." Id. This undisputed fact 

15 establishes a farm operation on the property, but again does little to establish 

16 that that farm operation is commercial in scale or intensity. 

17 Collectively, the above-quoted findings fall far short of establishing that 

18 the DuPont's farm operation is a "commercial farming operation." It is difficult 

19 to fault the county for the paucity of its analysis, given that the Land 

20 Conservation and Development Commission (LCDC) has not seen fit to 

21 provide any definition or guidance on what constitutes a "commercial farming 

22 operation" for purposes of OAR 660-033-0130(9). Nonetheless, it is the 

Page 13 

50Page 118 of 384



1 county's obligation, when addressing an application for a relative farm help 

2 dwelling under OAR 660-033-0130(9), to attempt to articulate the thresholds 

3 that separate a "commercial" from a non-commercial farming operation. 

4 Because it is an undefined term, counties have some discretion to determine the 

5 thresholds for a "commercial farming operation" as applied within the county or 

6 within a particular local area or agricultural sector. Harland, 44 Or LUBA at 

7 435. If the county chooses not to employ one of the "safe harbors" discussed 

8 above at n 4, the county has no choice but to determine those thresholds in the 

9 first instance. That determination will necessarily constitute a mixed question 

10 of fact and law, subject to LUBA's review for legal error and evidentiary 

11 sufficiency. 

12 We understand the county to request that if LUBA remands for more 

13 adequate findings regarding the "commercial farming operation" element of 

14 OAR 660-033-0130(9), LUBA should provide what guidance it can to the 

15 county. We can do so only in a limited and abstract manner, as many of the 

16 predicate findings are necessarily factual in nature. However, as our discussion 

17 above indicates, we believe that, as a legal matter, what distinguishes an 

18 existing "commercial" farming operation from its noncommercial counterparts 

19 is largely a matter of scale and intensity. Roughly speaking, we believe a 

20 commercial farming operation is one that is of sufficient scale and intensity that 

21 would induce and require a reasonable farmer to devote the majority of his or 

22 her working hours to operating a farm on the subject property. 

Page 14 

51Page 119 of 384



1 Petitioner's first assignment of error and COL W' s second assignment of 

2 error are sustained. 

3 SECOND ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR (Petitioner) 
4 THIRD ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR (COLW) 

5 These assignments of error challenge the county's findings regarding the 

6 other elements of OAR 660-033-0130(9) and JCZO 301.6(F), specifically, that 

7 the "farm operator" residing on the property "requires the assistance" of a 

8 relative in managing the farm operation, and the identified farm operator 

9 continues to play the "predominant role" in that farm operation. Although these 

10 elements are logically distinct (theoretically, a person may be the farm operator, 

11 but not play the predominant role in the farm operation, or vice versa), the 

12 arguments, evidence and findings regarding each element tend to overlap. See 

13 Kenagy v. Benton County, 112 Or App 17, 20, 826 P2d 1047 (1992) (the 

14 questions of whether the landowner qualifies as a 'farm operator" and whether 

15 the farm operator requires assistance in the farm operation are two sides of the 

16 same coin). While we separately address the challenges to the findings under 

17 each element, our discussion will also consider related findings and evidence. 

18 A. Farm Operator 

19 OAR 660-033-0130(9) and JCZO 301.6(F) define a "farm operator" as 

20 the "person who operates a farm, doing the work and making the day-to-day 

21 decisions about such things as planting, harvesting, feeding and marketing." 

22 Intervenors-respondents' initial application identified Jeff DuPont as the farm 

Page 15 

52Page 120 of 384



1 operator and, based on little more than assertions on that point, the county 

2 concluded that Jeff DuPont is the farm operator as required by OAR 660-033-

3 0130(9) and JCZO 301.6(F). However, the county's initial findings did not 

4 address contradictory arguments and evidence suggesting that Jeff DuPont was 

5 in fact not the farm operator, but that someone else, either someone leasing the 

6 subject property or Jeremy DuPont, the DuPonts' son, was the person who 

7 qualified as the farm operator, i.e., the person conducting the hay operation, 

8 doing the work and making the day-to-day decisions. LUBA remanded in part 

9 for the county to address those issues. 5 

5 LUBA concluded, in Richards I: 

Page 16 

"[P]etitioners cite to testimony in the record expressing the 
surmise that the DuPonts do not farm the subject property at all, 
but instead lease their hay field to a custom farm operator. 
Petitioners note that the DuPonts own no hay equipment, report 
income consistent with lease payments, reported few expenses 
typical of running a hay operation, and provided no record of 
actually selling hay. Further, petitioners cite their personal 
observation that a custom farm operator, Oliver Watson Farms, 
has conducted all planting and harvest activity on the subject 
property. Record 29. The record includes photographs of 
equipment marked Oliver Watson Farms allegedly operating on 
the subject property. Record 31. 

"As noted, the DuPonts responded to this issue in their oral 
testimony, denying that they lease the subject property or 
employ other farm operators to plant or harvest the hay.[] 
Instead, the DuPonts testified that Jeremy DuPont is able to 
borrow equipment as compensation for his employment with 

53Page 121 of 384



1 On remand, Jeff DuPont testified that the DuPonts do not lease the subject 

2 property to a custom hay operator, and also testified regarding the proposed 

3 division of labor between Jeff and Jeremy DuPont. On remand, the county 

4 adopted the following finding: 

5 "The Board finds that Jeff DuPont is the farm operator. He makes 
6 the day to day decisions about activities on the farm. The Board 
7 accepts Mr. DuPont's testimony that he directs the daily farming 
8 activities, including planting, harvesting, feeding and marketing. 
9 He chooses what equipment is needed for the farm. He decides 

10 what to grow. He instructs his son on farm actions; the son is the 
11 worker on the farm and for whom the dwelling is needed. The 
12 Applicant accepts the financial risk of operating the farm. * * * 
13 The Board found that the evidence supported Mr. DuPont's 
14 assertion that he farms the property himself." Record 3. 

15 The findings do not directly address the dispute regarding whether the property 

16 is leased to a custom hay operator, but the finding that Jeff DuPont makes the 

Page 17 

another farm operator elsewhere, and Jeff or Jeremy DuPont 
operates the borrowed equipment on the subject property. 

"Despite this issue being raised below, the commissioners' 
findings do not address the issue, nor adopt any findings 
addressing whether Jeff DuPont, or some other person or entity, 
is the 'farm operator.'[] See findings quoted at n 3.0 The 
findings clearly presume that Jeff DuPont is the farm operator, 
but there are no findings addressing the evidentiary dispute on 
this point. We agree with petitioners that if the subject property 
is leased to another farm operator or the hay operation is 
otherwise predominantly conducted by someone other than Jeff 
DuPont, then Jeff DuPont does not qualify as the required 'farm 
operator.' Remand is necessary for the county to address this 
issue in the first instance." _ Or LUBA at _ (LUBA No 
2017-103, Jan 3, 2018) (slip op at 10-11) (footnotes omitted). 

54Page 122 of 384



1 day to day decisions about the farm operation would seem to implicitly resolve 

2 that dispute in the applicant's favor. The finding also does not directly address 

3 the dispute, based on tax records, regarding whether Jeremy DuPont is in fact 

4 the person primarily responsible for conducting farm operations on the subject 

5 property. However, the above-quoted finding is responsive to the definition of 

6 "farm operator," which focuses not only on who does the "work," but also on 

7 who makes the "day-to-day decisions about such things as planting, harvesting, 

8 feeding and marketing." Under that definition, the county reasonably focused 

9 on identifying the person who performs the higher-order decision-making in 

10 running the farm. The county chose to rely on Jeff DuPont's testimony that he, 

11 and not Jeremy DuPont, makes the final decisions regarding planting, 

12 fertilizing, weed control, marketing, harvesting, cattle operations, etc. Record 

13 125. 

14 Petitioner and COL W argue that the above-quoted finding is inadequate 

15 and not supported by substantial evidence, citing to tax records that can be read 

16 to indicate that Jeremy DuPont plays a larger role in the farm operation than 

17 Jeff DuPont. We discuss the dispute on that point under the "predominant role" 

18 element of the test. For present purposes, we disagree with petitioner that the 

19 county's finding identifying Jeff DuPont as the "farm operator" is not supported 

20 by substantial evidence in the whole record. Substantial evidence is evidence in 

21 the whole record that a reasonable person would rely upon to conclude 

22 compliance with approval criteria. Dodd v. Hood River County, 317 Or 172, 

Page 18 

55Page 123 of 384



1 179, 855 P2d 608 (1993); Younger v. City of Portland, 305 Or 346,351-52, 752 

2 P2d 262 (1988). A reasonable person could conclude, based on the evidence in 

3 the whole record, that Jeff DuPont is the farm operator as defined in OAR 660-

4 033-0130(9) and JCZO 301.6(F). 

5 The subassignments of error directed at the "farm operator" element are 

6 denied. 

7 B. Predominant Role 

8 OAR 660-033-0130(9) and JCZO 301.6(F) require that the farm operator 

9 "continue to play the predominant role in the management and farm use of the 

10 farm." As discussed in Richards I, the county's application form requires the 

11 applicant to quantify how many hours per week both the relative and the farm 

12 operator will be engaged in the farm operation, presumably so the county can 

13 use that information to identity the farm operator and determine whether the 

14 farm operator will continue to play the predominant role. The Duponts' 

15 original application asserted that Jeremy DuPont would work "30+" hours per 

16 week, but provided no similar information regarding Jeff DuPont. _Or LUBA 

17 at_ (LUBA No 2017-103, Jan 3, 2018) (slip op at 5). The county concluded 

18 that Jeff DuPont would play the predominant role in the farm operation, but on 

19 appeal LUBA concluded that that finding was not supported by any evidence. 

20 In Richards I, we stated: 

21 "The county's farm relative dwelling application requires that the 
22 applicant indicate 'how many hours per week' both the relative and 
23 the farm operator 'will be engaged in the farming operation.' 

Page 19 

56Page 124 of 384



1 Record 185. The application states that Jeremy DuPont will work 
2 '30+' hours per week on the farm, but does not provide any 
3 information regarding how many hours per week Jeff DuPont will 
4 be engaged in the farm operation. Id. No party cites us to any 
5 evidence on that point. While detailed evidence on that point may 
6 not be necessary in all cases to establish that the applicant qualifies 
7 as a 'farm operator' as defined in OAR 660-033-0130(9)(a), in the 
8 present case we agree with petitioners that the evidence in the 
9 record does not provide a sufficient basis for a reasonable decision-

1 0 maker to conclude that Jeff DuPont will play the predominant role 
11 in the farm operation, and the limited findings on that point, quoted 
12 at n 3, are conclusory and inadequate. 

13 "First, as petitioners note, the undisputed evidence in the record is 
14 that the DuPonts own and operate several businesses, including 
15 two businesses in the nearby city of Madras employing a total of 
16 25 people. The county argues that it is irrelevant under OAR 660-
17 033-0130(9)(a) whether and to what extent the farm operator is 
18 employed off the farm. We disagree that such information is 
19 entirely irrelevant. While a person can certainly be employed off a 
20 farm and still qualify as a 'farm operator' for purposes of OAR 
21 660-033-0130(9)(a), the applicant must establish that the farm 
22 operator 'continue[s] to play the predominant role' in farm use of 
23 the property, and continues to 'operate [the] farm, doing the 
24 work[.]' These qualifications might not be met if the reason the 
25 farm operator requires the assistance of the relative is because the 
26 farm operator is substantially employed off the farm and does not 
27 have enough time to do the work." _ Or LUBA at _ (LUBA No 
28 2017-103, Jan 3, 2018) (slip op at 11-12). 

29 In relevant part, LUBA noted testimony that Jeff DuPont owns a number 

30 of off-farm businesses, and agreed with the petitioners that the "predominant 

31 role" element may not be met if the reason the farm operator requires assistance 

32 is that the farm operator "is substantially employed off the farm and does not 

33 have enough time to do the work." Id. (slip op at 13). 

Page 20 

57Page 125 of 384



1 On remand, the applicant did not submit any testimony quantifying or 

2 comparing the number of hours the farm operator would contribute to the 

3 operation, compared to the relative, and in its findings the county did not rely 

4 upon any such quantification or comparison. Instead, the county simply found: 

5 "The Board finds that Jeff DuPont plays and will continue to play 
6 the predominant role in the farm operation. He makes the day to 
7 day decisions on the farm. He takes the risks of the farm operation. 
8 He provided testimony as to his activities on the farm (day to day 
9 decision-maker, equipment and crop decisions, instructing son) 

1 0 establishing his predominant role. He testified to the fact that he 
11 would continue to play the predominant role in the farm operation. 
12 The Board heard testimony as to Applicant's additional 
13 commercial activities outside of the farm operation and found that 
14 many of those activities were related to his farm operation." 
15 Record 3. 

16 Petitioner and COL W argue that this finding is inadequate in a number of 

17 respects and not supported by substantial evidence. First, petitioner and COL W 

18 argue that the finding seems to count the time Jeff DuPont spends on his off-

19 farm businesses toward establishing that Jeff DuPont plays the "predominant 

20 role" in the farm operation on the subject property. The county made a similar 

21 finding in addressing whether Jeff DuPont is the farm operator, finding that Jeff 

22 DuPont "has vertically integrated his activities on the farm into his other 

23 businesses." Record 3. Petitioner argues that these findings are not supported 

24 by the record and, even if they were supported by the record, they erroneously 

25 consider non-farm activities off the property for purposes of determining 

Page 21 

58Page 126 of 384



1 whether Jeff DuPont is the farm operator and continues to play the predominant 

2 role in the farm operation on the property. 

3 We agree with petitioner. Neither intervenors-respondents nor the county 

4 cite any evidence in the record supporting the findings regarding the nature of 

5 Jeff DuPont's businesses. Even if those findings were supported by substantial 

6 evidence, that those businesses are in some unspecified way related to the farm 

7 operation on the subject property has no bearing on whether Jeff DuPont 

8 continues to play the predominant role in the farm operation. The focus of 

9 these elements of OAR 660-033-0130(9) and JCZO 301.6(F) is on the farm 

10 operation on the subject property. See OAR 660-033-0135(8)(b) (for purposes 

11 of OAR chapter 660, division 033, "[f]arm or ranch operation" means "all lots 

12 or parcels of land in the same ownership that are used by the farm or ranch 

13 operator for farm use as defined in ORS 215.203"). Consequently, time and 

14 effort spent on Jeff DuPont's cattle operation on leased lands in Grass Valley 

15 cannot be counted toward establishing any element of OAR 660-033-0130(9) 

16 and JCZO 301.6(F). And, even if it is assumed that some of Jeff DuPont's 

17 other off-site businesses are related in some way to his cattle operation or the 

18 hay operation on the subject property, Jeff DuPont's involvement in those 

19 businesses do not help establish any element of OAR 660-033-0130(9) and 

20 JCZO 301.6(F). 

21 Indeed, as we noted in Richards I, Jeff DuPont's involvement in off-farm 

22 businesses are relevant to establishing the elements of OAR 660-033-0130(9) 

Page 22 

59Page 127 of 384



1 and JCZO 301.6(F) only in the sense that time spent on those businesses and 

2 away from the farm operation might undermine the claim that Jeff DuPont will 

3 continue to play the predominant role in the farm operation, and requires 

4 assistance in running the farm operation._ Or LUBA at_ (LUBA No 2017-

5 103, Jan 3, 2018) (slip op at 12-13). The county's fmdings do not address that 

6 question, and instead erroneously appear to conclude that Jeff DuPont's 

7 involvement in off-site businesses somehow counts toward establishing the 

8 farm operator and predominant role elements. Record 3. 

9 Second, the above-quoted finding concludes that Jeff DuPont plays the 

10 predominant role in part because he "takes the risks of a farm operation," by 

11 which we understand to mean the financial risks. Id. However, such a financial 

12 role is assumed by the owner of any farm, even an absentee land owner who 

13 otherwise has nothing to do with the farm operation. Absent a better 

14 explanation on this point, we conclude that Jeff DuPont's assumption of the 

15 financial risks of the farm operation is not a factor that helps to establish that he 

16 plays the "predominant role" for purposes of OAR 660-033-0130(9) and JCZO 

17 301.6(F). 

18 Third, petitioner and COL W argue that the fmdings fail to quantify or 

19 substantiate in any way the conclusion that Jeff DuPont will play the 

20 "predominant role" in the farm operation, compared to Jeremy DuPont's role. 

21 It appears the county evaluated the "predominant role" element based not on a 

22 quantified comparison of how much time the farm operator and relative put into 

Page 23 

60Page 128 of 384



1 the farming operation, the approach its application form suggests the county 

2 would follow, but instead based on a qualitative assessment of the relative value 

3 of Jeff DuPont's contributions versus Jeremy DuPont's contributions. In a 

4 finding addressing the "requires assistance" element, discussed below, the 

5 county found that Jeff DuPont's physical limitations make it difficult to perform 

6 all of the physical tasks required, suggesting that the division of labor between 

7 Jeff and Jeremy DuPont falls mainly between physical and non-physical tasks, 

8 with the non-physical tasks focused on making various kinds of decisions and 

9 supervising execution of those decisions. Record 3. We understand the county 

10 to conclude that Jeff DuPont's role is "predominant" vis-a-vis Jeremy DuPont's 

11 role because he is the one making most of the executive farming decisions, even 

12 if Jeremy DuPont's subordinate role in carrying out those decisions may 

13 represent the majority of the work hours needed for the farm operation as a 

14 whole. 

15 We do not understand petitioner or COL W to dispute that a legitimate 

16 reason under OAR 660-033-0130(9) and JCZO 301.6(F) for which a farm 

17 operator may require relative assistance is the farm operator's physical 

18 disabilities, due to age, illness, etc., that prevent the farm operator from 

19 performing some physical farm operations or tasks. We also do not understand 

20 petitioner to dispute that time spent making executive decisions regarding farm 

21 operations and supervising the physical tasks needed for the farm operation 

22 count toward a determination of the "predominant role." Nonetheless, we 

Page 24 

61Page 129 of 384



1 understand petitioner and COL W to argue that even in that circumstance the 

2 applicant must still demonstrate that the farm operator plays the "predominant 

3 role" in the farm operation, and that the only way to make the demonstration is 

4 to submit evidence that in some way quantifies and compares the amount of 

5 work each contributes. 

6 We partially agree with petitioner. In a more typical case involving a 

7 relative farm help dwelling, the dwelling would be justified based on claims 

8 that the scale or intensity of the farm operation requires more work than a single 

9 farmer engaged in a commercial farming operation can reasonably perform. In 

1 0 that case, some quantification and comparison of hours worked by the farm 

11 operator and relative would probably be necessary to show that the farm 

12 operator continues to play the predominant role. In the present case, the 

13 applicant and the county are not-or are no longer-proceeding on the theory 

14 that there is too much work for one farm operator, but rather that Jeff DuPont's 

15 physical limitations prevent him from performing some of the physical work 

16 required by the farm operation. In those circumstances, a quantification and 

1 7 comparison of hours worked is less important for purposes of the "predominant 

18 role" element. In such circumstances, we do not think it is inconsistent with 

19 OAR 660-033-0130(9) and JCZO 301.6(F) to assign more weight to the fact 

20 that the farm operator will continue to perform the executive or decision-

21 making functions, even if it is the case that most of the physical tasks or the 

22 majority of all farm tasks viewed as a whole are performed by the relative. As 

Page 25 

62Page 130 of 384



1 noted above, the definition of "farm operator" reqmres not only that the 

2 operator "do the work," but makes particular reference to "making the day-to-

3 day decisions about such things as planting, harvesting, feeding and marketing." 

4 Nonetheless, we agree with petitioner that some details or breakdown and 

5 comparison of the respective roles of the farm operator and relative must be in 

6 the record to support an adequate finding that the farm operator continues to 

7 play the predominant role. If the record includes such evidence, no party cites 

8 to it. And the county's above-quoted finding on this point is conclusory and 

9 wholly inadequate. 

1 0 The sub-assignments of error directed at the "predominant role" element 

11 are sustained. 

12 C. Requires Assistance 

13 With respect to the "requires assistance" element of OAR 660-033-

14 0130(9) and JCZO 301.6(F), the county found: 

15 "In finding that the farm operator requires the assistance of a 
16 relative in the management of the existing commercial farming 
17 operation, the Board accepted Mr. DuPont's testimony that his 
18 health challenges made it difficult to perform all of the physical 
19 work required on the farm, which was supported by a letter from 
20 his treating physician as to his physical conditions that supported 
21 the Applicant's position that his physical conditions hinder his 
22 ability to do some of the physical activities involved in the daily 
23 management of his farming operation." Record 3-4. 

24 As noted, petitioner does not dispute that physical disability is a potentially 

25 legitimate basis for finding that a farm operator requires the assistance of a 

Page 26 

63Page 131 of 384



1 relative. However, petitioner argues that in the present case the findings and 

2 evidence fail to establish that the farm operator requires any assistance with the 

3 farm operation on the subject property. Petitioner cites to evidence that 

4 opponents submitted that the relatively small size of the subject property and 

5 the limited nature of the farm operation requires only a modest amount of total 

6 hours worked on an annual basis, at most only approximately 97 5 hours, or 

7 18.75 hours per week. Petitioner argues that working 18.75 hours per week is 

8 well within one farm operator's ability to handle without assistance, presumably 

9 even a farm operator who has some physical limitations. 

1 0 Jeff DuPont submitted a declaration, supported by a letter from his 

11 physician, testifying to multiple physical limitations due to age and injury. 

12 Record 125-27. Petitioner cites no evidence in the record suggesting that Jeff 

13 DuPont can, despite those limitations, perform all the physical tasks required by 

14 the farm operation. Petitioner may be correct that the farm and the farm 

15 operation are not large or intensive enough to occupy a farmer full-time, and if 

16 so that might well be fatal to an application based solely on the claim that there 

17 is too much work for the farm operator to do. However, on remand the county 

18 proceeded under the theory that Jeff DuPont requires assistance due to his 

19 physical limitations, rather than under the theory that there is too much work for 

20 Jeff DuPont to do. In such circumstances, the scale and intensity of the farm 

21 operation, while pertinent to the "commercial farming operation" element of 

22 OAR 660-033-0130(9) and JCZO 301.6(F), are not particularly pertinent to the 

Page 27 

64Page 132 of 384



1 "requires assistance" element. We do not understand petitioner to dispute that 

2 OAR 660-033-0130(9) and JCZO 301.6(F) are intended in part to facilitate 

3 relative assistance for an otherwise qualified operator of a commercial farming 

4 operation who, due to age or illness, is unable to perform all the tasks required 

5 by the farming operation. That the farming operation is relatively small in size 

6 and intensity, and would not fully occupy the work hours of either the farmer or 

7 the relative, does not necessarily preclude a finding that the farm operator 

8 requires assistance. 

9 The sub-assignments of error directed at the "requires assistance" 

1 0 element are denied. 

11 Petitioner's second assignment of error and COLW's third assignment of 

12 error are sustained in part. 

13 The county's decision is remanded. 

Page 28 

65Page 133 of 384



1 BEFORE THE LAND USE BOARD OF APPEALS
2 OF THE STATE OF OREGON
3
4 JERRY STRATTON,
5 Petitioner^

6
7 vs.

8
9 CLACKAMAS COUNTY,
10 Respondent.

11
12 LUBA No. 2021-044
13
14 FINAL OPINION
15 AND ORDER
16
17 Appeal from Clackamas County.
18
19 Gary G. Linkous filed the petition for review and reply brief and argued
20 on behalf of petitioner.
21
22 Nathan K. Boderman filed a response brief and argued on behalf of
23 respondent. Also on the brief was Stephen L. Madkour.
24
25 RYAN, Board Member; ZAMUDIO, Board Chair; RUDD, Board
26 Member, participated in the decision.
27
28 ZAMUDIO, Board Chair, concurring.
29
3 0 AFFIRMED O 8/3 0/2021
31
32 You are entitled to judicial review of this Order. Judicial review is
33 governed by the provisions ofORS 197.850.

Page 1

66Page 134 of 384



1 Opinion by Ryan.

2 NATURE OF THE DECISION

3 Petitioner appeals a county hearings officer decision denying their

4 application for a relative farm help dwelling.

5 FACTS

6 Petitioner's property is 55,92 acres, is zoned exclusive farm use (EFU),

7 and includes an existing dwelling. Petitioner applied to the county to site a

8 relative farm help dwelling on the property for their son to live in, so that their

9 son could help on the farm. Petitioner previously planted and harvested

10 raspberries. In 2017, petitioner ended that crop and leased 3 5 acres of the property

11 to a nearby farmer, who farmed wheat. The lease arrangement ended and, in

12 2020, petitioner planted 2,300 Christmas trees on the property. As we explain in

13 more detail below, the farm is not currently generating any income from farming.

14 However, the record includes evidence that the net income from the Christmas

15 tree production could be $48,000 per year beginning in five or six years after an

16 additional 4,000 trees are planted, when the trees mature and are harvested and

17 sold. Record 229.

18 The planning director denied the application, and petitioner appealed the

19 decision to the hearings officer. The hearings officer upheld the planning

20 directors decision and denied the application. This appeal followed.

Page 2

67Page 135 of 384



1 ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

2 Petitioner's single assignment of error includes what we characterize as

3 two subassignments of error. We begin with a fairly detailed description of the

4 relevant statute, the Land Conservation and Development Commission (LCDC)

5 administrative rule that implements that statute, and the relevant Clackamas

6 County Zoning and Development Ordinance (ZDO) provisions.

7 ORS 215.283(l)(d) authorizes the county to approve an accessory

8 dwelling on EFU-zoned land to be occupied by a relative of the farm operator if

9 "the farm operator does or will require the assistance of the relative in the

10 management of the farm use." OAR 660-033-0130(9), an administrative rule that

11 implements ORS 215.283(l)(d) and Statewide Planning Goal 3 (Agricultural

12 Lands), adds several qualifications. As relevant here, the rule requires that the

13 relative's assistance be necessary for the management of the "existing

14 commercial farming operation." OAR 660-033-0130(9)(a).]

OAR 660-033-0130(9)(a) provides:

"To qualify for a relative farm help dwelling, a dwelling shall be
occupied by relatives whose assistance in the management and farm
use of the existing commercial farming operation is required by the
farm operator. * * ^ The farm operator shall continue to play the

predominant role in the management and farm use of the farm. A

farm operator is a person who operates a farm, doing the work and

making the day-to-day decisions about such things as planting,
harvesting, feeding and marketing."

Page 3

68Page 136 of 384



1 Former ZDO 40L05(C)(12) (Oct 2, 2018) provides the applicable criteria

2 for a relative farm help dwelling:

3 "A relative farm help dwelling for a relative of the farm operator
4 may be allowed subject to the following criteria:

«^ ^ ^ ^ ^<

6 "c. The accessory farm dwelling shall be occupied by child,
7 parent, stepparent, grandchild, grandparent, stepgrandparent,

8 sibling, stepsibling, niece, nephew or first cousin, of the farm
9 operator or the farm operator's spouse, whose assistance in

10 the management and farm use of the existing commercial

11 farming operation, such as planting, harvesting, marketing or

12 caring for livestock, is required by the farm operator.

13 t<^^ ^ ^ ^

14 "f. The net income derived from the farm products shall be
15 significant and products from the farm unit shall contribute
16 substantially to the agricultural economy, to agricultural
17 processors and farm markets." (Emphasis added.)2

18 The hearings officer found that petitioner failed to establish that a commercial

19 farming operation currently exists on the property and that petitioner derives

20 significant net income from farm products. Stated differently, the hearings officer

21 found that, although 2,300 Christmas trees are planted and growing, a

22 "commercial" farming operation does not currently exist on the property because

23 it is undisputed that no net income is currently derived from farming on the

2 In October 2020, former ZDO 401.05(C)(12) (Oct 2, 2018) was renumbered
as ZDO 401.05(C)(11) and amended in a way that does not affect the issues in

this appeal.

Page 4

69Page 137 of 384



1 property. In determining whether a commercial farming operation currently

2 exists on the property, the hearings officer relied on ZDO 401.03(D), which

3 defines "commercial farm" as

4 "[a] farm unit with all of the following characteristics:

5 "1. The land is used for the primary purposes of obtaining a profit
6 in money from farm use;

7 "2. The net income derived from farm products is significant; and

8 "3. Products from the farm unit contribute substantially to the
9 agricultural economy, to agricultural processors, and to farm

10 markets.

11 The hearings officer found that the evidence in the record failed to demonstrate

12 that "the net income derived from farm products is significant" because petitioner

13 failed to demonstrate that the farm currently produces an annual net Income of

14 $10,000.3

3 In Richards v. Jefferson County, we explained that counties have some
discretion to determine the thresholds for a "commercial farming operation" since
LCDC has not adopted a definition of that phrase or provided any guidance on

applying it:

"It is difficult to fault the county for the paucity of its analysis, given
that [LCDC] has not seen fit to provide any definition or guidance
on what constitutes a 'commercial farming operation' for purposes

of OAR 660-033-0130(9). Nonetheless, it is the county's obligation,
when addressing an application for a relative farm help dwelling
under OAR 660-033-0130(9), to attempt to articulate the thresholds
that separate a 'commercial' from a non-commercial farming

operation. Because it is an undefined term, counties have some

discretion to determine the thresholds for a 'commercial farming

Page 5

70Page 138 of 384



1 In this case, the hearings officer found that ZDO 401.03(D)'s definition of

2 "commercial farm" is relevant context for determining whether a farm is an

3 "existing commercial farming operation" within the meaning of former ZDO

4 40L05(C)(12) (Oct 2, 2018), and they relied on what they described as a "well

5 established" interpretation ofZDO 40L03(D) to mean that the net income from

6 a farm is not "significant," and the farm therefore does not qualify as

7 "commercial," unless the net income is more than $10,000 annually. Record 8.

8 The hearings officer cited Kunze v. Clackamas County, 27 Or LUBA 130, rev 'd

9 on other grounds, 129 Or App 481, 879 P2d 1311 (1994), in support of that

10 interpretation. We do not understand petitioner to challenge the $10,000

11 threshold per se.

12 The hearings officer also found that the potential future income from the

13 sale of Christmas trees after they mature does not qualify the farm as an

14 existing commercial farming operation because the trees are not currently

15 generating any annual net income. The hearings officer interpreted the word

16 "existing" in former ZDO 40L05(C)(12) (Oct 2, 2018) (and OAR 660-033-

17 0130(9)(a)) as requiring that the commercial nature of the farming operation on

18 which the applicant is relying to qualify for a relative farm help dwelling be

19 established at the time of application.

operation' as applied within the county or within a particular local
area or agricultural sector." 79 Or LUBA 171, 179 (2019) (citing
Harland v. Polk County, 44 Or LUBA 420, 435 (2003)).

Page 6

71Page 139 of 384



1 A. First Subassignment of Error

2 In the first subassignment of error, we understand petitioner to challenge

3 the hearings officer's interpretation of "existing" as requiring annual net income.

4 We understand petitioner's first subassignment of error to be that the hearings

5 officer improperly construed the word "existing" when they concluded that, in

6 order to satisfy the relative farm help dwelling administrative rule and

7 implementing ZDO provisions, an applicant must demonstrate current annual net

8 income above $10,000. In support of this subassignment of error, petitioner

9 argues that the county's decision in Kimze does not support the hearings officer's

10 interpretation of the word "existing" but, rather, supports petitioner's

11 interpretation.

12 As we discuss in more detail below, Kume involved an appeal of the

13 county's approval of a primary farm dwelling. The county found that the

14 applicant's farm management plan, with bluebeny bushes already planted and an

15 existing hay operation, established that the future farming operation would

16 produce more than $10,000 of net income. According to petitioner, Kzmze

17 supports an interpretation ot former ZDO 401.05(C)(12)(c) (Oct 2,2018) to mean

18 that the county must consider future income from crops that are already planted

19 but not yet generating income in determining whether a commercial farming

20 operation Is "existing" on the property.

21 The county responds that Kzmze is distinguishable and, for that reason,

22 does not compel the county to consider petitioner's future income from the sale

Page 7

72Page 140 of 384



1 of already-planted Christmas trees in determining whether petitioner's farm is an

2 "existing" commercial farming operation. In addition, the county argues that,

3 even if Kzmze was not distinguishable, the county is not bound to follow prior

4 interpretations made in a quasi-judicial land use proceeding. We agree on both

5 points.

6 Kimze involved an application for a primary farm dwelling. The criteria

7 that applied at that time required the county to determine that there was "an

8 existing commercial farm use" and that the property was "currently used for

9 commercial farm use." Knnze, 27 Or LUBA at 132.4 The criteria also required

10 the submission of a farm management plan. Id5 The county interpreted the

4 Former ZDO 401.04A provided:

"A permanent principal dwelling may be established in conjunction
with an existing commercial farm use on a legal lot of record larger

than five (5) acres in size, subject to review with notice, pursuant to
[ZDO] 1305.02, when the applicant provides a farm management
plan as provided under [ZDO] 401.10 and other evidence as
necessary to demonstrate that all the following criteria are satisfied:

" 1. The land is currently used for a commercial farm use and such

use will be continued or intensified with the addition of a
permanent dwelling." Kunze, 27 Or LUBA at 132 (emphases
in Kimze).

Petitioner and the county agree that no applicable criterion requires the
submission of a farm management plan in connection with a relative farm help
dwelling, but petitioner points out that the application form used by the county
for that type of dwelling does include such a requirement. Record 180 ("This
information must clearly demonstrate that the farm operation constitutes an

Page 8

73Page 141 of 384



1 requirements for "existing" and "current" commercial farm use and concluded

2 that they would be satisfied when the farm management plan was implemented

3 to the extent that (1) perennials capable of producing at least $10,000 in annual

4 net income were planted on the subject property and (2) the subject property was

5 "used for the primary purpose of obtaining a profit in money from" farm use. Id.

6 at 136. LUBA concluded that the county's interpretation was correct and that the

7 county could issue a building permit for the primary farm dwelling when the farm

8 management plan was "substantially implemented, including a situation where

9 perennial crops capable of producing the level of Income required for commercial

10 farm use have been planted on the subject property." Id. at 138.

11 Here, petitioner argues that the county's decision in Kzmze compels the

12 county to interpret the word "existing" informer ZDO 401.05(C)(12)(c) (Oct 2,

13 2018) in the same way that it interpreted the word "existing" in the criteria that

existing commercial farm operation, OAR 660-033"0130(9)(a). A commercial
farm operation is a farm that has and is currently generating $10,000 net income
per year which is the threshold for identifying a commercial farm operation.
Complete the attached farm management plan information sheet describing the
specific characteristics of the farm operation, inchiding types of crops or
livestock, acres in production, density of crop, yield per acre, and income.^

(Boldface and underline in original; italics added.)) Petitioner submitted a farm
management plan. Record 228-37.

Page 9

74Page 142 of 384



1 applied to primary farm dwelling applications at the time of that decision.6 The

2 hearings officer addressed this argument:

3 "[UJnlike the farm dwelling at issue in Kzmze, this is an application
4 for a farm help dwelling on an existing operating farm. In Kunze,
5 the farm dwelling was necessary to allow the farm operator to live
6 on the property in order to implement the farm plan and establish an
7 entirely new farm operation. As the hearings officer noted in Kimze,
8 requiring the applicant to meet the income test prior to building a
9 farm dwelling ([i]s extremely burdensome/ presumably because

10 this would require that the farm operator establish and operate the
11 farm and meet the net income requirement while living offsite. In
12 this case, unlike in Knnze, the farm operator is currently living on
13 the subject property and operating the farm."7 Record 9 (quoting
14 Kimze, 27 Or LUBA at 135).

15 We review the hearings officer s interpretation of former ZDO

16 401.05(C)(12) (Oct 2, 2018), which implements OAR 660-033-0130(9), to

17 determine whether it is correct. Gage v. City of Portland, 319 Or 308, 877 P2d

18 1187 (1994); McCoy v. Linn County, 90 Or App 271, 276, 752 P2d 323 (1988).

19 We conclude that it is. First, we disagree with petitioner s argument that the

20 county's interpretation of the word "existing" in the criteria that were at issue in

21 Kzmze compels the county to interpret the word "existing" in former ZDO

22 401.05(C)(12)(c) (Oct 2, 2018) in the same way. As the hearings officer

6 The county points out that, after Kunze was decided, the legislature adopted
clear income standards for primary farm dwellings. Response Brief 16 n 8 (citing
ORS 215.279).

OAR 660-033-0130(9) requires the farm operator to be living on the farm.

Page 10

75Page 143 of 384



explained, the application in Kiinze was an application for a primary farm

2 dwelling, and different considerations were at issue, including the consideration

3 that the county did not intend to burden an owner of farmland with living off of

4 the property while establishing a new farm use. In the context of a relative farm

5 help dwelling, however, OAR 660-033-0130(9)(a) contemplates that the

6 relative's help must be needed for a commercial farming operation that is

7 currently occurring on the farm. Wachal v. Linn County, _ Or LUBA _,

8 (LUBA No 2019-140, July 28, 2020) (slip op at 7), off d, 307 Or App 500,475

9 P3d 947 (2020) ("[OAR 660-033-0130(9)] appears intended to reflect that in

10 order to qualify for a relative farm help dwelling, the relative must be currently

11 assisting or intends in the future to assist the farmer with a commercial farming

12 operation that is currently occurring on the farm, rather than one that the farmer

13 plans to establish at some unspecified time in the future."). Kunze does not assist

14 petitioner.

15 Second, absent any code provision requiring it, the county is not bound by

16 prior interpretations in quasi-judicial land use decisions. Greenhalgh v. Columbia

17 County, 54 Or LUBA 626, 640-41 (2007), affd, 215 Or App 702, 170 P3d 1137

18 (2007) (citing Bemis v. City of AsUand, 48 Or LUBA 42 (2004), off d, 197 Or

19 App 124, 107 P3d 83, rev den, 339 Or 66 (2005)). Given the discretion allowed

20 counties—in the absence ofLCDC guidance on the issue—to determine whether

21 an "existing commercial farming operation" Is present on a farm, and absent any

Page 11

76Page 144 of 384



1 argument from petitioner identifying any additional or alternative basis for why

2 the hearings officer s decision is not correct, we agree with the county that it is.

3 The first subassignment of error is denied.

4 B. Second Subassignment of Error

5 We also understand petitioner to argue that the hearings officer's

6 interpretation of the phrase "existing commercial farming operation" In OAR

7 660-033-0130(9) and former ZDO 401.05(C)(12)(c) (Oct 2, 2018) is Inconsistent

8 with ORS 215.283(l)(d) and Goal 3. Petition for Review 11, 13-14, 22. Petitioner

9 argues that the county's interpretation "results in a significant adverse effect on

10 the accepted farm practice of allowing relatives to help with farming." Petition

11 for Review 1 1. We understand petitioner to argue that the purpose of ORS

12 215.283(l)(d) and Goal 3 is to ensure the continuation of farming by allowing a

13 relative to live on the farm and assist with farming operations while the

14 management of the farm is transitioned to that relative. Petition for Review 14.

15 However, even if petitioner is correct about the purpose ofORS 215.283 (l)(d),

16 petitioner does not develop any argument explaining why the county's

17 interpretation of the phrase "existing commercial farming operation" is

18 inconsistent with that statute or Goal 3. Absent a developed argument explaining

8 The decision suggests that petitioner could apply for temporary hardship
dwelling approval under ZDO 401.05(C)(14), which implements ORS
215.283(2)(L). Record 3 ("[G]iven [petitioner's] health issues, [petitioner] can
apply for a temporary care dwelling.").

Page 12

77Page 145 of 384



1 why the statute and the goal compel the county to interpret OAR 660-033-

2 0130(9) in the way that petitioner urges, petitioner's argument provides no basis

3 for reversal or remand of the decision. Deschutes Development v. Deschntes Cty.,

4 5 Or LUBA 218, 220 (1982) ("It is not our function to supply petitioner with

5 legal theories or to make petitioners case for petitioner.")

6 The second subassignment of error is denied.

7 The assignment of error is denied.

8 The county's decision is affirmed.

9 Zamudio, Board Chair, concurring.

10 I agree with the disposition of this appeal because I agree that petitioner s

11 sole assignment of error relies on an incorrect premise that the county is bound

12 to follow a prior interpretation of a local code provision made In a quasi-judicial

13 land use proceeding. I agree that is not a legal basis to reverse or remand the

14 challenged decision. I also agree that petitioner does not adequately develop any

15 argument that the hearings officer's application of the ZDO significant net

16 income requirement is inconsistent with applicable state law. Accordingly, I

17 concur in the disposition of this appeal. I write separately to explain why I do not

18 think that current annual net income is or should be dispositlve for purposes of

19 determining whether an existing farming operation is commercial.

20 ORS 215.283(l)(d) authorizes in the EFU zone

21 "[a] dwelling on real property used for farm use if the dwelling is
22 occupied by a relative of the farm operator * ^ ^ if the farm operator
23 does or will require the assistance of the relative in the management

Page 13

78Page 146 of 384



1 of the farm use and the dwelling is located on the same lot or parcel
2 as the dwelling of the farm operator." (Emphasis added.)

3 In my view, that statute contemplates looking at a farmers need for help over

4 time with respect to the existing farming operation.

5 OAR 660-033-0130(9) implements ORS 215.283(l)(d) and requires an

6 "existing commercial farming operation." It is undisputed here that petitioner has

7 an existing farming operation. The issue is whether the farming operation Is

8 commercial. It is also undisputed that petitioner has demonstrated a current need

9 for help tending a long-term crop, Christmas trees, which is not going to mature

10 or turn a profit for five to six years but that requires farm work in the meantime.9

11 It is also undisputed that petitioner's son is currently assisting or intends in the

9 Petitioner testified that <([t]he trees will not be large enough to sell for five
to six years. However, [petitioner] will need to weed, spray, trim, and otherwise

maintain the trees during that time." Record 4. The hearings officer found:

"[Petitioner] has demonstrated a need for assistance and
management of a farm use on the property. [Petitioner's son] will
assist in managing the recently planted Christmas tree farm
including the following types of work: farm equipment
maintenance, farm infrastructure installation, ground clearing,

cultivating, planting, fertllizlng, spraying, mowing and weeding and
harvesting for the Christmas tree farm. [Petitioner's son's] physical
assistance is required by the farm operator due to health reasons and

the anticipated level of work associated with taking over the existing
wheat farming on a portion of the subject property and continuing
and expanding Christmas trees production on the remainder of the
subject property. Record 7.

Page 14

79Page 147 of 384



1 future to assist petitioner with the farming operation that is currently occurring

2 on the subject property.

3 I tend to agree with petitioner's policy-based arguments that the

4 legislature's allowance of relative farm help dwellings acknowledges and

5 preserves the common practice of intergenerational family farming and that

6 practice serves the Goal 3 purpose of maintaining agricultural land in farm use. I

7 also agree with petitioner that Imposing a current annual net income requirement

8 ignores some of the practical realities of farming, including natural disasters,

9 market fluctuations, crop rotations, and longer-maturing crops—all of which can

10 result in annual losses or no current annual net income for an existing commercial

11 farming operation.

12 In the absence of controlling statute or administrative rule, the county has

13 some discretion to define what constitutes an existing commercial farming

14 operation. However, I do not think that current annual net income is dispositive

15 for purposes of determining whether an existing farming operation is

16 "commercial" for purposes of OAR 660-033-0130(9). In my view, a farmer could

17 show that their farming operation Is commercial if it is of such a scale and

18 intensity that it does or -will obtain a significant profit, even if it is not currently

19 profitable as demonstrated by current annual net income. See Richards v.

20 Jefferson County, 79 Or LUBA 171, 179 (2019) ("[A]s a legal matter, what

21 distinguishes an existing 'commercial' farming operation from its

22 noncommercial counterparts Is largely a matter of scale and intensity.").

Page 15

80Page 148 of 384

ingawil
Highlight



1 Notwithstanding the foregoing, I concur in the disposition of this appeal

2 because petitioner has not argued, let alone established, that the hearings officer's

3 application of the ZDO significant net income requirement as requiring current

4 annual net income violates state law.

Page 16

81Page 149 of 384



From: Christopher Browne
To: WILLIAMS Inga
Subject: Written testimony concerning File Number LU-22-023
Date: Wednesday, November 2, 2022 12:05:07 PM
Attachments: image_50365185.JPG

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you
recognize the sender and know the content is safe.

We have received notification of an appeal regarding the Community Development
Department's finding and conclusion that the subject application does not meet Benton County
Code 55.120(1) (b). The property location is 31992 Fern Road, Philomath, OR 97370, and the
application request is to build a farm-help dwelling for a relative of the farm operator.

Without comment on the validity of this application, we are submitting the attached
photograph for consideration by the Planning Commission in making a decision.  

Our concern is that should the application be approved, then the site of the dwelling be such
that it does not further impact our view of Mary's Peak and the foothills leading to it.

We purchased our home on one acre at 31946 Fern Road in 2016. Referring to the photograph,
we had a clear view of Mary's Peak. The only structures then visible were the stables to the
left and the subject property residence to the right. Since then our view has been impacted by
the construction of multiple structures and fencing associated with the keeping of horses.
Being partial to horses, we accept this and appreciate that the work was done professionally.

However, should a new dwelling be built south of the existing residence, then it would
substantially and further impact our view to the west.  We therefore request that, should the
application be approved by the Planning Commission, then that approval should specify the
location be not south of the existing residence.

Thank you for consideration of this request and testimony.

Christopher and Shelley Browne
31946 Fern Road
Philomath, OR 97370
Home Phone: (541)929-6989
Email: brownecstb@gmail.com

82Page 150 of 384

mailto:brownecstb@gmail.com
mailto:Inga.Williams@co.benton.or.us
mailto:brownecstb@gmail.com






83Page 151 of 384



Staff Reply to Appeal 
of the Development 

Department Decision
December 6 

Planning 
Commission 

Staff Documents

84Page 152 of 384



Community Development Department 

Office: (541) 766-6819 
4500 SW Research Way 

Corvallis, OR 97333 

co.benton.or.us/cd 

MEMORANDUM 

To Benton County Planning Commission 

From Inga Williams, Associate Planner; and  
Darren Nichols, Community Development Director 

Date November 22, 2022 

Subject LU-22-023, Staff Response on the Appeal Hearing and Petitioner’s Presentation 

Background and Decision 

On the evening of November 15, 2022, the Planning Commission held a public hearing on an appeal to 
the staff decision for the application cited above. The Community Development Department denied a 
request for an accessory Farm-Help Dwelling for a Relative of the Farm Operator. The applicant, 
Cynthia Crosby, appealed the decision. The applicant, her attorney, Mr. Reeder, and the property 
owner, Connie Jordan, submitted written testimony in support of the appeal and verbal testimony at 
the public hearing. Upon review of the additional  information submitted by the applicant, staff 
reiterated these findings and conclusion at the public hearing. The request does not comply with the 
requirement that the relatives’ “assistance in the management and farm use of the existing 
commercial farming operation is required by the farm operator…”  BCC 55.120(1)(b). 

At the end of the public hearing, the applicant’s attorney, Mr. Reeder, requested that the record be 
held open. The Commission moved to hold the record open for seven days for written testimony, until 
close of business November 22, 2022, and to allow the petitioner seven days until close of business 
November 30, 2022, to respond to any written testimony received. The commission set deliberations 
for December 6, 2022. 

Analysis 

Mr. Reeder’s September 14, 2022, letter, cites a concurring opinion in a LUBA case, Stratton V. 
Clackamas County1, to argue that County staff cannot use the income from the farm as justification for 
denial. County counsel points out that a concurring opinion holds no legal authority. The case, 
however, directly discusses “commercial farming operation.” 

1 LUBA No. 2021-044 (August 30, 2021) 

85Page 153 of 384



    

Jordan/Crosby Appeal Staff Memo 2                                 Page 2 
 

In Richards v. Jefferson County, we explained that counties have some discretion to determine the 
thresholds for a "commercial farming operation" since LCDC has not adopted a definition of that 
phrase or provided any guidance on applying it: 

"It is difficult to fault the county for the paucity of its analysis, given that [LCDC] has not seen fit to 
provide any definition or guidance on what constitutes a 'commercial farming operation' for 
purposes of OAR 660-033-0130(9). Nonetheless, it is the county's obligation, when addressing an 
application for a relative farm help dwelling under OAR 660-033-0130(9), to attempt to articulate 
the thresholds that separate a 'commercial' from a non-commercial farming operation. Because it 
is an undefined term, counties have some discretion to determine the thresholds for a 'commercial 
farming operation' as applied within the county or within a particular local area or agricultural 
sector." 79 Or LUBA 171, 179 (2019) (citing Harland v. Polk County, 44 Or LUBA 420, 435 (2003)).” 

The County has chosen to articulate the thresholds that separate a ‘commercial’ from a non-
commercial farming operating by applying the two safe harbors 2referenced in 3Richards v Jefferson 
County and the additional safe harbor that the Board included “because they are based on specific and 
facially more rigorous rule standards that apply to somewhat analogous determinations and uses.” The 
Board went on to state that, “If the county chooses not to employ one of the "safe harbors" discussed 
above at n 4, the county has no choice but to determine those thresholds in the first instance. That 
determination will necessarily constitute a mixed question of fact and law. . ..” The county chooses not 
to determine the thresholds outside of those identified by LUBA. 

These safe harbor thresholds are, first, that the farming operation is of a minimum parcel size that 
would allow a commercial agricultural enterprise to be a long-lasting viable business, and second, that 
the farming operation makes enough money to provide justification for a primary farm dwelling.  

4 (1) the OAR 660-033-0020 standards for determining what minimum parcel size is consistent with 
continuing the "commercial agricultural enterprise" within a local area, and (2) the OAR 660-033-
0135 standards for approving a dwelling in conjunction with farm use. The rationale is that if a farm 
operation meets or exceeds the local thresholds for a "commercial agricultural enterprise," or the 
farm operation is productive enough to qualify for a primary farm dwelling, then a county could 
safely conclude, without more analysis, that the farm operation is also a "commercial farming 
operation" for purposes of approving a "relative farm help dwelling" under OAR 660-033-0130(9).  

LUBA also identified a third safe harbor in Richards v Jefferson County. The third threshold correlates 
the fact that a farm help dwelling for a relative is similar in function to an accessory farm dwelling for a 
nonrelative and, therefore, if the farm operation can support a primary farm dwelling and an accessory 
farm dwelling then it could be determined that the farm operation is a commercial farming operation. 
The primary farm dwelling and the accessory farm dwelling sections of the Benton County Code 
require an 5$80,000 income over several years to qualify for either of these dwellings. The income from 

 
2 Richards v Harland  
3 Page 9 of Richards v Jefferson County 
4 Page 10 of Richards v Jefferson County 
5 For properties containing prime agricultural soils 

86Page 154 of 384



    

Jordan/Crosby Appeal Staff Memo 2                                 Page 3 
 

this operation is much lower than the safe harbor threshold. Further, the applicant and property owner 
both testified that their primary income is from retirement savings. 

Staff then applied a secondary test to see if the application could meet the criteria using LUBA’s test in 
Richards v. Jefferson County and the Oregon Administrative Rules to define a commercial farming 
operation. While the existing use is a “farm use”, the entirety of the farm operations do not constitute 
a commercial farm operation because those operations do not substantially contribute to the area's 
existing agricultural economy. The income produced from the farm operations is substantially less than 
the $80,000 in annual revenue required for a farm dwelling approval. Further, the size of the property, 
which is below the State’s established minimum acreage requirement of 80 acres, limits the amount of 
farm use and income that could be generated by the property into the future. Live in farm help from a 
relative is therefore not a requirement or a necessity for this property. 

The closest definition of a commercial farming operation is from the Oregon Administrative Rules6:  
(2)(a) "Commercial Agricultural Enterprise" consists of farm operations that will: 
(A) Contribute in a substantial way to the area's existing agricultural economy; and 
(B) Help maintain agricultural processors and established farm markets. 
(b) When determining whether a farm is part of the commercial agricultural enterprise, not only 
what is produced, but how much and how it is marketed shall be considered. These are important 
factors because of the intent of Goal 3 to maintain the agricultural economy of the state. 

 
Mr. Reeder also states that the term “required” does not mean “absolutely necessary” and that this is 
an ambiguous term as it is not defined by the Benton County Development Code nor administrative 
rule. Mr. Reeder references Webster’s Third New International Dictionary. County counsel staff was 
able to obtain a scan of the dictionary page containing the term “required” from the State Library. One 
part of the definition states, “to demand as necessary or essential (as on general principles or in order 
to comply with or satisfy some regulation).” In fact, although staff turned to a dictionary to define the 
term ‘required’ based on LUBA case 7Loucks v Jackson County, the term ‘essential’, ‘necessary’ and 
‘required’ are well understood without the need to refer to a dictionary definition.  

While Ms. Jordan and Ms. Crosby have stated that Claire Fulsher provides help on the farm, they have 
not provided evidence that the help is essential for the farm to continue to function or flourish and 
they have not provided evidence that she and her family need to live on the property to provide help. 
The testimony of Ms. Crosby, Ms. Jordan, and Claire Fulsher do not support such a conclusion. Claire 
Fulsher testified that she lives 15 minutes away, a reasonable driving distance. Ms. Crosby stated Claire 
and Kevin came and helped with the haying this past season. They were able to do this without living 
on the property. Also, Ms. Jordan and Ms. Crosby testified that they utilize a very good vet, have help 
from a neighbor during calving season, and hire part time help. Ms. Jordan testified that their goal is to 
be able to not hire help. This goal does not raise the request to the level of necessity. 

In addition, Ms. Crosby testified that she has purchased all new machinery, built new agricultural 
buildings on the property, installed new fencing and a new watering system. The new acquisitions 
present reduced support for the need for help as they diminish the amount of upkeep that would be 

 
6 Chapter 660 Division 33 AGRICULTURAL LAND 660-033-0020 Definitions 
7 LUBA No. 93-133 

87Page 155 of 384



    

Jordan/Crosby Appeal Staff Memo 2                                 Page 4 
 

needed for aged infrastructure and machinery. Ms. Jordan also stated that the new watering system is 
less labor intensive. Ms. Jordan did indicate that they intend to add 30 more acres of hay and that this 
is one of the changes on the farm that necessitates help live on the property. First, future farm use 
cannot be used to provide support for a farm help dwelling, it must be existing per the Benton County 
Code. Second, Claire and Kevin Fulsher can provide help without living on the property.   

Response to Mr. Reeder’s November 14, 2022, Letter 

In Mr. Reeder’s November 14, 2022, he states that “Interpreting the Relative Farm Help Dwelling laws 
as restrictively as County staff does defeats the purpose of Goal 3 and is not legally defensible.”   
However, county staff is relying upon Final Order and Opinion promulgated by the Land Use Board of 
Appeals. LUBA has outlined a path for the county to follow and LUBA has identified the “safe harbor” 
thresholds as maintaining and preserving agricultural land, therefore supporting the purpose of Goal 3. 

Mr. Reeder references Harland v 8Polk County (2003) as a basis for supporting the applicant’s request. 
The LUBA case supports the County’s denial of the application. Within the case, LUBA acknowledges 
that the term “commercial farm operation” is ambiguous. They agree that 9the intervenor’s farm is a 
“farm use” then states, “. . . a “commercial farm operation,” is clearly something different from “farm 
use,” as that term is defined by ORS 215.203(2)(a) and 308A.05b [and County definition BCC Chapter 
53].  Stated differently, the relatively minor level of agricultural activity that might qualify a property 
for preferential agricultural assessment is not necessarily sufficient to qualify as a commercial farm 
operation within the meaning of OAR 660-033-0130(9).” 

And further,10However, because LCDC did not define the term "commercial farm operation" in OAR 
660-033-0130(9) or draft the rule to expressly provide that only those farm operations that make up the 
county's ''[c]ommercial [a]gricultural [e]nterprise are eligible for a family farm help dwelling, we do not 
believe it is appropriate to assume that LCDC intended to require that county’s derive a definition of 
commercial farm operation" from OAR  660-033-0020(2). Rather, we conclude that LCDC intended to 
allow the county some discretion in distinguishing "hobby" or "recreational" farms from those farms 
that rise to the level of a commercial farm operation. If LCDC did not intend that county have such 
discretion, the rule can be easily amended to add a definition of commercial farm operation that 
eliminates that discretion. 

LUBA also indicates that they, in part, relied on the level of farm income to make their decision.  
11“Although we know from the record that the intervenor’s wife works off the farm and we do not 
know from the record how much income intervenor derives from the farm, the tax service letter that 
the intervenor submitted is substantial evidence that all of intervenor’s income is derived from the 
farm . . .”  

 
8 Polk County’s Development Code is different from Benton County Development Code as Polk County uses the term 
“needed” rather than “required”.     
9 Page 7 of 13 of Mr. Reeder’s November 14 Memo  
10 Page 8 of 13 of Mr. Reeder’s November 14 Memo 
11 Page 8 of 13 of Mr. Reeder’s November 14 Memo 

88Page 156 of 384



    

Jordan/Crosby Appeal Staff Memo 2                                 Page 5 
 

In Ms. Crosby and Ms. Jordan’s case, they have already testified that they derive their income from 
retirement savings.   

Additional Analysis 

Mr. Reeder referred to the deferred tax assessment status of the property as indicating that the 
property has a commercial farming operation. The threshold level for deferred tax assessment status is 
very low within the EFU zone. 

12Exclusive farm use (EFU) zoned land qualifies for “farm use” special assessment provided the 
owner maintains an acceptable farm practice with the intent to make a profit as defined by ORS 
308A.056. Landowners don’t need to apply for land to be qualified and assessed as farm use 
[emphasis added]. 

 
Conclusion and Recommendation  

None of the information supplied with the appeal causes staff to revise the decision to deny the 
application.  

Staff recommends that the Planning Commission uphold the staff decision to deny the application. 

Proposed motion: “Based on evidence in the record, and upon hearing testimony on the issue, I move 
to deny the applicant’s appeal, thereby upholding the original Notice of Decision on file number LU-22-
023.”  

  

 
12 https://www.oregon.gov/dor/forms/FormsPubs/farm-use-manual_303-422.pdf Page 2-1,2022 Farm Use Manual, Oregon 
Department of Revenue 

89Page 157 of 384



Original 
Application for 

a Farm-Help 
Dwelling for a 
Relative of the 
Farm Operator

90Page 158 of 384



91Page 159 of 384



92Page 160 of 384



93Page 161 of 384



94Page 162 of 384



95Page 163 of 384



96Page 164 of 384



97Page 165 of 384



98Page 166 of 384



99Page 167 of 384



100Page 168 of 384



101Page 169 of 384



102Page 170 of 384



103Page 171 of 384



104Page 172 of 384



105Page 173 of 384



106Page 174 of 384



Application to Appeal 
the Development 

Department's Decision
Information submitted 

by applicant for the 
November 15 Planning 

Commission Hearing

107Page 175 of 384



108Page 176 of 384



109Page 177 of 384



110Page 178 of 384



111Page 179 of 384



112Page 180 of 384



113Page 181 of 384



114Page 182 of 384



115Page 183 of 384



116Page 184 of 384



117Page 185 of 384



118Page 186 of 384



119Page 187 of 384



120Page 188 of 384



121Page 189 of 384



122Page 190 of 384



123Page 191 of 384



124Page 192 of 384



125Page 193 of 384



126Page 194 of 384



127Page 195 of 384



128Page 196 of 384



129Page 197 of 384



130Page 198 of 384



131Page 199 of 384



132Page 200 of 384



133Page 201 of 384



134Page 202 of 384



135Page 203 of 384



136Page 204 of 384



137Page 205 of 384



138Page 206 of 384



139Page 207 of 384



140Page 208 of 384



141Page 209 of 384



142Page 210 of 384



143Page 211 of 384



144Page 212 of 384



145Page 213 of 384



146Page 214 of 384



147Page 215 of 384



148Page 216 of 384



149Page 217 of 384



150Page 218 of 384



151Page 219 of 384



Submittal from Applicants' Agent given to 
Planning Commission on the day of the hearing

152Page 220 of 384



153Page 221 of 384



154Page 222 of 384



155Page 223 of 384



156Page 224 of 384



157Page 225 of 384



158Page 226 of 384



159Page 227 of 384



160Page 228 of 384



161Page 229 of 384



162Page 230 of 384



163Page 231 of 384



164Page 232 of 384



165Page 233 of 384



166Page 234 of 384



167Page 235 of 384



168Page 236 of 384



169Page 237 of 384



170Page 238 of 384



171Page 239 of 384



172Page 240 of 384



173Page 241 of 384



174Page 242 of 384



Application to Appeal 
the Development 

Department's Decision
Information submitted 

by applicant for the 
December 6 Planning 
Commission Hearing

175Page 243 of 384



 

 

 

 

 
November 29, 2022 

 
Via Email Only 
inga.williams@co.benton.or.us  
 
Benton County Planning Commission 
 c/o Inga Williams, Planner 
Benton County Community Development 
4500 SW Research Way 
Corvallis, OR 97333 
 
 Re: Final Argument to Planning Commission | LU-22-023 
  Cynthia Crosby & Connie Jordan | Relative Farm Help Dwelling  
 
Dear Benton County Planning Commissioners: 
 
 Please accept this letter as the Applicant’s final argument pursuant to ORS 197.797.  
There has been a considerable amount of information for this Application and it is quite clear 
that County staff and counsel disagree with the Application on two points.  I write to 
emphasize the following points to aid the Planning Commission in coming to the correct 
decision, notwithstanding County staff’s counter positions.  I urge you to make your own, 
independent decision as you are the quasi-judicial officials tasked with making this judgement.     
 
 The Applicant has shown that this Application must be approved for two, independent 
reasons:  
 

I. ORS 197.307(4) Requires the County to Apply Only Clear & Objective Standards 
 
 The state statute governing approval for housing development, ORS 197.307(4), 
requires that only clear and objective standards may be applied to applications for housing.  
The two standards that County staff believe have not been met in the Application for housing 
development are not clear and objective, and therefore cannot be applied to this case. 
 
 Put succinctly, the Oregon Legislature has determined that having clear and objective 
standards for housing is a more important policy consideration than applying subjective 
and/or ambiguous standards such as the undefined terms “assistance is required” and 
“commercial farming operation.”  Pursuant to ORS 197.307(4), these two ambiguous and 
subjective standards may not be applied to this Application, and the Application must 
therefore be approved.  All other arguments presented by County staff and County Counsel 

176Page 244 of 384

mailto:inga.williams@co.benton.or.us


Page 2 of 5 
November 29, 2022 
Crosby, Cindy & Connie Jordan 
Relative Farm Help Dwelling  

 

must give way to the commands of ORS 197.307(4). 
In this Application review process the County is attempting to apply subjective 

standards to undefined terms.  This is because the County has yet to legislatively adopt clear 
and objective standards.  The County cannot, through a quasi-judicial land use permit 
application process, impose purported “clear and objective” standards through interpretation.  
For example, the fact that the relative helper (Applicant’s daughter) lives 15 minutes away 
from the farm leads to the County’s conclusion that this circumstance runs against the “need” 
for live-in help on the Subject Property is highly subjective.  How far away must the relative 
live for this to be factored as a reason the relative can live on the Subject Property?  Because 
the County is implementing state law here for terms that are undefined, neither the Planning 
Commission nor the County Board can interpret the law with subjective standards.  The 
“commercial” and “assistance is required” standards are not clear and objective and are 
therefore not applicable to this Application.  
 

II. The Application Meets the Subjective Definitions of “Required” and 
“Commercial Farming Operation” 

 
 Although it is not necessary for approval for the reasons explained in Part I above, out 
of an abundance of caution, the Applicant has shown, by a preponderance of the evidence, 
that she meets the code, rule and statutory (ambiguous/subjective) standards for a Relative 
Farm Help Dwelling.   
 
 Below is the summary of the Applicant’s arguments for your consideration.  All of 
these summarized arguments are discussed in greater detail in the Applicant’s written and oral 
testimony already found in the record on this matter.  
 

1. Relative Farm Help Dwellings promote the agricultural use of farmland and was the 
intent behind Oregon Revised Statute (ORS) 215.283 (formerly ORS 215.213(1)(e)).1  
Therefore, it is contrary to Statewide Planning Goal 3 to strictly interpret the standards 
so as to limit Relative Farm Help Dwellings. 
 

2. The Applicant and Farm Operator have provided unrebutted evidence of their 
devotion and time commitments to their commercial farming operation and their need 
for help in farming from the Applicant’s daughter as they age and their farm improves 
in efficiency and productivity.  These are the exact circumstances envisioned when the 
Relative Farm Help Dwelling legislation was implemented. 

 
3. The fact that it takes more than one person to run the commercial farming operation, 

 
1 See Hopper v. Clackamas County, 87 Or. App. 167 (1987) (“there is an overriding statutory and regulatory policy to prevent 
agricultural land from being diverted to non-agricultural use.…However, they [petitioners] do not persuade us that that 
policy requires that the statute be construed as precluding the construction of this proposed dwelling; the statute's clear 
import is that the construction of such dwellings, under circumstances of the precise kind present here, is related 
to and promotes the agricultural use of farm land.”) (Emphasis mine). 
 

177Page 245 of 384



Page 3 of 5 
November 29, 2022 
Crosby, Cindy & Connie Jordan 
Relative Farm Help Dwelling  

 

in addition to hired help is conclusive evidence that the Relative Farm Help Dwelling 
is “required”. 
 

4. County Staff is misreading case law and misinterpreting what “safe harbor” means. As 
“commercial farming operation” remains undefined in state law and County code, the 
LUBA and the courts have identified three “safe harbors” for counties to rely on in 
making this determination.  They have clarified that these safe harbors offer more rigorous 
rule standards than the question at hand, meaning that that if a farming operation meets 
the standards of one of these safe harbors, then a county can safely conclude that the 
farm is a “commercial farming operation.”2  However, the court goes on to clearly state 
that, in the case that a farm does not meet one of these safe harbors, then, “the county 
must grapple with that issue directly and do the hard work of articulating the thresholds 
it will apply in determining whether the farm operation at issue qualifies as a 
‘commercial farming operation.’” Id.   

 
The courts have also identified what counties may consider when articulating the 
thresholds to apply to determine when a farm is “commercial” vs “non-commercial”: 

 
2 Richards v. Clackamas County, 79 Or LUBA 171 (2019), f 4 states as follows:  
 

“We here describe the two approaches discussed in Richards I and Harland as ‘safe harbors,’ 
because they are based on specific and facially more rigorous rule standards that apply 
to somewhat analogous determinations and uses governed by OAR chapter 660, division 
033. The two approaches are based on (1) the OAR 660-033-0020 standards for determining 
what minimum parcel size is consistent with continuing the ‘commercial agricultural 
enterprise’ within a local area, and (2) the OAR 660-033-0135 standards for approving a 
dwelling in conjunction with farm use. The rationale is that if a farm operation meets or 
exceeds the local thresholds for a ‘commercial agricultural enterprise,’ or the farm operation 
is productive enough to qualify for a primary farm dwelling, then a county could safely 
conclude, without more analysis, that the farm operation is also a ‘commercial farming 
operation’ for purposes of approving a ‘relative farm help dwelling’ under OAR 660-033-
0130(9).  
 
To those two identified ‘safe harbors,’ we can add a third. OAR 660- 033-0130(24)(b) sets out 
standards for when a farm operation with a primary farm dwelling qualifies for an accessory 
farm dwelling, occupied by a non-relative. Because a relative farm help dwelling is similar in 
function to an ‘accessory farm dwelling’ allowed under OAR 660-033-0130(24), if the farm 
operation supporting the primary farm dwelling is sufficient to qualify the property for an 
accessory farm under the standards at OAR 660-033-0130(24)(b), we think a county could 
safely conclude, without more, that the farm operation qualifies as a ‘commercial farming 
operation’ for purposes of OAR 660-033-0130(9). Of course, the reverse is not true: if the 
farming operation supporting a proposed relative farm help dwelling did not meet or 
exceed the relevant standards under any of these three ‘safe harbors,’ it would not 
necessarily mean that the county must conclude that the farming operation at issue is 
not a ‘commercial farming operation’ for purposes of OAR 660-033-0130(9). It means 
only that the county must grapple with that issue directly and do the hard work of 
articulating the thresholds it will apply in determining whether the farm operation at 
issue qualifies as a ‘commercial farming operation.’” (Emphasis mine).  

178Page 246 of 384



Page 4 of 5 
November 29, 2022 
Crosby, Cindy & Connie Jordan 
Relative Farm Help Dwelling  

 

(1) the farm rises above being a hobby or recreational farm,3 and  
 
(2) the scale and intensity is such that a reasonable famer would devote the majority of 
his or her working hours to operating the farm.4  

 
Prior to the most recent County Memo dated November 22, 2022, Staff determined 
that the Crosby farm did not meet any of the three safe harbors and then attempted to 
look to “scale and intensity.”5 However, in the November 22 Memo, Staff appear to 
switch tacks and are solely looking to the three safe harbors without providing further 
analysis, removing any analysis of scale and intensity.  Although the County, if ORS 
197.307(4) did not apply,6 would have some discretion as to what constitutes a 
commercial vs. non-commercial farm, when the more rigorous safe harbors are not 
met, the County has failed to articulate what the thresholds are and are now ignoring 
any additional analysis. 

 
5. The “requires assistance” standard is not nearly as stringent as County staff represent 

and the standard is easily met here.  Case law repeatedly supports this assertion.  
 

In Hopper the court found: 
 

“We do not construe that phrase to mean that the amount of the 
required assistance is the determinant of whether there may be a 
relative’s dwelling, as long as the ‘farm operator’ continues to have some 
significant involvement in the farm operations. Nothing in the statutory 
language suggests that the permissibility of the accessory dwelling is 

 

3 Harland v. Polk County, 44 Or LUBA 420 (2003) (“Rather, we conclude that LCDC intended to allow the county some 
discretion in distinguishing ‘hobby’ or ‘recreational’ farms from those farms that rise to the level of a commercial farm 
operation.”)  

4 Richards, supra, states:  

“However, as our discussion above indicates, we believe that, as a legal matter, what 
distinguishes an existing ‘commercial’ farming operation from its noncommercial counterparts 
is largely a matter of scale and intensity. Roughly speaking, we believe a commercial farming 
operation is one that is of sufficient scale and intensity that would induce and require a 
reasonable farmer to devote the majority of his or her working hours to operating a farm on 
the subject property.”  

5 See Staff Memorandum, November 9, “The cattle breeding operation does not require a sufficient scale or intensity of 
effort to require a relative to live on the farm to provide help.” and County Counsel Memorandum, October 24, 2022 “As 
part of its analysis of the LCDC regulation, staff assessed the scale and intensity of the farm use…”  
 
6 However, any such discretion is removed by ORS 197.307(4).  As discussed above, standard that are not clear and 
objective must not be applied and the Application must therefore be approved. 
 

179Page 247 of 384



Page 5 of 5 
November 29, 2022 
Crosby, Cindy & Connie Jordan 
Relative Farm Help Dwelling  

 

inversely proportional to the level of assistance the relative provides.” 
Hopper, supra at 924.  

 
In a Benton County case, Kenagy v. Benton County, 97 Or LUBA 65 (1992), LUBA found:  

 
“The unchallenged facts reflected in the appealed decision are that the 
farm operator requires assistance to perform the tasks necessary to carry 
out the cattle operation on the nine acre portion of the parcel due to his 
physical condition. As pointed out in Hopper, petitioners' arguments that 
the proposed assistance of the farm operator's relatives is ‘nominal’ do 
not provide a basis for reversal or remand of the challenged decision.”  
 
 

In Harland, LUBA found: 
 

“However, PCZO 136.040(H) does not require that intervenor establish 
that the son's full-time assistance is required year-round. The applicants 
identified varied tasks the son is to perform on the farm and noted that 
his assistance would be particularly important during times when 
intervenor cannot be present. As intervenor advances in age, it is 
reasonable to expect that those absences might become more frequent, 
and the need for the son to assist in the more strenuous farm tasks would 
become more pronounced. We conclude that the county's findings are 
adequate to demonstrate that the son’s assistance is ‘required’ on the 
farm, within the meaning of PCZO 136.040(H).”  

 
III. Conclusion 

 
 The Application should be approved because the only two standards that County staff 
argues are not met are not clear and objective.  Mr. Croney is incorrect on the law.  No 
evidence has been provided to rebut the substantial testimony that the Applicant is using the 
property as a commercial farming operation that permits a Relative Farm Help Dwelling. 
 
      Respectfully, 
 
      /s/Micheal M. Reeder 
 
      Micheal M. Reeder 
      Attorney for Applicant and Owner 

180Page 248 of 384



LAW OFFICE OF BILL KLOOS PC 

OREGON LAND USE LAW 
375 W. 4TH AVENUE, SUITE 204 
EUGENE, OR 97401 
TEL: 541.343.8596 
WEB: WWW.LANDUSEOREGON.COM 

 
BILL KLOOS 

BILLKLOOS@LANDUSEOREGON.COM 
 

 
November 15, 2022 

 
Via Email inga.williams@co.benton.or.us  
 
Benton County Planning Commission 
 c/o Inga Williams, Planner 
Benton County Community Development 
360 SW Avery Ave. 
Corvallis, OR 97333 
 
 Re: Appeal to Planning Commission | LU-22-023 
 
Dear Benton County Planning Commissioners: 
 
This letter is filed on behalf of the Home Builders Association of Lane County (HBA), whose 
members include builders in Benton County. 
 
This is a very important appeal; the decision must apply state housing law, which provides 
important protections to persons intending to build housing. I have reviewed the letter of this 
date from Cynthia Crosby and Connie Jordan in support of their proposed relative farm dwelling.  
That letter correctly summaries the law.  The HBA adopts the legal argument therein as its own.   
 
I would point out several important, summary principles to keep in mind.   
 

The county is applying state law here, not county law.  The county law must be consistent 
with the state law that governs. 
 
Because it is state law that applies, there is no room for the Planning Commission or the 
County Board to do its own interpretation. Rules of deference do not apply. 
 
If the County denies this application based on its own code, or a misreading of state law, 
and LUBA reverses the denial and orders an approval, an attorney fee award against the 
county is mandatory, even if the county does not defend the denial on appeal.  See, e.g., 
Hendrickson v. Lane County __ Or LUBA __ (Order, Aug. 18, 2020). 

 
On behalf of the HBA, I urge the Commission to approve this proposed use. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Bill Kloos 
Bill Kloos 
Cc:  HBA of Lane County 

181Page 249 of 384

mailto:inga.williams@co.benton.or.us


From: Andree Phelps
To: WILLIAMS Inga
Cc: Mike Reeder
Subject: Letter in Support of Appeal of Staff Denial of LU-22-023
Date: Tuesday, November 22, 2022 4:54:37 PM
Attachments: LU-22-023_Benton_Commissioner_support_letter.docx

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you
recognize the sender and know the content is safe.

Ms. Williams:

Please accept the following written testimony in support of the family farm help dwelling
application, U-22-023.

Andrée Phelps
Andrée Phelps Law, LLC
375 W. 4th Ave, Suite 204
Eugene, OR 97401
Phone: 541-221-1431
Email: andree@andreephelpslaw.com

Notices: This message, including attachments, may be confidential and contain information
protected by the attorney-client privilege or work product doctrine or is otherwise privileged.
If you are not the addressee, any disclosure, copying, distribution, or use of the contents of this
message in any way is prohibited. If you are not the intended recipient, you are hereby notified
that you have received this transmittal in error.  If you have received this e-mail in error,
please notify us immediately by telephone or email.

182Page 250 of 384

mailto:andree@andreephelpslaw.com
mailto:Inga.Williams@co.benton.or.us
mailto:mreeder@oregonlanduse.com
mailto:andree@andreephelpslaw.com

[image: Text

Description automatically generated]



		• 2 of 2 •

November 22, 2022

Via email 

Inga.williams@co.benton.or.us



Inga Williams, Planner

Benton County Community Development

4500 SW Research Way

Corvallis, OR 97333



Re. 	Letter in Support of Appeal of Staff Denial of LU-22-023

	Cynthia Crosby & Connie Jordan - Family Farm Help Dwelling Application



Thank you, Commissioners, for your time and attention paid to the testimony related to the family farm help dwelling application as it was presented at the Planning Commission hearing on November 15, 2022. We anticipate that the testimony of Cynthia Crosby (the “Applicant”) and Connie Jordan (the “Owner/Operator”), as well as the Applicant’s daughter and Applicant’s neighbor, was persuasive in determining that the Application meets all relevant Benton County Code (BCC) criteria and that approval of the Application would allow successive generational farming and, therefore, promote Goal 3 policy. As the record has remained open, we provide the following additional written testimony.  

Family farm help dwellings are a permitted use in exclusive farm zones (EFU). In Oregon, there is an overriding statutory and regulatory policy to prevent agricultural land from being diverted to non-agricultural use,[footnoteRef:1] thereby preserving and maintaining agricultural lands. The ability to place a dwelling on EFU farmland for the purpose of family farming assistance was first put into law in 1981.[footnoteRef:2] These applications are one of the least common farm dwelling applications in the state with “the number of dwellings approved for relatives whose assistance is needed on the farm has been fairly consistent over the past six years averaging 30 dwelling approvals a year.”[footnoteRef:3] State statute, Oregon Administrative Rule (OAR), and the BCC permit this type of dwelling on EFU farmland. The family farm dwelling statute is found within section (d) of ORS 215.283,[footnoteRef:4] the state rule is found at OAR 660-033-0130(9),[footnoteRef:5] and the BCC is found at 55.120 (1)(b).[footnoteRef:6] The BCC implements the OAR while adding that BCC 55.120 does not apply to marijuana farms. [1:  Hopper v. Clackamas County, 87 Or. App 167, 924 and OAR 660-033-0010]  [2:  See ORS 215.213(1)(e), 1981.]  [3:  Oregon Farm and Forest Land Use Report, 2018-2019, DLCD, November 15, 2020, 14.]  [4:  ORS 215.283(d) A dwelling on real property used for farm use if the dwelling is occupied by a relative of the farm operator or the farm operator’s spouse, which means a child, parent, stepparent, grandchild, grandparent, stepgrandparent, sibling, stepsibling, niece, nephew or first cousin of either, if the farm operator does or will require the assistance of the relative in the management of the farm use and the dwelling is located on the same lot or parcel as the dwelling of the farm operator. ……. (emphasis added)]  [5:  OAR 660-033-0130 (9)(a) To qualify for a relative farm help dwelling, a dwelling shall be occupied by relatives whose assistance in the management and farm use of the existing commercial farming operation is required by the farm operator. (emphasis added)]  [6:  BCC 55.120 (1)(b)  The dwelling will be located on the same lot or parcel as the dwelling of the farm operator, and occupied by a child, parent, stepparent, grandchild, grandparent, stepgrandparent, sibling, stepsibling, niece, nephew or first cousin of the farm operator or the farm operator’s spouse, whose assistance in the management and farm use of the existing commercial farming operation (not including marijuana) is required by the farm operator; (emphasis added)] 


There were multiple questions from Commissioners at the November 15 hearing relating to issues such as parcel size, farm income, contributions to markets, and concerning what constitutes “requires assistance.” There appeared to be some confusion if this was an appropriate query as the staff mentioned many of these issues in their analysis.[footnoteRef:7]  The ORS, OAR, and BCC do not include requirements such as minimum acreage or minimum income from the property; these are requirements for other types of EFU dwellings[footnoteRef:8] and we strongly disagree with County counsel that, “LUBA has provided clear guidance on how to interpret, and apply that phrase [commercial farming operation].”[footnoteRef:9] These questions are arising exactly because the term “commercial farming operation” is undefined and an analysis of what constitutes needed assistance is likewise undefined by the state or in BCC; therefore, the County cannot, as the BCC is written, apply this criteria. [7:  Staff Report at 6 and Benton County Memorandum at 2.]  [8:  Many of these factors were discussed in the staff report to determine if the farming operation could meet a “safe harbor” that the farm constituted a “commercial agricultural enterprise.”]  [9:  Croney Memorandum at 9.] 


However, if the County choses to apply the terms “commercial farming operation” and what constitutes “requiring assistance,” LUBA has identified pertinent analyses in several family farm help dwelling cases. For the two criteria[footnoteRef:10] that were found to be not met by County Staff, LUBA has determined that for the query: [10:   The Staff Report and subsequent Memorandum from Benton staff continue to conflate these two issues in their analysis. However, the Richards case is clear that these are two separate inquiries. ] 


1. if the help is required, means if the farmers need assistance[footnoteRef:11] and [11:  “The selling of high-grade hay that Mr. Woods produced in farming is a farm use, and, if sold or used as part of the existing commercial cattle operation, would be part of a commercial farm operation.” Harland at 9.] 


2. if the scale and intensity of the farming operation constitutes a commercial farming operation, means to determine if a reasonable farmer would devote the majority of his or her working hours to operating the farm.[footnoteRef:12]  [12:  “Roughly speaking, we believe that a commercial farming operation is one that is sufficient scale and intensity that would induce and require a reasonable farmer to devote the majority of his or her working hours to operating a farm on the subject property.” Richards at 14.] 


I. Oral testimony related to “scale and intensity” and help “required” provided at the November 15, 2022 hearing

In addition to the photographic evidence and estimates of time spent working on specific farm tasks that were supplied in Exhibits A and B[footnoteRef:13] by Applicant’s attorney, the following is a summary of oral evidence provided to the Commission at the November 15, 2022 hearing related to the operation’s “scale and intensity” and “assistance needed:”  [13:  September 14, 2022 Letter in Support of Appeal of Staff Denial, submitted by Micheal Reeder] 


1. that, of the 64-acre site, the home site consists of approximately 5 acres, the orchard is approximately 2 acres, and the horse barn and pastures (shared with cattle) are approximately 4 to 5 acres. The remainder of the property, more than 50 acres, is predominantly dedicated to the cattle operation; 

2. the cows are Dexter breed that are easier to manage than other breeds as they are lighter and gentler, they produce A2 milk, they are bred for meat, and the cattle on the farm are registered and individually identified;

3. the advanced ages of the Applicant and Operator (in their 70s) and that their need for farming assistance has escalated over the years since they purchased the property;

4. the Applicant and Operator have been farming the property for more than seven (7) years, improving the prior existing farming practice that included more than twenty (20) head of cattle in the sale;

5. the Applicant and Operator have made over a million-dollar investment in the property,

6. neither the Applicant nor the Operator has employment outside the farm;

7. the farming activities that the Applicant and Operator perform themselves include fixing fencing, baling and moving hay, managing invasive species by hand, birthing the cows and managing the bull for breeding;

8. the Applicant’s daughter and son-in-law currently work on the farm when they are needed and available;

9. the daughter does not have other paid employment;

10. the Operator hires help or asks for relative assistance particularly for tasks that require heaving lifting;

11. the neighbor gave testimony that the Applicant and Operator are seen farming the property all the time,

12. and, finally, the Applicant and Operator intend this farm to be their legacy to pass onto their relatives.

In addition to the above oral testimony by the proponents of the family farm help dwelling application, there was also testimony offered, contrary to the opinion of County counsel, that the commercial farming is not limited to a look at the “cattle sales and some hay sales.”[footnoteRef:14] It appears that part of the issue in reviewing this application is that the farm has other farming practices occurring simultaneously on the property that are not part of the commercial endeavor. The Application and Owner agree that the orchard and horse activities are not commercial endeavors and, currently, fall into the category of a “hobby farm” and farming for “pleasure.” However, any equipment, buildings, and activities related to hay production used to feed and care for cattle are also to be considered as part of the commercial portion of the farming operation.[footnoteRef:15] [14:  Willaims/Nichols Memo at 3.]  [15:  Harland at 9.] 


II. Relative’s help is “required”



The staff conclude that the relatives’ help is not “absolutely needed” for management of the commercial farming operation and, therefore, it is not necessary for the relatives to live on the property. There is no requirement in the state statute, state rule, or the BCC to take into account the amount of help, type of help, or even whether that help must be year-round.  Although there has been some back and forth about how to define the term “required,” we would like to clarify that LUBA has supported the idea that “required” is not nearly as stringent as staff have stated. Prior cases have told us that “required” is met when circumstances, such as age or illness, that would result in the operator being unable to perform the tasks required by the farming operator, meets the criteria. LUBA has also found that an inquiry into whether the help needed would fully occupy the work hours of either the farmer or the relative or that there be a particular break down of farm duties between the owner and the relative. Finally, even if assistance of the farm operator’s relatives is “nominal” it still meets the criteria. 

Here, as stated in oral and written testimony, the Applicant and Operator are in their 70s, and their time is devoted to the farm operation. The farmers, from time to time, rely on the help of their daughter Claire and her husband, and sometimes they have to hire help to perform tasks such as building fences when Claire is not available. Although it is unclear how Staff came to the conclusion that only “one person and sometimes a second person” is needed to work the commercial farming operation portion of the farm, the question here is much simpler: is the assistance needed by the farm operator. The answer to this question is affirmative. 

III. The farm is a “commercial agricultural operation”



If the County attempts to define the the term “commercial agricultural operation,” it is the County’s obligation to articulate the thresholds that separate a “commercial” from a non-commercial farming operation. The Richards case tells us that the County has some discretion in this determination, but that this determination constitutes a mixed question of fact and law.[footnoteRef:16] However, because the County has not articulated any thresholds, and because “commercial farming operation” is a state term that is undefined, the County is afforded no deference in defining this term and this criterion is inapplicable.  [16:  Richards v. Jefferson County, 79 Or 171 (2019)] 


However, the facts presented from oral and written testimony about activities and time spent on the farming operation, by both the Applicant and the Operator, as well as the daughter and son-in-law, are evidence that these farmers are knowledgeable about their farming practices, and they participate in their farming activities, and that they are devoted to farming. Even Staff acknowledge that, “they [the farmers] spend considerable time on these activities.” 

Although no thresholds are identified by the County, staff found that the criteria were not met based on:

1. Time spent in running the commercial portion of the agricultural operations is a small portion of the overall agricultural activities occurring on the property that the majority of the farm operator’s time is not spent in the cattle breeding operation. Staff Report at 6.

2. the cattle breeding operation does not contribute in a substantial way to the support of the family and so the relatives must support themselves by other means, with the majority of their time in that pursuit. Id. 

3. operation does not contribute substantially to the area's existing agricultural economy nor help maintain agricultural processors and established farm markets. Id. at 6-7.

4. The size of the property, which is below the State’s established minimum acreage requirements, limits the amount of commercial agriculture that can be conducted. Id at 7.

5. It appears unlikely that the size of the herd could be increased in any great capacity. Id.

6. Income from fruit and vegetables and hay could be generated in the future but it is questionable that it would increase income or the scale of the commercial farming operation to a level significant enough for approval of an accessory dwelling. Id.

7. whether the operations contribute to the area’s existing agricultural economy or will help maintain agricultural processors and established farm markets. Id. 

8. The applicant indicates the work requires approximately 2.3 full time people to work the entire farm, which includes Ms. Crosby and Ms. Jordan working full time, and a part time person for approximately 75 hours a month. Ms. Crosby’s review of the activities, however, indicates that only one person, and sometimes a second individual, is necessary to provide management of the income producing portion of the farm use.[footnoteRef:17] Nov 9, 2022 Williams/Nichols Memo at 3. [17:  “The applicant indicates the work requires approximately 2.3 full time people to work the entire farm, which includes Ms. Crosby and Ms. Jordan working full time, and a part time person for approximately 75 hours a month. Ms. Crosby’s review of the activities, however, indicates that only one person, and sometimes a second individual, is necessary to provide management of the income producing portion of the farm use. The cattle breeding operation does not require a sufficient scale or intensity of effort to require a relative to live on the farm to provide help.” 
] 


Many of these reasons to deny are not supported by evidence, and many of these reasons to deny are not applicable to the inquiry. Instead, a review of the facts and law clearly show that this farm rises above a “hobby farm” and, as a reasonable farmer would devote the majority of his or her working hours to operating this farm, it can be considered a “commercial farming operation.”

Conclusion

If in fact the County determines that the criteria are “clear and objective” and can be applied, the analysis should be limited to: 1. does the farm operator need assistance and 2. would a reasonable farmer devote the majority of his or her working hours to operating this farm. 

Written and oral testimony clearly support the conclusion that the farmers need assistance as there is more work than can be done by the Operator, the farmers are advancing in age and, therefore, there is need for more assistance. Secondly, there is adequate evidence in the record provided by the Applicant and Operator, as well as others who have offered testimony in favor of the Application, that these farmers are farming cattle and hay for the purpose of making a profit, the farm currently produces income, the farmers do not have other employment, and the farmers are out farming the property all the time. We believe that a reasonable person would listen to this testimony about work being performed by the farmers of birthing cows, building fences, and registering cattle and easily conclude that this farm is not a “hobby farm,” that the farmers are devoting a majority of their time to the commercial portion of the farm, and that they do require assistance. 

We respectfully request that the Staff decision to deny the application is reversed and urge you to vote to approve the family farm help dwelling application, LU-22-023.

Respectfully, 

[image: Text, letter

Description automatically generated]

Andree Phelps

Attorney for Applicant and Owner with Micheal Reeder









Andree Phelps Law, LLC

Andrée Phelps • Attorney at Law

375 W. 4th Ave, Suite 204 • Eugene, OR 97401
phone: 541.221.1431 • andree@andreephelpslaw.com  



Andree Phelps Law, LLC

Andrée Phelps • Attorney-at-Law

image1.jpeg







image2.png







image3.jpg

APL








 

 

Andree Phelps Law, LLC 
Andrée Phelps • Attorney at Law 

375 W. 4th Ave, Suite 204 • Eugene, OR 97401 

phone: 541.221.1431 • andree@andreephelpslaw.com   

November 22, 2022 

Via email  
Inga.williams@co.benton.or.us 
 
Inga Williams, Planner 
Benton County Community Development 
4500 SW Research Way 
Corvallis, OR 97333 
 
Re.  Letter in Support of Appeal of Staff Denial of LU-22-023 
 Cynthia Crosby & Connie Jordan - Family Farm Help Dwelling Application 
 

Thank you, Commissioners, for your time and attention paid to the testimony related to the 
family farm help dwelling application as it was presented at the Planning Commission hearing on 
November 15, 2022. We anticipate that the testimony of Cynthia Crosby (the “Applicant”) and 
Connie Jordan (the “Owner/Operator”), as well as the Applicant’s daughter and Applicant’s 
neighbor, was persuasive in determining that the Application meets all relevant Benton County 
Code (BCC) criteria and that approval of the Application would allow successive generational 
farming and, therefore, promote Goal 3 policy. As the record has remained open, we provide the 
following additional written testimony.   

Family farm help dwellings are a permitted use in exclusive farm zones (EFU). In Oregon, 
there is an overriding statutory and regulatory policy to prevent agricultural land from being 
diverted to non-agricultural use, 1  thereby preserving and maintaining agricultural lands. The 
ability to place a dwelling on EFU farmland for the purpose of family farming assistance was first 
put into law in 1981.2 These applications are one of the least common farm dwelling applications 
in the state with “the number of dwellings approved for relatives whose assistance is needed on 
the farm has been fairly consistent over the past six years averaging 30 dwelling approvals a year.”3 
State statute, Oregon Administrative Rule (OAR), and the BCC permit this type of dwelling on 
EFU farmland. The family farm dwelling statute is found within section (d) of ORS 215.283,4 the 

 

1 Hopper v. Clackamas County, 87 Or. App 167, 924 and OAR 660-033-0010 
2 See ORS 215.213(1)(e), 1981. 
3 Oregon Farm and Forest Land Use Report, 2018-2019, DLCD, November 15, 2020, 14. 
4 ORS 215.283(d) A dwelling on real property used for farm use if the dwelling is occupied by a relative of the farm 
operator or the farm operator’s spouse, which means a child, parent, stepparent, grandchild, grandparent, 

183Page 251 of 384

mailto:Inga.williams@co.benton.or.us


  • 2 of 6 • 

 

Andree Phelps Law, LLC 

Andrée Phelps • Attorney-at-Law 

state rule is found at OAR 660-033-0130(9),5 and the BCC is found at 55.120 (1)(b).6 The BCC 
implements the OAR while adding that BCC 55.120 does not apply to marijuana farms. 

There were multiple questions from Commissioners at the November 15 hearing relating 
to issues such as parcel size, farm income, contributions to markets, and concerning what 
constitutes “requires assistance.” There appeared to be some confusion if this was an appropriate 
query as the staff mentioned many of these issues in their analysis.7  The ORS, OAR, and BCC do 
not include requirements such as minimum acreage or minimum income from the property; these 
are requirements for other types of EFU dwellings8 and we strongly disagree with County counsel 
that, “LUBA has provided clear guidance on how to interpret, and apply that phrase [commercial 
farming operation].”9 These questions are arising exactly because the term “commercial farming 
operation” is undefined and an analysis of what constitutes needed assistance is likewise undefined 
by the state or in BCC; therefore, the County cannot, as the BCC is written, apply this criteria. 

However, if the County choses to apply the terms “commercial farming operation” and 
what constitutes “requiring assistance,” LUBA has identified pertinent analyses in several family 
farm help dwelling cases. For the two criteria10 that were found to be not met by County Staff, 
LUBA has determined that for the query: 

1. if the help is required, means if the farmers need assistance11 and 
2. if the scale and intensity of the farming operation constitutes a 

commercial farming operation, means to determine if a reasonable 

farmer would devote the majority of his or her working hours to 
operating the farm.12  

 

stepgrandparent, sibling, stepsibling, niece, nephew or first cousin of either, if the farm operator does or will require 
the assistance of the relative in the management of the farm use and the dwelling is located on the same lot or 
parcel as the dwelling of the farm operator. ……. (emphasis added) 
5 OAR 660-033-0130 (9)(a) To qualify for a relative farm help dwelling, a dwelling shall be occupied by relatives 
whose assistance in the management and farm use of the existing commercial farming operation is required by 
the farm operator. (emphasis added) 
6 BCC 55.120 (1)(b)  The dwelling will be located on the same lot or parcel as the dwelling of the farm operator, and 
occupied by a child, parent, stepparent, grandchild, grandparent, stepgrandparent, sibling, stepsibling, niece, nephew 
or first cousin of the farm operator or the farm operator’s spouse, whose assistance in the management and farm 
use of the existing commercial farming operation (not including marijuana) is required by the farm operator; 
(emphasis added) 
7 Staff Report at 6 and Benton County Memorandum at 2. 
8 Many of these factors were discussed in the staff report to determine if the farming operation could meet a “safe 
harbor” that the farm constituted a “commercial agricultural enterprise.” 
9 Croney Memorandum at 9. 
10  The Staff Report and subsequent Memorandum from Benton staff continue to conflate these two issues in their 
analysis. However, the Richards case is clear that these are two separate inquiries.  
11 “The selling of high-grade hay that Mr. Woods produced in farming is a farm use, and, if sold or used as part 
of the existing commercial cattle operation, would be part of a commercial farm operation.” Harland at 9. 
12 “Roughly speaking, we believe that a commercial farming operation is one that is sufficient scale and intensity that 
would induce and require a reasonable farmer to devote the majority of his or her working hours to operating a farm 
on the subject property.” Richards at 14. 

184Page 252 of 384



  • 3 of 6 • 

 

Andree Phelps Law, LLC 

Andrée Phelps • Attorney-at-Law 

I. Oral testimony related to “scale and intensity” and help “required” provided at 
the November 15, 2022 hearing 

In addition to the photographic evidence and estimates of time spent working on specific 
farm tasks that were supplied in Exhibits A and B13 by Applicant’s attorney, the following is a 
summary of oral evidence provided to the Commission at the November 15, 2022 hearing related 
to the operation’s “scale and intensity” and “assistance needed:”  

1. that, of the 64-acre site, the home site consists of approximately 5 acres, the orchard is 
approximately 2 acres, and the horse barn and pastures (shared with cattle) are 
approximately 4 to 5 acres. The remainder of the property, more than 50 acres, is 
predominantly dedicated to the cattle operation;  

2. the cows are Dexter breed that are easier to manage than other breeds as they are lighter 
and gentler, they produce A2 milk, they are bred for meat, and the cattle on the farm are 
registered and individually identified; 

3. the advanced ages of the Applicant and Operator (in their 70s) and that their need for 
farming assistance has escalated over the years since they purchased the property; 

4. the Applicant and Operator have been farming the property for more than seven (7) 
years, improving the prior existing farming practice that included more than twenty (20) 
head of cattle in the sale; 

5. the Applicant and Operator have made over a million-dollar investment in the property, 
6. neither the Applicant nor the Operator has employment outside the farm; 
7. the farming activities that the Applicant and Operator perform themselves include fixing 

fencing, baling and moving hay, managing invasive species by hand, birthing the cows 
and managing the bull for breeding; 

8. the Applicant’s daughter and son-in-law currently work on the farm when they are 
needed and available; 

9. the daughter does not have other paid employment; 
10. the Operator hires help or asks for relative assistance particularly for tasks that require 

heaving lifting; 
11. the neighbor gave testimony that the Applicant and Operator are seen farming the 

property all the time, 
12. and, finally, the Applicant and Operator intend this farm to be their legacy to pass onto 

their relatives. 

In addition to the above oral testimony by the proponents of the family farm help dwelling 
application, there was also testimony offered, contrary to the opinion of County counsel, that the 
commercial farming is not limited to a look at the “cattle sales and some hay sales.”14 It appears 
that part of the issue in reviewing this application is that the farm has other farming practices 
occurring simultaneously on the property that are not part of the commercial endeavor. The 
Application and Owner agree that the orchard and horse activities are not commercial endeavors 
and, currently, fall into the category of a “hobby farm” and farming for “pleasure.” However, any 

 

13 September 14, 2022 Letter in Support of Appeal of Staff Denial, submitted by Micheal Reeder 
14 Willaims/Nichols Memo at 3. 

185Page 253 of 384



  • 4 of 6 • 

 

Andree Phelps Law, LLC 

Andrée Phelps • Attorney-at-Law 

equipment, buildings, and activities related to hay production used to feed and care for cattle are 
also to be considered as part of the commercial portion of the farming operation.15 

II. Relative’s help is “required” 
 

The staff conclude that the relatives’ help is not “absolutely needed” for management of 
the commercial farming operation and, therefore, it is not necessary for the relatives to live on the 
property. There is no requirement in the state statute, state rule, or the BCC to take into account 
the amount of help, type of help, or even whether that help must be year-round.  Although there 
has been some back and forth about how to define the term “required,” we would like to clarify 
that LUBA has supported the idea that “required” is not nearly as stringent as staff have stated. 
Prior cases have told us that “required” is met when circumstances, such as age or illness, that 
would result in the operator being unable to perform the tasks required by the farming operator, 
meets the criteria. LUBA has also found that an inquiry into whether the help needed would fully 
occupy the work hours of either the farmer or the relative or that there be a particular break down 
of farm duties between the owner and the relative. Finally, even if assistance of the farm operator’s 
relatives is “nominal” it still meets the criteria.  

Here, as stated in oral and written testimony, the Applicant and Operator are in their 70s, 
and their time is devoted to the farm operation. The farmers, from time to time, rely on the help of 
their daughter Claire and her husband, and sometimes they have to hire help to perform tasks such 
as building fences when Claire is not available. Although it is unclear how Staff came to the 
conclusion that only “one person and sometimes a second person” is needed to work the 
commercial farming operation portion of the farm, the question here is much simpler: is the 
assistance needed by the farm operator. The answer to this question is affirmative.  

III. The farm is a “commercial agricultural operation” 
 

If the County attempts to define the the term “commercial agricultural operation,” it is the 
County’s obligation to articulate the thresholds that separate a “commercial” from a non-
commercial farming operation. The Richards case tells us that the County has some discretion in 
this determination, but that this determination constitutes a mixed question of fact and law.16 
However, because the County has not articulated any thresholds, and because “commercial 
farming operation” is a state term that is undefined, the County is afforded no deference in defining 
this term and this criterion is inapplicable.  

However, the facts presented from oral and written testimony about activities and time spent 
on the farming operation, by both the Applicant and the Operator, as well as the daughter and son-

 

15 Harland at 9. 
16 Richards v. Jefferson County, 79 Or 171 (2019) 

186Page 254 of 384



  • 5 of 6 • 

 

Andree Phelps Law, LLC 

Andrée Phelps • Attorney-at-Law 

in-law, are evidence that these farmers are knowledgeable about their farming practices, and they 
participate in their farming activities, and that they are devoted to farming. Even Staff acknowledge 
that, “they [the farmers] spend considerable time on these activities.”  

Although no thresholds are identified by the County, staff found that the criteria were not met 
based on: 

1. Time spent in running the commercial portion of the agricultural 
operations is a small portion of the overall agricultural activities 
occurring on the property that the majority of the farm operator’s time 
is not spent in the cattle breeding operation. Staff Report at 6. 

2. the cattle breeding operation does not contribute in a substantial way to 
the support of the family and so the relatives must support themselves 
by other means, with the majority of their time in that pursuit. Id.  

3. operation does not contribute substantially to the area's existing 
agricultural economy nor help maintain agricultural processors and 
established farm markets. Id. at 6-7. 

4. The size of the property, which is below the State’s established 
minimum acreage requirements, limits the amount of commercial 
agriculture that can be conducted. Id at 7. 

5. It appears unlikely that the size of the herd could be increased in any 
great capacity. Id. 

6. Income from fruit and vegetables and hay could be generated in the 
future but it is questionable that it would increase income or the scale of 
the commercial farming operation to a level significant enough for 
approval of an accessory dwelling. Id. 

7. whether the operations contribute to the area’s existing agricultural 
economy or will help maintain agricultural processors and established 
farm markets. Id.  

8. The applicant indicates the work requires approximately 2.3 full time 
people to work the entire farm, which includes Ms. Crosby and Ms. 
Jordan working full time, and a part time person for approximately 75 
hours a month. Ms. Crosby’s review of the activities, however, indicates 
that only one person, and sometimes a second individual, is necessary 
to provide management of the income producing portion of the farm 
use.17 Nov 9, 2022 Williams/Nichols Memo at 3. 

 

17 “The applicant indicates the work requires approximately 2.3 full time people to work the entire farm, which 
includes Ms. Crosby and Ms. Jordan working full time, and a part time person for approximately 75 hours a month. 
Ms. Crosby’s review of the activities, however, indicates that only one person, and sometimes a second individual, is 
necessary to provide management of the income producing portion of the farm use. The cattle breeding operation does 
not require a sufficient scale or intensity of effort to require a relative to live on the farm to provide help.”  

187Page 255 of 384



  • 6 of 6 • 

 

Andree Phelps Law, LLC 

Andrée Phelps • Attorney-at-Law 

Many of these reasons to deny are not supported by evidence, and many of these reasons to 
deny are not applicable to the inquiry. Instead, a review of the facts and law clearly show that this 
farm rises above a “hobby farm” and, as a reasonable farmer would devote the majority of his or 
her working hours to operating this farm, it can be considered a “commercial farming operation.” 

Conclusion 

If in fact the County determines that the criteria are “clear and objective” and can be 
applied, the analysis should be limited to: 1. does the farm operator need assistance and 2. would 
a reasonable farmer devote the majority of his or her working hours to operating this farm.  

Written and oral testimony clearly support the conclusion that the farmers need assistance 
as there is more work than can be done by the Operator, the farmers are advancing in age and, 
therefore, there is need for more assistance. Secondly, there is adequate evidence in the record 
provided by the Applicant and Operator, as well as others who have offered testimony in favor of 
the Application, that these farmers are farming cattle and hay for the purpose of making a profit, 
the farm currently produces income, the farmers do not have other employment, and the farmers 
are out farming the property all the time. We believe that a reasonable person would listen to this 
testimony about work being performed by the farmers of birthing cows, building fences, and 
registering cattle and easily conclude that this farm is not a “hobby farm,” that the farmers are 
devoting a majority of their time to the commercial portion of the farm, and that they do require 
assistance.  

We respectfully request that the Staff decision to deny the application is reversed and urge you to 
vote to approve the family farm help dwelling application, LU-22-023. 

Respectfully,  

 

Andree Phelps 
Attorney for Applicant and Owner with Micheal Reeder 
 

 

 

 

 

188Page 256 of 384



Submittal from Applicants' Agent 
after the record closed.

This was not given to the Planning Commission 
because it was submitted after the time period 

allowed for applicant rebuttal to additional 
public comment

189Page 257 of 384



 

 

Andree Phelps Law, LLC 
Andrée Phelps • Attorney at Law 

375 W. 4th Ave, Suite 204 • Eugene, OR 97401 

phone: 541.221.1431 • andree@andreephelpslaw.com   

December 6, 2022 

Via email  
Inga.williams@co.benton.or.us 
 
Inga Williams, Planner 
Benton County Community Development 
4500 SW Research Way 
Corvallis, OR 97333 
 
Re.  Letter Urging Inclusion of Prior Family Farm Help Dwelling Applications at Dec. 6 

Hearing 
Cynthia Crosby & Connie Jordan - Family Farm Help Dwelling Application LU-22-023 

 
Ms. Williams: 

Thank you for sending the documents compiled in response to the public records request regarding 
family farm-help dwelling applications submitted to Benton County over the past five years. 
Unfortunately, as these documents were received after the record was closed, these documents are not 
available to the Commissioner’s for their review at the December 6 hearing. After reviewing these 
documents, it appears that your discussions with prior applicants, as well as the findings from prior 
approved farm help dwelling applications, are aligned with our position: that meeting one of the three 
“safe harbors” is not required to find a farm to be a “commercial farming operation,” that the County 
distinguishes what rises above a “hobby or recreational farm” versus a commercial farm, that the farm 
income does not need to be large but should be more than the amount to qualify for a farm deferral, 
and that “requires assistance” is not defined as “absolutely necessary” or “essential.”1 You presented 
the County’s analogous position to the applicant for a prior family farm help dwelling, LU-22-021, in 
an email correspondence on April 22, 2022: 

Based on case law, the subjective [income] amount is: 

• more than merely demonstrating income necessary for farm deferral 
• less than income standard for primary dwelling ($80,000) 

 

1 In LU-21-065, the definition of “required” was found by the County to be “need for a particular purpose.” This is in 
alignment with the similarly less restrictive definition provided in the September 14, 2022 letter by Mr. Reeder from 
Webster’s Third New International Dictionary: “to call for as suitable or appropriate in a particular case.” 

190Page 258 of 384

mailto:Inga.williams@co.benton.or.us


  • 2 of 4 • 

 

Andree Phelps Law, LLC 

Andrée Phelps • Attorney-at-Law 

• set in a way to distinguish between a “hobby or recreational farm” and a “commercial 
farm.” 

See LUBA case Harland v. Polk Co., 2003.  While not definitive, it does lay out some 
guidelines; namely that the level of income to maintain farm deferral is probably not sufficient, 
and that a situation where all of the applicant’s income is derived from the farm (even if that 
total income is not large) probably is sufficient. (Also see March 29, 2019 email re. LU-19-010 
application.)2  

Unfortunately, the above analysis is not the analysis that has been brought forward to the 
Commissioners for this Application; the analysis for LU-22-023 has been limited to the farm use being 
required to meet one of the three Harland “safe harbors” in order to be considered a “commercial 
farming operation,” and “requires assistance” is being defined as “necessary.” Because of this 
incongruity, I urge you to share with the Commissioners at the December 6 hearing the analysis as you 
have represented it to prior family farm help dwelling applicants and that you share the documents 
resulting from our public records request, in particular, your email to Paul Spies on April 22, 2022 and 
the records relating to the two approved family farm help dwellings (LU-19-027 and LU-21-065). 

The email you sent to Paul Spies earlier this year is quite relevant to this Application, especially 
as it lays out your discussions with DLCD regarding analyzing farming practices based on investment 
that,  

… can potentially be demonstrated prior to generating a commercial level of 
income if the farm use in question requires multiple years of farming activity 
and significant investment prior to harvest and sales.  Examples are fruit or nut 
trees, and livestock.  A property owner who has made significant investment 
into establishing a crop or livestock farm operation that would have the 
potential to produce gross income at a commercial scale could be used to 
demonstrate an ‘existing commercial farm operation,’ when sale of crop or 
livestock is projected into the future.  

As you know, the Applicant and Farm Operator have made a significant investment in their 
farm, over $1 million; they are investing in fruit trees, irrigation, fencing, buildings, hay, and livestock 
– all farm uses that take a significant investment of money and time prior to regular harvest and sales. 
However, this investment was not considered a factor for the Crosby/Jordon farm and, instead, the 
Applicant was told in the hearing that consideration of the potential to produce future income from 

 

2 “You will need to demonstrate that your income is more than enough to merely qualify for a farm deferral but can be 
less than the income standard for a primary dwelling.” 

191Page 259 of 384



  • 3 of 4 • 

 

Andree Phelps Law, LLC 

Andrée Phelps • Attorney-at-Law 

these investments and their farm uses was not allowable in determining if this farm is a commercial 
farming operation.  

The two approved family farm help dwelling applications, LU-19-027 and LU-21-065, are 
likewise informative and are aligned with our position. 

Application LU-19-027 was approved for a 47-acre farm planted with hazelnut trees; the Farm 
Operator had physical limitations, and this application was approved as an “existing commercial 
farming operation” without the applicant showing any income. As laid out in your letter quoted 
above for a different application, the County looked to potential income from the hazelnut crop as 
hazelnuts require substantial investment before harvest and sales can be realized. The County found 
that the farm was distinguishable from a ‘hobby’ or ‘recreational’ farm and that, although the farm had 
not generated any income, the future income would be the operator’s sole source of income, the farm, 
therefore, met the threshold of a “commercial farming operation.”3 Benton County also found that the 
farm met the “requires assistance” element because the Operator had a physical limitation and that the 
majority of duties on a hazelnut farm requires the work more than two people.4 The “smaller” size of 
this farm, the limited farm income while taking into account potential income based on investment and 
time of the fruit and cattle operations, and taking into account evidence that the farming duties require 
more help that the farmer can perform, are all aligned with our position and are contrary to the staff 
position held in LU-22-023.  

Application LU-21-065 was approved for a 118-acre property planted in grass seed, where the 
Farm Operator was aging, and the Operator only verbally indicated that his son is required to help. 
Here, the definition of “required” was found by the County to be “need for a particular purpose.” A 
definition much less restrictive than the current case, where required is defined as “absolutely 
necessary” or “essential.” The County also analyzed the farming practice outside the three Harland 
“safe harbors,” used “scale and intensity” per the Richards v. Jefferson County case to analyze whether 
the farm was a “commercial farming operation.”5 This definition of “required,” the verbal statement 
that the relative’s assistance is required due to aging as being adequate evidence to meet the “assistance 

 

3 “As of the writing of this report the farm operation has not generated an income. The applicant has not and cannot – 
immediately – provide evidence of income from the subject farming operation to base an income comparison provided in 
Harland v. Polk County.  ….. [The Operator’s] only source of income will be from the farming operation in the subject 
property…. This is comparable to the factor used in the Harland case in distinguishing a commercial farm from a ‘hobby’ 
or ‘recreational’ farm.’” Staff Report Page 6. 
4 “As described by the Farm Operator ….limitations posed by a health condition requires she receive assistance with the 
day-to-day operation of the hazelnut farm.” Staff Report Page 5. Support for approval was letter from a crop consultant that 
“the majority of duties necessary to operate a profitable hazelnut farm require two or more people. The application has 
identified the management and labor of the hazelnut farm will be distributed between the Farm Operator and the Relative 
of the Farm Operator.” Staff Report Page 6. 
5 “The scale and intensity of this applicants’ farming operation indicates that it can be considered a commercial operation.” 

192Page 260 of 384



  • 4 of 4 • 

 

Andree Phelps Law, LLC 

Andrée Phelps • Attorney-at-Law 

required” element, as well as the use of methods aside from the three “safe harbors” analysis are all 
aligned with our position and are contrary to the staff position held in LU-22-023.  

Again, we urge you to reconcile these contrary positions and share with the Commissioners at the 
December 6 hearing the analysis as you have represented it to prior family farm help dwelling 
applicants and the documents resulting from our public records request, in particular, your email to 
Paul Spies on April 22, 2022 and the records relating to the two approved family farm help dwellings 
(LU-19-027 and LU-21-065). 

Thank you for considering. We look forward to the hearing tonight.  

Respectfully,  

 

Andree Phelps 
Attorney for Applicant and Owner with Micheal Reeder 
 

 

 

193Page 261 of 384



Application to Appeal 
the Planning 

Commission's Decision 
Information submitted 

by applicant for the 
February 21 Board of 

County 
Commissioners' 

Hearing

194Page 262 of 384



195Page 263 of 384



196Page 264 of 384



197Page 265 of 384



198Page 266 of 384



199Page 267 of 384



200Page 268 of 384



201Page 269 of 384



202Page 270 of 384



203Page 271 of 384



204Page 272 of 384



205Page 273 of 384



206Page 274 of 384



207Page 275 of 384



208Page 276 of 384



209Page 277 of 384



210Page 278 of 384



211Page 279 of 384



212Page 280 of 384



213Page 281 of 384



214Page 282 of 384



215Page 283 of 384



216Page 284 of 384



217Page 285 of 384



218Page 286 of 384



219Page 287 of 384



220Page 288 of 384



221Page 289 of 384



222Page 290 of 384



223Page 291 of 384



224Page 292 of 384



225Page 293 of 384



226Page 294 of 384



227Page 295 of 384



228Page 296 of 384



229Page 297 of 384



230Page 298 of 384



231Page 299 of 384



232Page 300 of 384



233Page 301 of 384



234Page 302 of 384



235Page 303 of 384



236Page 304 of 384



237Page 305 of 384



238Page 306 of 384



239Page 307 of 384



240Page 308 of 384



241Page 309 of 384



242Page 310 of 384



243Page 311 of 384



244Page 312 of 384



245Page 313 of 384



246Page 314 of 384



247Page 315 of 384



248Page 316 of 384



249Page 317 of 384



250Page 318 of 384



251Page 319 of 384



252Page 320 of 384



253Page 321 of 384



254Page 322 of 384



255Page 323 of 384



256Page 324 of 384



257Page 325 of 384



258Page 326 of 384



259Page 327 of 384



260Page 328 of 384



261Page 329 of 384



262Page 330 of 384



263Page 331 of 384



264Page 332 of 384



265Page 333 of 384



266Page 334 of 384



267Page 335 of 384



268Page 336 of 384



269Page 337 of 384



270Page 338 of 384



271Page 339 of 384



272Page 340 of 384



273Page 341 of 384



274Page 342 of 384



275Page 343 of 384



276Page 344 of 384



277Page 345 of 384



278Page 346 of 384



279Page 347 of 384



280Page 348 of 384



281Page 349 of 384



282Page 350 of 384



283Page 351 of 384



284Page 352 of 384



285Page 353 of 384



286Page 354 of 384



287Page 355 of 384



288Page 356 of 384



Page 357 of 384



Page 358 of 384



Page 359 of 384



Page 360 of 384



Page 361 of 384



Page 362 of 384



Page 363 of 384



NEW BUSINESS 

Page 364 of 384



BOC Agenda Checklist Master

Agenda Placement and Contacts

Suggested Agenda
Date

View Agenda Tracker

Suggested
Placement*

Department*

Contact Name *

Phone Extension*

Meeting Attendee
Name *

Item Title *

Item Involves*

Estimated Time *

Board/Committee
Involvement*

03/07/23

BOC Tuesday Meeting

Finance

Rick Crager

6246

Rick Crager

Agenda Item Details

Resolution R2023-003 Authorizing a Financing of Real and Personal Property in a 
Principal Amount Not to Exceed $36,000,000 and Related Matters 

Check all that apply
Appointments
Budget
Contract/Agreement
Discussion and Action
Discussion Only
Document Recording
Employment
Notice of Intent
Order/Resolution
Ordinance/Public Hearing 1st Reading
Ordinance/Public Hearing 2nd Reading
Proclamation
Project/Committee Update
Public Comment
Special Report
Other

20 minutes

Yes
No

Page 365 of 384

https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1S2peKETqeC8LwBJ3LVhQ1eRm_0Lt4i8Zh9nFeOzJ40Y


Advertisement* Yes
No

Page 366 of 384



Issues and Fiscal Impact

Identified Salient
Issues*

Options*

Fiscal Impact*

Fiscal Impact
Description*

Item Issues and Description

The Board is presented with a resolution to authorize the County Administrator and
Chief Financial Officer to negotiate, execute, and deliver a financing agreement
that will provide up to $36,000,000 of county resources for the development and
construction of a new County courthouse and District Attorney Office. Proceeds
from the agreement will cover 100% of the determined cost of the District
Attorney's Office, and 50% of the determined cost for the new Courthouse. The
other 50% of the Courthouse cost will be provided by the State of Oregon Judicial
Department. 

In addition, the Resolution authorizes the appointment of Hawkins Delafield &
Wood LLP as Special Counsel for the Financing Agreement.

Option 1 - Approve the Resolution as proposed.
Option 2 - Approve the Resolution with amendments.
Option 3 - Reject the Resolution.

Yes
No

This resolution will have a biennial fiscal impact to the County General Fund from
increased Debt Service costs related to liquidating the financing agreement over
its financial negotiated term.

Page 367 of 384



2040 Thriving Communities Initiative

Mandated
Service?*

2040 Thriving Communities Initiative
Describe how this agenda checklist advances the core values or focus areas of 2040, or supports a strategy of a
departmental goal.

To review the initiative, visit the website HERE.

Core Values*

Explain Core Values
Selections*

Focus Areas and
Vision*

Explain Focus Areas
and Vision
Selection*

Yes
No

Values and Focus Areas
Check boxes that reflect each applicable value or focus area and explain how they will be advanced.

Select all that apply.
Vibrant, Livable Communities
Supportive People Resources
High Quality Environment and Access
Diverse Economy that Fits
Community Resilience
Equity for Everyone
Health in All Actions
N/A

Provides funding to support better justice services for the community through a
more efficient, safe, and accessible facility.

Select all that apply.
Community Safety
Emergency Preparedness
Outdoor Recreation
Prosperous Economy
Environment and Natural Resources
Mobility and Transportation
Housing and Growth
Arts, Entertainment, Culture, and History
Food and Agriculture
Lifelong Learning and Education
N/A

Provides needed improvements to existing facilities and infrastructure that
supports safety and accountability.

Page 368 of 384

https://thebee.in.co.benton.or.us/2040


Recommendations and Motions

Staff
Recommendations*

Meeting Motions*

Item Recommendations and Motions

Staff recommends approval of the Resolution as proposed.

I move to ...
....approve Resolution R2023-003 authorizing a financing of Real and Personal
Property in a Principal Amount Not to Exceed $36,000,000.

Page 369 of 384



Attachments, Comments, and Submission

Attachments

Comments (optional)

Department
Approver

Item Comments and Attachments

Upload any attachments to be included in the agenda, preferably as PDF files. If more than one
attachment / exhibit, please indicate "1", "2", "3" or "A", "B", "C" on the documents.

Authorizing Resolution (Benton County Financing

Agreement 2023) - Revised.DOCX
29.21KB

If you have any questions, please call ext.6800

RICHARD CRAGER

Page 370 of 384



1. 

2. 

3. 

4.

Page 371 of 384



Page 1 of 4 – Resolution 
3763018.4  046597  RSIND

BEFORE THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS  

FOR THE STATE OF OREGON, FOR THE COUNTY OF BENTON 

A Resolution Authorizing a Financing of Real 

and Personal Property in a Principal Amount 

Not to Exceed $36,000,000 and Related Matters 

) 

) 

) 
RESOLUTION NO. R2023-003 

WHEREAS, Benton County, Oregon (the “County”) is authorized by Oregon Revised Statutes 

(“ORS”) Section 271.390 to enter into financing agreements to finance real or personal property that the 

Board of County Commissioners (the “Board”) determines is needed so long as the estimated weighted 

average life of the financing agreement does not exceed the estimated dollar weighted average life of the 

property that is financed; and  

WHEREAS, the County is authorized by ORS 287A.105 to incur bonded indebtedness within the 

meaning of Section 10, Article XI of the Oregon Constitution in an amount not to exceed one percent of 

the real market value of the taxable property in the County in the form of a financing agreement, and to 

commit the County’s full faith and credit and taxing power pursuant to ORS 287A.315 to pay the amounts 

due under the financing agreement; and  

WHEREAS, it is desirable to obtain financing for the construction of a facility that will include 

both a new County courthouse and district attorney offices (collectively the “Project”).  The financing 

will be used to provide resources for the construction of the district attorney offices, and  a match (up to 

50%) to the State of Oregon’s contribution for a new County courthouse in an aggregate principal amount 

of not more than $36,000,000 pursuant to ORS Sections 271.390 and ORS 287A.105, and other 

applicable provisions of ORS Chapter 287A. 

WHEREAS, the Project constitutes real or personal property, and the Board hereby determines 

the Project is needed. 

WHEREAS, the estimated weighted average life of the financing agreement shall not exceed the 

estimated dollar weighted average life of the Project. 

NOW, THEREFORE be it hereby resolved: 

SECTION 1. AUTHORIZATION. 

The County is hereby authorized to finance its contribution to the Project under the authority of 

ORS Sections 271.390 and ORS 287A.105, and other applicable provisions of ORS Chapter 287A, by 

entering into one or more financing agreements, loan agreements, credit facilities, or other financing 

documents in an aggregate principal amount of not more than $36,000,000 (the “Financing 

Agreements”).  The County may also pay costs associated with the Financing Agreements and any 

associated Obligations (as defined below) with proceeds of the Financing Agreements.   

Page 372 of 384



 

Page 2 of 4 – Resolution  
3763018.4  046597  RSIND 

SECTION 2. DELEGATION. 

The County Administrator, the Chief Financial Officer or the person authorized to act on behalf 

of the County Administrator or the Chief Finance Officer (each of whom is referred to as a “County 

Official”) is hereby authorized, on behalf of the County and without further action by the Board, to: 

1) Negotiate, execute, and deliver one or more Financing Agreements to accomplish the 

financing authorized in this Resolution.  Subject to the limitations of this Resolution, the Financing 

Agreements may be in such form and contain such terms as the County Official may approve, including 

covenants for the benefit of the lenders or credit enhancement providers. 

2) Negotiate, execute and deliver one or more escrow agreements or similar documents (the 

“Escrow Agreements”) that provide for the issuance of one or more series of “full faith and credit 

obligations” (the “Obligations”) that represent ownership interests in the principal and interest payments 

due from the County under the Financing Agreements.  Subject to the limitations of this Resolution, the 

Escrow Agreements and each series of Obligations may be in such form and contain such terms as the 

County Official may approve, including covenants for the benefit of the lenders or credit enhancement 

providers. 

3) Deem final and authorize the distribution of a preliminary official statement for each series 

of Obligations and authorize the preparation and distribution of a final official statement or other 

disclosure document for each series of Obligations. 

4) Undertake to provide continuing disclosure for each series of Obligations in accordance 

with Rule 15c2-12 of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission. 

5) Apply for ratings for each series of Obligations, determine whether to purchase municipal 

bond insurance or obtain other forms of credit enhancements for each series of Obligations, enter into 

agreements with the providers of credit enhancement, and execute and deliver related documents. 

6) Enter into additional covenants for the benefit of the purchasers of the Financing 

Agreements or Obligations that the County Official determines are desirable to obtain more favorable 

terms for the Financing Agreements. 

7) Appoint and enter into agreements with service providers whose services are desirable for 

the financing, including municipal advisor, paying agent, and escrow agent. 

8) Determine the final principal amount of each Financing Agreement, the interest rate or 

rates that each Financing Agreement and each series of Obligations shall bear, the County’s prepayment 

rights, and other terms of each Financing Agreement and each series of Obligations. 

Page 373 of 384



 

Page 3 of 4 – Resolution  
3763018.4  046597  RSIND 

9) Solicit competitive bids for the purchase of the Obligations and award the sale to the 

bidders offering the most favorable terms to the County, select underwriters to purchase the Obligations 

and negotiate the terms of the sale of those Obligations with the underwriters, or place any Financing 

Agreement directly with a commercial bank or other lender. 

10) Issue any qualifying Financing Agreement as a “tax-exempt bond” bearing interest that is 

excludable from gross income under Section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the 

“Code”), designate any Financing Agreement as a “qualified tax-exempt obligation” pursuant to Section 

265(b)(3) of the Code, if applicable, and enter into covenants to maintain the excludability of interest on 

those Financing Agreements from gross income under the Code. 

11) Issue any Financing Agreement as a “taxable bond” bearing interest that is includable in 

gross income under the Code. 

12) Execute and deliver any other certificates or documents and take any other actions that 

the County Official determines are desirable to carry out this Resolution. 

SECTION 3. SECURITY. 

The Financing Agreements shall constitute unconditional obligations of the County, which are 

payable from all legally available funds of the County.  Pursuant to ORS 287A.315, the County Official 

may pledge the County’s full faith and credit and taxing power within the limitations of Sections 11 and 

11b of Article XI of the Oregon Constitution, and any and all of the County’s legally available funds, to 

make the payments due under the Financing Agreements.  The Financing Agreements may also be 

secured by any unspent proceeds of the Financing Agreements. 

SECTION 4. SELECTION OF SPECIAL COUNSEL. 

The County appoints Hawkins Delafield & Wood LLP as Special Counsel for the Financing 

Agreements.  

  

Page 374 of 384



 

Page 4 of 4 – Resolution  
3763018.4  046597  RSIND 

SECTION 5. EFFECTIVE DATE. 

This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption. 

Adopted this 7th day of March, 2023. 

Signed this 7th day of March, 2023. 

 

 BENTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

  

 

 Pat Malone, Chair 

 

 

 

 Xanthippe Augerot, Vice Chair 

 

 

 

 Nancy Wyse, Commissioner 

Approved as to Form:  

 

 

 

Vance Croney, County Counsel  
 

Page 375 of 384



BOC Agenda Checklist Master

Agenda Placement and Contacts

Suggested Agenda
Date

View Agenda Tracker

Suggested
Placement*

Department*

Contact Name *

Phone Extension*

Meeting Attendee
Name *

Item Title *

Item Involves*

Estimated Time *

Board/Committee
Involvement*

03/07/23

BOC Tuesday Meeting

Board of Commissioners

Amanda Makepeace

6461

Joe Kerby, County Administrator

Agenda Item Details

Letter of Support for Corvallis Housing First's Grant Application to Oregon Housing
and Community Services

Check all that apply
Appointments
Budget
Contract/Agreement
Discussion and Action
Discussion Only
Document Recording
Employment
Notice of Intent
Order/Resolution
Ordinance/Public Hearing 1st Reading
Ordinance/Public Hearing 2nd Reading
Proclamation
Project/Committee Update
Public Comment
Special Report
Other

5

Yes
No

Page 376 of 384

https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1S2peKETqeC8LwBJ3LVhQ1eRm_0Lt4i8Zh9nFeOzJ40Y


Advertisement* Yes
No

Page 377 of 384



Issues and Fiscal Impact

Identified Salient
Issues*

Options*

Fiscal Impact*

Item Issues and Description

Addressing homelessness is crucial across the county; this letter is to support
Corvallis Housing First's (CHF's) grant application to Oregon Housing and
Community Services to permanently fund 46 safe and affordable housing units at
Third Street Commons.

Approve issuing the letter of support for Corvallis Housing First's grant application.

Decline to approve the letter of support for Corvallis Housing First's grant
application.

Yes
No

Page 378 of 384



2040 Thriving Communities Initiative

Mandated
Service?*

2040 Thriving Communities Initiative
Describe how this agenda checklist advances the core values or focus areas of 2040, or supports a strategy of a
departmental goal.

To review the initiative, visit the website HERE.

Core Values*

Explain Core Values
Selections*

Focus Areas and
Vision*

Explain Focus Areas
and Vision
Selection*

Yes
No

Values and Focus Areas
Check boxes that reflect each applicable value or focus area and explain how they will be advanced.

Select all that apply.
Vibrant, Livable Communities
Supportive People Resources
High Quality Environment and Access
Diverse Economy that Fits
Community Resilience
Equity for Everyone
Health in All Actions
N/A

Creation of 46 safe and affordable housing units is an investment in the community
and will serve to improve the health, safety, and welfare for those housed there.

Select all that apply.
Community Safety
Emergency Preparedness
Outdoor Recreation
Prosperous Economy
Environment and Natural Resources
Mobility and Transportation
Housing and Growth
Arts, Entertainment, Culture, and History
Food and Agriculture
Lifelong Learning and Education
N/A

Fair and equitable housing is a continuing issue in Oregon and Benton County;
this is an effort to make housing available to individuals most at risk of
homelessness.

Page 379 of 384

https://thebee.in.co.benton.or.us/2040


Recommendations and Motions

Staff
Recommendations*

Meeting Motions*

Item Recommendations and Motions

Staff recommends approval of the letter of support for Corvallis Housing First's
grant application to Oregon Housing and Community Services to permanently fund
46 safe and affordable housing units at Third Street Commons.

I move to ...
...approve issuing the letter of support for Corvallis Housing First's grant
application to Oregon Housing and Community Services to permanently fund 46
safe and affordable housing units at Third Street Commons.

OR

... decline to approve the letter of support for Corvallis Housing First's grant
application to Oregon Housing and Community Services to permanently fund 46
safe and affordable housing units at Third Street Commons.

Page 380 of 384



Attachments, Comments, and Submission

Attachments

Comments (optional)

Department
Approver

Item Comments and Attachments

Upload any attachments to be included in the agenda, preferably as PDF files. If more than one
attachment / exhibit, please indicate "1", "2", "3" or "A", "B", "C" on the documents.

5.1 Third St Commons Support Letter.docx 67.83KB

If you have any questions, please call ext.6800

MAURA KWIATKOWSKI

Page 381 of 384



1.  

 

2.  

 

3.  

 

4.  

 
 

 

Page 382 of 384



 
 
 

Board of Commissioners 
Office: (541) 766-6800 

Fax: (541) 766-6893 

4500 SW Research Way 
Corvallis, OR 97333 

co.benton.or.us 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
March 7, 2023 
 
 
 
Andrea Myhre, Executive Director 
Corvallis Housing First 
2311 NW Van Buren Avenue 
Corvallis, Oregon 97330 
 
 
Re: Letter of Support for Third Street Commons and Funding Requested by Corvallis 

Housing First 
 
 
Dear Ms. Myhre: 
 
The Benton County Board of Commissioners is pleased to provide this letter supporting Third 
Street Commons and Corvallis Housing First’s application to Oregon Housing and Community 
Services (OHCS) for Permanent Supportive Housing funding.  Third Street Commons will 
provide 46 safe and affordable housing units for our community's most vulnerable.  
 
Benton County is a partner along with the City of Corvallis in creating the Home, Opportunity, 
Planning and Equity (HOPE) Advisory Board. The HOPE Advisory Board is a joint effort between 
Benton County and the City of Corvallis to facilitate a comprehensive, coordinated response from 
the county, cities, and diverse community partners, leaders, and persons experiencing 
homelessness. A HOPE Advisory Board's policy recommendation is to increase units for 
permanent supportive housing.  Third Street Commons is squarely aligned with our goals. 
 
Homelessness in Benton County is increasing.  Post-pandemic impacts on vulnerable people, 
steady upward trends in real estate costs, and gaps in critical support systems contribute to this 
increase. Benton County is committed to improvements in our local support systems that 
contribute to addressing homelessness.  Corvallis Housing First is an essential partner in this 
significant effort to impact our community positively.  
 
Developing Third Street Commons is an important project within our community’s systematic 
response to homelessness.  Benton County is partnering with CHF to bring about this project. We 

Page 383 of 384



Ms. Andrea Myhre 
Re: Letter of Support for Third Street Commons and Funding 
           Requested by Corvallis Housing First 
March 7, 2023 
Page 2 
 
 
 
 
encourage OHCS to support Corvallis Housing First’s application for permanent supportive 
housing funding. 
 
Sincerely, 
BENTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
 
 
 
 
Pat Malone    Xanthippe Augerot   Nancy Wyse 
Chair     Vice Chair    Commissioner 
 
 

Page 384 of 384



BCTT Workplan 
Feb. - Apr. 2023 

 

Sunday  Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday 
February 26 27 28 March 1 2 3 4 

 SUBS Meet to 
Refine F&Rs for 

Draft 5 

SUBS Meet to 
Refine F&Rs for 

Draft 5 

SUBS Meet to 
Refine F&Rs for 

Draft 5 

   

5 6 BOC Update  7 8 9 10 11 

 SUBS Meet to 
Refine F&Rs 
and Create 

Draft 5 

SUBS Meet to 
Refine F&Rs 
and Create 

Draft 5 

SUBS Meet to 
Refine F&Rs 
and Create 

Draft 5 

Sustainability 
Coalition Fair  
(Topic: BCTT 
Process and  

SMMP)   
Fair: (5-7)  
Town Hall:  

(7-9) 

  

12 13                       14 15 16 17 18 

 SUBs Meet for 
Final Revisions 

 

 
SUBs Meet for 
Final Revisions 

 

Draft 5 Issued 
W/O Appendix 

 
Robust  

Multi-Channel 
Outreach: 

3/15 – 4/11 
 

Public Survey 
on Draft Recs 

Opens at Noon  
WG Meeting 
1:30 to 7:30 

Two Comment 
Periods: 

1:45 - 2:15 
5:00 - 5:30 

  
 

Public Survey 
Open  

 

Public Survey 
Open 

19 20 BOC Update 
21 

22 23 24 25 

 
Public Survey 

Open 
Public Survey 

Open 
Final Draft (6) 
w/ Appendix 
WG Informal 
Poll Opens at 

Noon 

 
Public Survey 

Open 
WG Informal 

Poll Open 

 
Noon Close: 

Public Survey & 
WG Informal 

Polling  
 

PM: Both 
Survey Results 

Distributed  

Final WG 
Meeting & 

Formal Polling* 
1:30 to 7:30 

Two Comment 
Periods: 

1:45 - 2:15 
5:00 - 5:30 

 

* On Body of the WG Report, Not 
on the Appendix, which contains 

SUB working papers, etc.  The 
Appendix SUB sections will be 

approved by the Subcommittees, 
but not the full Workgroup.  

While linked to the findings and 
recommendations for ease of 

reference, they are for 
background purposes only.  

26 27 28 29 30 31 April 1 

 SUBs Avail for 
Clarification on 
Appendix Only 

SUBs Avail for 
Clarification on 
Appendix Only 

SUBs Avail for 
Clarification on 
Appendix Only 

SUBs Avail for 
Clarification on 
Appendix Only 

WG/SUB*  
Statements 

Due @ Noon 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

*Current & Past 
Members 

Invited 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

       2 3 Publisher       4 Publisher       5 Publisher       6 Publisher       7 8 
 Final Report  

to Board & 
Public 

(Word Version) 

OPEN HOUSE 
Virtual 

(5 to 7 PM) 
 

Report Public 
Comment 

Period Opens  
(Input Survey 

by Topic) 

Comment 
Period 

 

Comment 
Period 

 

Comment 
Period 

Facilitator 
Format Rev 

Only 
 9 10 11 12 13             14 15 

Comment 
Period 

Fac. Format 
Review Only 

Comment 
Period 

At Publisher 

“Coffee Table” 
Version of 

Report to BOC 
Comment 

Period 
 

Comment 
Period 

 

Comment 
Period 

 

Noon: Public 
Comment 

Period Closes 
5 PM: Packet to 

BOC 

 

16 17 18 TBD    
  BOC Meeting 

(AFT/PM) 
 

BCTT Presents  
Public Comm.  

BOC Discussion 
BCTT 

Recognition 

 
 

BOC-Sponsored 
Public 

Involvement 
Under 

Development 

   

 



March 7, 2023 

Testimony before BC BOC regarding Landfill Franchise Agreement 

 

Good Morning - My name is Mark Yeager, I am a resident of Benton 
County. 

I am here today to raise public awareness regarding the current landfill 
franchise agreement between Benton County and Valley Landfills. 

That 20-year agreement was signed in December 2020 and it has 
several key sections that cause BC residents concern. 

I could find no record of any public involvement in this process except 
the Code required public hearing, that was held virtually, on December 
15th, 2020, just prior to adoption. Not surprisingly, no one testified 
because no one knew about it. 

First, Sections 4(c) and 5(b) of the FA state that VLI intends to apply to 
expand the landfill south of Coffin Butte Road by 2024.  

Coincidentally, per the franchise agreement, the FF monies paid to the 
County jump by over $1.4M per year in 2024, and the Host Fee jumps 
by $1 per ton. The landfill receives more than 1M tons per year. 

The staff reported to the BOC that those increased revenues were 
dependent on Republic gaining approval from the County for an 
expansion of the landfill. 

The agreement also says that if the County does not approve the 
expansion request by 2025, the FF revenue gets reduced by $1M per 
year and the Host Fee is reduced by $0.56 per ton.  

  



 

With these financial incentives built into an agreement signed by the 
BOC, how can the public be assured that the Planning Commission and 
the BOCs will make an unbiased decision regarding expanding the 
landfill?  

 

Next, Section 6 requires a $10M pollution liability insurance policy 
designed to defend VLI and Benton County from environmental 
lawsuits. While the policy limit is very low given the environmental risks 
at the landfill and costs of cleanups these days, it’s better than nothing, 
maybe. 

However, the liability insurance requirement in the agreement has a 
30-day notice escape clause. It states “If pollution liability insurance is 
not available or not available at a reasonable cost, Franchisee will give 
County notice of this event and Franchisee will not be in default of this 
agreement.” This does not seem like any real financial protection for 
the County and its residents. 

In sum, the FA language regarding financial incentives to approve an 
expansion south of CBR, and the very weak pollution liability clauses 
are concerns for Benton County residents. 

Neither of these topics have been discussed as part of the BCTT and 
they deserve meaningful public discussion regarding the future of the 
landfill. 

Thank you for your time. 


	230307 Minutes of March 7, 2023 Board Meeting
	230307_tu AGENDA
	WORK SESSIONS
	4.3 Benton County Talks Trash Work Group- Detailed Project Budget Update CHECKLIST

	CONSENT CALENDAR
	5.1 February 28, 2023 Letter of Support for to Senators Wyden and Merkley and Congresswoman Hoyle Congressional Directed Spending Requests CHECKLIST
	5.1 February 28, 2023 Letter of Support for to Senators Wyden and Merkley and Congresswoman Hoyle Congressional Directed Spending Requests - LETTER - SIGNED

	230221m_tu

	PUBLIC HEARINGS
	6.0 PH1 Revise BCC Chapters 4, 5 & 6 2_23_2023 CHECKLIST
	ORDINANCE 2023-0318 Amending BCC Ch 4,5,6
	Chap 4 County Elections and Candidates_Proposed2023
	Chap 5 Ballot Measures_Proposed2023
	Chap 6 Voters Pamphlet_Proposed2023


	6.0 PH 2 Appeal of Planning Commission Land Use Decision Regarding CHECKLIST
	6.0 PH 2 Memorandum - Summary of LU-22-023 Staff Decision and Appeal
	Exhibit A - 11.15.22 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes FINAL
	Exhibit B - 12.6.22 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes FINAL
	BoC Packet For Public Hearing on Land Use Appeal: Jordan
	Original Staff Report and Attachments
	Staff Reply to Appeal of the Development Department Decision- November 15 Planning Commission Staff Documents
	Staff Reply to Appeal of the Development Department Decision- December 6 Planning Commission Staff Documents
	Original Application for a Farm-Help Dwelling for a Relative of the Farm Operator
	Application to Appeal the Development Department's Decision- Information submitted by applicant for the November 15 Planning Commission Hearing
	Application to Appeal the Development Department's Decision- Information submitted by applicant for the December 6 Planning Commission Hearing
	Application to Appeal the Planning Commission's Decision- Information submitted by applicant for the February 21 Board of County Commissioners' Hearing
	Public Testimony added to Packet: permission
	DeweyStokesPublicTestimonyLU22023
	GaryLukensPublicTestimonyLU22023





	NEW BUSINESS
	7.1 Resolution R2023-003 Authorizing a Financing of Real and Personal Property in a Principal Amount Not to Exceed $36,000,000 and Related Matters  CHECKLIST
	Resolution No. R2023-003

	7.2 Letter of Support for Corvallis Housing First's Grant Application to Oregon Housing and Community Services CHECKLIST
	7.2  Third St Commons Support Letter




	EXHIBIT 1 for BCTT Workplan Update
	Exhibit 2 BOC Franchise Agreement Testimony 3.07.23 - Yeager, Mark



